
 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
 May 31, 2018, DNR Auditorium 

1594 West North Temple, Salt Lake City, Utah 
The Board Meeting will stream live at https://youtu.be/hSwwSe99DDI 

AGENDA 
 
Thursday, May 31, 2018 – 9:00 am 
 
1.  Approval of Agenda                                     ACTION 
     – Kirk Woodward, Chairman 

 
2.  Approval of Minutes                          ACTION 
     – Kirk Woodward, Chairman 
 
3.  Old Business/Action Log                                               CONTINGENT 
     – Byron Bateman, Vice-Chair 

 
4.  DWR Update                                                                INFORMATION 
     – Mike Fowlks, DWR Director 
 
5.  Wildlife Projects Update                         INFORMATION 
     - DWR Regional Supervisor 

 
6.  Wildlife Implications of New State and County Resource                INFORMATION  
      Management Plans                 
     - Martin Bushman, Asst. Attorney General 
 
7.  Wild Turkey Recommendations and Rule Amendments                   ACTION 
      - Jason Robinson, Upland Game Coordinator 

 
8.  Coyote Bounty Program Amendments – Rule R657-64                                 ACTION 
     - Xaela Walden, Predator Management Specialist 
 
9.  Mineral Mountain Bighorn Sheep Management Plan                        ACTION 
      - David Smedley, Wildlife Biologist 
 
10.  Proposed Rule Amendments to Conservation and Sportsman                ACTION 
       Permits Rule R657-41, Wildlife Expo Permits Rule R657-55, and 
       Drawing Application Procedures Rule R657-62                    
     - Kenny Johnson, Administrative Services Section Chief 
 
11.  Proposed Rule Amendments Repealing the Certification Review               ACTION 
       Committee under R657-3 and R657-53, Error Committee under R657-50,  
       Walk-in Access Advisory Committee under R657-56 and the Variance Committee 
       under R657-57 
      - Martin Bushman, Asst. Attorney General   
 
12.  Conservation Permit List – 1yr and 3yr.               ACTION 
      - Justin Shannon, Wildlife Section Chief  
 
13.  Box Elder Pilot Mtn. Season Date Change               ACTION 
      - Chad Wilson, Wildlife Biologist  
 
14.  Wildlife Board Stipulation and Order                 ACTION 
       – Greg Hansen, Asst. Attorney General 
 
15.  Wildlife Board Appeal – 2:00 p.m. TIME CERTAIN –Mr. Voskan Asaryan               ACTION 
       – Greg Hansen, Asst. Attorney General 
 
16.  Other Business                   CONTINGENT 
     – Kirk Woodward, Chairman   

 

https://youtu.be/hSwwSe99DDI


 1 

                                  Draft 5/31/2018 
Wildlife Board Motions 

 
Following is a summary of Wildlife Board motions directing the Division to take action and the response to date: 
 
 
Spring 2018 - Target Date – Conservation Permit Program Audit 
 
            MOTION: I move that we add to the action log item a review of the conservation permit audit 

process that could include a rule change. 
 

 Motion made by: Karl Hirst 
 Assigned to: Greg Hansen/Kenny Johnson 
 Action: Under Study 
 Status: Scheduled for the May/June 2018 RAC and Board Tour 
 Placed on Action Log: September 28, 2017 
 
 
 
Fall 2018 - Target Date – Archery Season Dates for Elk 
 
            MOTION: I move that we put on the action log a review of the season date change for archery 

elk hunting and add a survey concerning this issue prior to the next revision of the statewide deer 
management plan in 2022.  The Division will report back next year to look at how season date 
changes would look with the requested change 

  
Motion made by: Calvin Crandall 

 Assigned to: Covy Jones 
 Action: Under Study 
 Status: Scheduled for the November 2018 RAC and Board Tour 
 Placed on Action Log: September 28, 2017 
 
 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
 April 26, 2018, DNR Auditorium 

1594 West North Temple, Salt Lake City, Utah 
The Board Meeting will stream live at https://youtu.be/wDRjFDZK054 

 

AGENDA 
Thursday, April 26, 2018, Board Meeting 9:00 am 

 
 

1.  Approval of Agenda 
– Kirk Woodward, Chairman 

ACTION 

2.  Approval of Minutes 
– Kirk Woodward, Chairman 

ACTION 

3.  Old Business/Action Log 
– Byron Bateman, Vice-Chair 

CONTINGENT 

4.  DWR Update 
– Mike Fowlks, DWR Director 

INFORMATION 

5.  Use of Airbows 
– Marvin Carlston, President of Shooting Edge 
 

INFORMATION 

6.  Bucks, Bulls, and OIAL Permit Recommendations for 2018 
– Covy Jones, Big Game Coordiantor, and Regional Wildlife Manager 

ACTION 

7.  Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2018 
– Covy Jones, Big Game Coordiantor, and Regional Wildlife Manager 

ACTION 

8.  2018 CWMU Antlerless Permit Recommendations 
– Mike Wardle, Private Lands/Public Wildlife Coordinator 

ACTION 

9.  Poaching Reported Reward Permit Program Changes 
– Justin Shirley, Law Enforcement Captain 

ACTION 

10. COR Approval for Nuisance Bat Removal 
– Kim Hersey, Nongame Mammals Coordinator 

ACTION 

11. Other Business 
– Kirk Woodward, Chairman 

CONTINGENT 

 
 
Details of the specific recommendations can be found at www.wildlife.utah.gov 

 
 
 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act - Persons needing special accommodations (including 
auxiliary communicative aids and services) for this meeting, should contact Staci Coons at 801-538-4718, giving her 

at least five working days notice.    

https://youtu.be/wDRjFDZK054


Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
April 26, 2018 
 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
April 26, 2018, DNR Auditorium 

1594 West North Temple, Salt Lake City, Utah 
Summary of Motions 

 
1) Approval of Agenda (Action) 

 
The following motion was made by Calvin Crandall, seconded by Kevin Albrecht and passed 
unanimously. 
 

MOTION: I move that we approve the agenda as presented. 
 

2) Approval of Minutes (Action) 
 
The following motion was made by Kevin Albrecht, seconded by Donnie Hunter and passed 
unanimously. 
 

MOTION: I move that we approve the minutes of the March 7, 2018 meeting as 
presented. 

 
3) Old Business/Action Log DWR Update (Informational) 

 
  Big Game Baiting 
  COR – Power Scopes on Crossbows 
  
 4)  Bucks, Bulls and OIAL Permit Recommendations for 2018 (Action) 

  
The following motion was made by Kevin Albrecht, seconded by Byron Bateman and passed 
unanimously.     

MOTION:   I move that we reduce the permit numbers by 200 on the Central 
Mountains, Manti/San Rafael unit. 

The following motion was made by Calvin Crandall, seconded by Donnie Hunter and passed 4 to 1.  
Kevin Albrecht opposed.   

MOTION:   I move that we keep the Pine Valley unit at the 2017 permit 
numbers. 

The following motion was made by Kevin Albrecht, seconded by Byron Bateman and passed 
unanimously.   

MOTION:   I move that we decrease the Division’s recommendation for the 
Book Cliffs from 35 to 15 additional permits. 

The following motion was made by Calvin Crandall, seconded by Steve Dalton and passed 4 to 1.  
Byron Bateman opposed.   

MOTION:   I move that we accept the remainder of the deer recommendations 
as presented by the Division. 

The following motion was made by Donnie Hunter, seconded by Byron Bateman and passed 4 to 1.   



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
April 26, 2018 
 
Calvin Crandall opposed. 

MOTION:   I move that we maintain the 37 elk permits from 2017 on the 
Monroe unit. 

The following motion was made by Kevin Albrecht, seconded by Steve Dalton and passed 4 to 1.  
Calvin Crandall opposed.   

MOTION:   I move that we keep the Central Mountains, Manti unit permit 
number the same as in 2017 at 467. 

The following motion was made by Calvin Crandall, seconded by Steve Dalton and passed 
unanimously.   

MOTION:   I move that we accept the balance of the elk recommendation as 
presented by the Division. 

The following motion was made by Calvin Crandall, seconded by Donnie Hunter and passed 
unanimously.   

MOTION:   I move that we decrease the sheep permit numbers from 3 to 2 on 
the Nebo/Wasatch Mountain. 

The following motion was made by Calvin Crandall, seconded by Donnie Hunter and passed 
unanimously.   

MOTION:   I move that we accept the balance of the 2018 Permit 
Recommendations as presented. 

 
5) Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2018 (Action) 

 
The following motion was made by Donnie Hunter, seconded by Calvin Crandall and passed 
unanimously. 
 

MOTION: I move that we accept the 2018 recommendations for Antlerless 
Permit numbers as presented by the Division. 

 
6) 2018 CWMU Antlerless Permit Recommendations (Action) 

 
The following motion was made by Steve Dalton, seconded by Kevin Albrecht and passed 
unanimously.  
  

MOTION: I move that we accept the 2018 CWMU Antlerless Permit 
Recommendations as presented by the Division. 

 
7) Poaching Reported Reward Permit Program Changes (Action) 

 
The following motion was made by Calvin Crandall, seconded by Steve Dalton and passed 
unanimously.  
 

MOTION: I move that we approve the Poaching Reported Reward Permit 
Program Changes as presented. 
 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
April 26, 2018 
 

8) COR Approval for Nuisance Bat Removal (Action) 
 

The following motion was made by Steve Dalton, seconded by Kevin Albrecht and passed 
unanimously. 
 

MOTION: I move that we approve the COR for Nuisance Bat Removal as 
presented by the Division. 

 
  



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
April 26, 2018 
 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
April 26, 2018, DNR Auditorium 

1594 West North Temple, Salt Lake City, Utah 
Attendance 

 
Wildlife Board Division Personnel 

Kirk Woodward – Chair Mike Canning Martin Bushman 
Byron Bateman – Vice-Chair Rory Reynolds Greg Hansen 
Mike Fowlks – Exec Sec Bill Bates Lindy Varney 
Kevin Albrecht Kevin Bunnell Teresa Griffin 
Calvin Crandall Boyde Blackwell Guy Wallace 
Donnie Hunter Justin Dolling Riley Peck 
Karl Hirst - Excused  Chris Wood Randy Wood 
Steve Dalton Jason Vernon Dax Mangus 
 Kenny Johnson Covy Jones 

RAC Chairs Rick Olson Mike Wardle 
Central – Jason Vernon Justin Shannon Justin Shirley 
Southern – Wade Heaton Drew Cushing Kim Hersey 
Southeastern –  Trish Hedin Paul Gedge Kent Hersey 
Northeastern – Randy Dearth Mike Christensen Phil Gray 
Northern – Bryce Thurgood Staci Coons Jace Taylor 
 Thu Vo-Wood Steve Newren 

 Mark Hadley Darren DeBloois 
 Wade Heaton  

   
   
   

Public Present  
Marvin Carlston – Shooting Edge Doyle Moss  
Randy Graham – Shooting Edge Jesse Hatch  
Troy Justensen – SFW   
Sterling Brown – UT Farm Bureau   
Bill Christensen - RMEF   
Nolan Gardner   
Greg Bird – UT Wildsheep Foundation  
Roy Hampton – UT Archery Association  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
April 26, 2018 
 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
April 26, 2018, DNR Auditorium 

1594 West North Temple, Salt Lake City, Utah 
https://youtu.be/wDRjFDZK054 

 

00:00:04 Chairman Woodward called the meeting to order, welcomed the audience, introduced 
Board and RAC members, and reviewed the meeting process. 

00:03:32 1)  Approval of Agenda (Action) 
The following motion was made by Calvin Crandall, seconded by Kevin Albrecht 
and passed unanimously. 

MOTION: I move that we approve the agenda as presented. 

00:03:48 2)  Approval of Minutes (Action) 
The following motion was made by Kevin Albrecht, seconded by Donnie Hunter 
and passed unanimously. 

MOTION: I move that we approve the minutes of the March 7, 2018 
Wildlife Board Meeting. 

00:04:15 

 
00:04:44 
00:18:45 

3)  Old Business/Action Log (Contingent) 
The following action log items were discussed: 
Big Game Baiting – Covy Jones presented the findings. 
COR – Power Scopes on Crossbows – Phil Gray presented the findings.  The COR 
pertains to the archery hunt only. 

00:25:40 4)  DWR Update (Informational) 
Mike Fowlks updated the Board on the Utah Prairie Dog Conservation Plan, the 
down-listing of humpback chub, the success of the Waterfowl Summit and 
watershed initiative funding meeting, the formation of the Private Aquaculture 
Committee, the effects of the southern Utah drought, and sage-grouse leks.   DWR 
has an upcoming event - Future of Hunting Summit.    IWJV recognized Utah 
citizens for their work. 

00:33:38 5)  Use of Airbows (Informational) 
Randy Graham provided information on airbolts.  The Board had some questions on 
the excise tax and types of ammo used for this weapon. 

00:50:46 6)  Bucks, Bulls, and OIAL Permit Recommendations for 2018 (Action) 
Covy Jones presented the 2018 recommendations.   

01:17:01 Board Questions   
The board asked for clarification on the Colorado research, management objective, 
RAC feedback, permit recommendations, and effects of drought on fawn survival.  

https://youtu.be/wDRjFDZK054


Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
April 26, 2018 
 

01:33:30 RAC Recommendations   
All RACs had several conditions for the recommendations and varying dissent on 
each. They all passed the remainder of the recommendations. 

01:47:20 Public Comments   
Public comments were accepted at this time. 

01:59:36 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
02:28:17 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Board Discussion   
Chairman Woodward proposed they proceed with the discussion by breaking the 
items into three subsets:  deer, elk, and pronghorn and OIAL.  He summarized the 
motions for deer from each RAC.  The Board further discussed the motions. 
The following motion was made by Kevin Albrecht, seconded by Byron Bateman 
and passed unanimously.     

MOTION:   I move that we reduce the permit numbers by 200 on the 
Central Mountains, Manti/San Rafael unit. 
The following motion was made by Calvin Crandall, seconded by Donnie Hunter 
and passed 4 to 1.  Kevin Albrecht opposed.   

MOTION:   I move that we keep the Pine Valley unit at the 2017 permit 
numbers. 
The following motion was made by Kevin Albrecht, seconded by Byron Bateman 
and passed unanimously.   

MOTION:   I move that we decrease the Division’s recommendation for 
the Book Cliffs from 35 to 15 additional permits. 
The following motion was made by Calvin Crandall, seconded by Steve Dalton and 
passed 4 to 1.  Byron Bateman opposed.   

MOTION:   I move that we accept the remainder of the deer 
recommendations as presented by the Division. 
Chairman Woodward summarized each RACs’ motion on elk.  The Board further 
discussed the motions. 
The following motion was made by Donnie Hunter, seconded by Byron Bateman 
and passed 4 to 1.   Calvin Crandall opposed. 

MOTION:   I move that we maintain the 37 elk permits from 2017 on the 
Monroe unit. 
The following motion was made by Kevin Albrecht, seconded by Steve Dalton and 
passed 4 to 1.  Calvin Crandall opposed.   

MOTION:   I move that we keep the Central Mountains, Manti unit 
permit number the same as in 2017 at 467. 
The following motion was made by Calvin Crandall, seconded by Steve Dalton and 
passed unanimously.   



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
April 26, 2018 
 
 
 
02:45:33 
 
 
 
 
02:48:00 

MOTION:   I move that we accept the balance of the elk recommendation 
as presented by the Division. 
Chairman Woodward summarized the motions on pronghorn and sheep. 
The following motion was made by Calvin Crandall, seconded by Donnie Hunter 
and passed unanimously.   

MOTION:   I move that we decrease the sheep permit numbers from 3 to 
2 on the Nebo/Wasatch Mountain. 
The Board discussed the drought situation. 
The following motion was made by Calvin Crandall, seconded by Donnie Hunter 
and passed unanimously.   

MOTION:   I move that we accept the balance of the 2018 Permit 
Recommendations as presented. 

02:51:38 LUNCH BREAK 

03:41:39 7)  Antlerless Permit Recommendations for 2018 (Action) 
Covy Jones presented the antlerless permit recommendations.  

04:03:39 Board/RAC Questions   
The board asked how often counts occur, total elk permits in the state, pressure and 
movement, and effect of development on wildlife. 

04:12:24 Public Comments   
Public comments were accepted at this time. 

04:26:43 RAC Recommendations   
All RACs unanimously passed the permit recommendations.  Southern RAC asked 
the Board to examine whether trophy bull hunters are impacted by muzzle-loader 
deer hunters who also have cow tags.  
The Board discussed Southern RAC’s request to examine the disruption of muzzle-
loader deer hunters on trophy bull hunters and why the Southern RAC voted 
unanimously this time around. 

04:36:36 Board Discussion   
Chairman Woodward summarized the RAC vote.  The Board continued discussion 
on the Southern RAC decision. 
The following motion was made by Donnie Hunter, seconded by Calvin Crandall 
and passed unanimously.     

MOTION:   I move that we accept the 2018 recommendations for 
Antlerless Permit numbers as presented by the Division. 

04:38:40 8)  2018 CWMU Antlerless Permit Recommendations (Action) 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
April 26, 2018 
 

Mike Wardle presented the CWMU antlerless permit recommendations. 

04:46:30 RAC Recommendations   
All RACs unanimously passed the recommendations.  Southern and Southeast RACs 
had one abstention each. 

04:47:18 Board Discussion   
The following motion was made by Steve Dalton, seconded by Kevin Albrecht and 
passed unanimously.   

MOTION:   I move that we accept the 2018 CWMU Antlerless Permit 
Recommendations as presented by the Division. 

04:48:08 9)  Poaching Reported Reward Permit Program Changes (Action) 
Rick Olson presented the program changes. 

04:58:56 Board Questions   
The board asked about certain scenarios. 

05:01:30 RAC Recommendations   
All RACs unanimously passed the program changes. 

05:01:49 Board Discussion   
The following motion was made by Calvin Crandall, seconded by Steve Dalton and 
passed unanimously.   

MOTION:   I move that we approve the Poaching Reported Reward 
Permit Program Changes as presented. 

05:03:04 10)  COR Approval for Nuisance Bat Removal (Action) 
Kim Hersey presented the COR. 

05:05:59 Board Questions   
The board asked about health risks posed by bats. 

05:07:37 Board Discussion   
The following motion was made by Steve Dalton, seconded by Kevin Albrecht and 
passed unanimously.   

MOTION:   I move that we approve the COR for Nuisance Bat Removal 
as presented by the Division. 

05:08:10 11)  Other Business (Contingent) 
The Board discussed management hunts, recruitment and retention of 12-15 year old 
hunters, and archery sheep once-in-a-lifetime hunt. 
The following motion was made by Kevin Albrecht and then withdrawn. 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
April 26, 2018 
 

MOTION:   I move that we put the archery sheep once-in-a-lifetime on the 
action log and include a survey for public feedback.   

05:37:46 Meeting adjourned. 
 



Regional Advisory Council Meeting 
Summary of Motions 

May 2018 

Wild Turkey Recommendations and Rule Amendments                                                 

NRO: Motion - Recommend the Wildlife Board accept the Division’s proposal as presented. 
Motion Passes - 11 in Favor, 2 Opposed 

CRO: Motion - Recommend the Wildlife Board accept the Division’s proposal as presented. 
Motion Passes - 7 in Favor, 1 Opposed 

SRO: Motion - Recommend the Wildlife Board accept the Division’s proposal as presented. 
Motion Passes – Unanimous 

SERO: Motion – Ask the Wildlife Board, as an action log item, to evaluate the timing of the spring 
limited-entry turkey season so that it straddles the strutting seasons for Merriam’s and Rio Grande 
turkeys, providing equal opportunity to hunt both sub species. 
Motion Passes – 10 in Favor, 1 Absention 

 Motion – Accept the remaining Wild Turkey Recommendations and Rule Amendments as 
presented, with the exception of adding a rimfire rifle option for the fall turkey hunting season. 
Motion Passes – 8 in Favor, 3 Opposed 

NERO: Motion – to maintain one permit per hunter for the fall hunt, accept the any guage BB, and limit 
the rimfire to depredation and youth only. 
Motion Passes – 5 in Favor, 3 Opposed 

 

Coyote Bounty Program Amendments – Rule R657-64        

NRO: Motion - Recommend the Wildlife Board accept the Division’s proposal as presented. 
Motion Passes - 11 in Favor, 2 Opposed 

CRO, NERO: Motion - Recommend the Wildlife Board accept the Division’s proposal as presented. 
Motion Passes – Unanimous 

SRO: Motion - Recommend the Wildlife Board accept the Division’s proposal as presented. 
Motion Passes – Unanimous 

Motion – Recommend an action log item for the DWR to look at funding, in addition of the 
$500,000, from the legislature or, as examples, an increase in permit fees or some way to keep 
that program going where they do not have to decrease the $50. 
Motion Passes – 8 in Favor, 1 Opposed 

SERO: Motion - Recommend the Wildlife Board accept the Division’s proposal as presented. 
Motion Passes – 9 in Favor, 2 Opposed 



Mineral Mountain Bighorn Sheep Management Plan _ 

NRO, CRO: Motion - Recommend the Wildlife Board accept the Division’s proposal as presented. 
Motion Passes – Unanimous 

SRO: Motion - Recommend the Wildlife  Board would agree to a multiple use working group 
that is full-on management with DWR, those stakeholders would be representatives from 
the landowners, livestock permittees, the organizations, not excluding the wool growers, 
cattleman’s, Farm Bureau, SFW, FNAWS, whatever the sportsman’s groups are, and 
local government be in place before the Wildlife Board made their decision. 
Revised Motion – Recommend that they not approve the proposal as presented until the 
working group has more time to come together and see if they can come to a reasonable 
agreement.  
Motion Passes - 7 in Favor, 2 Opposed 

SERO:  Motion - Recommend the Wildlife Board accept the Division’s proposal as presented. 
Motion Passes – 6 in Favor, 5 Opposed, 1 Abstention 

NERO:  Motion - Recommend the Wildlife Board accept the Division’s proposal as presented. 
Motion Passes – 6 in Favor, 2 Opposed 

Proposed Rule Amendments to Conservation and Sportsman Permits Rule R657-41, Wildlife Expo 
Permits Rule R657-55, and Drawing Application Procedures Rule R657-62. 

NRO, SRO, SERO, NERO: 
  Motion - Recommend the Wildlife Board accept the Division’s proposal as presented. 

Motion Passes – Unanimous 

CRO: Motion – To accept the Division’s recommendations as presented on the Conservation and 
Sportsman Permits Rule R657-41. 
Motion Passes – Unanimous, 1 abstention 

CRO: Motion – To accept the Division’s recommendations as presented on the Wildlife Expo Permits 
Rule R657-55. 
Motion Passes – 7 to 1 

CRO: Motion – To accept the Division’s recommendations as presented on the Drawing Application 
Procedure Rule R657-62. 
Motion Passes - Unanimous 

Proposed Rule Amendments Repealing the Certification Review Committee under R657-3 and 
R657-53, Error Committee under R657-50, Walk-in Access Advisory Committee under R657-56 
and the Variance Committee under R657-57. 

NRO, CRO, SRO, SERO, NERO:  
Motion - Recommend the Wildlife Board accept the Division’s proposal as presented. 
Motion Passes – Unanimous 

 































































 

NRAC 05-02-18: Page 1/11 
 

Northern Regional Advisory Council 
May 2, 2018 

Brigham City Community Center 
Brigham City, Utah 

 
                  Draft Meeting Minutes 
 
Meeting Begins: 6:01 p.m. 
 
RAC Present _                           DWR Present               _           Wildlife Board 
John Blazzard- Agric.   Jodie Anderson    Byron Bateman 
Paul Chase- Forest Service  Nicaela Haig           
Christopher Hoagstrom- Noncon. Justin Dolling 
Randy Hutchison- At Large              Brandon Baron         
Chad Jensen- Elected        Justin Shannon 
Aaron Johnson- Sportsman  Jason Robinson 
Matt Klar- At Large   Xaela Walden          
Mike Laughter- Sportsman                      David Smedley          
Kevin McLeod- At Large  Kenny Johnson            
Justin Oliver- At Large   Martin Bushman 
Darren Parry-Shoshone Nation  Randy Wood          
Kristin Purdy- Noncon.   Scott Walker 
Bryce Thurgood- At Large  Darren DeBloois    
Mellissa Wood-BLM                           Dave Beveridge           
                 Krystal Tucker 
     Devin Christensen 
     John Owen 
     Jordan Hastings 
     Rick Olson 
     Matt Burgess 
     Dominick Barratt 
     Kenny Johnson 
      
                                
RAC Excused  
 
RAC Unexcused 
David Earl- Agric 
 
 
Agenda: 
Welcome, RAC Introductions and RAC Procedure 
Approval of Agenda and March 28, 2018 Minutes                                                                
Wildlife Board Meeting Update       
Regional Update  
Wildlife Projects Update                                                                            
Wildlife Implications of New State and County Resource Management Plans  
Wild Turkey Recommendations and Rule Amendments                                                
Coyote Bounty Program Amendments – Rule R657-64             
Mineral Mountain Bighorn Sheep Management Plan              
Proposed Rule Amendments to Conservation and Sportsman Permits Rule R657-41, Wildlife Expo Permits Rule R657-
55, and Drawing Application Procedures Rule R657-62 
Proposed Rule Amendments Repealing the Certification Review Committee under R657-3 and R657-53, Error Committee 
under R657-50, Walk-in Access Advisory Committee under R657-56 and the Variance Committee under R657-57 
 
                    



 

NRAC 05-02-18: Page 2/11 
 

 
 
Item 1. Approval of Agenda 
-Bryce Thurgood, Chair 
 
Agenda Approved 
 
Item 2. Approval of March 28, 2018 Minutes 
-Bryce Thurgood, Chair 
 
Minutes approved as circulated. 
 
Item 3. Wildlife Board Meeting Update                          
- Bryce Thurgood, Chair 
 
Deer- Motion to decrease the Manti south by 200 which was the same as what we did which passed 5-0.  Motion to keep 
Pine Valley at the 2017 deer numbers and not increase it which passed 4-1. Motion to change Bookcliff deer numbers and 
not add the 35 but to increase it by 15 which I believe passed unanimously.  The last motion was to recommend that the 
rest of the divisions presentation and that passed 4-1. 
Elk- Motion to keep the Dutton at 37 and not 40 which was last year's numbers which passed 4-1.  On the Manti, to keep 
it at last year's numbers at 467 and not 480 which passed 4-1..  Approve the balance as presented which passed 5-0.   
OIAL and Antelope-Motion to change the Nebo/Wasatch sheep from 3 to 2.  I think we made the motion from 3 to 1 but it 
was 3 to 2 which passed 5-0.  The balance of the divisions recommendations passed 5-0. 
Antlerless- Motion to accept as presented which passed unanimously.  CWMU antlerless presentation passed 
unanimously.  Change to poaching program passed unanimously.   
Bats-There was one that did not come through our RAC but came to the Wildlife Board.  It was a change in getting a COR 
for bat removal for different organizations like schools which passed unanimously. 
 
Item 4. Regional Update                                                                                          
 - Justin Dolling, Regional Supervisor  
 
Justin Dolling: Turn time to law enforcement section to present 3 awards. 
Brandon Baron: Awards presentation for prosecutor of the year and Citizen service award. 
 
Justin Dolling- 
 
Law Enforcement-Youth hunter education challenge. 
Aquatic invasive species- getting ready for check stations. Special needs fishing event at Pioneer Pond in Brigham City 
May 25th. 
GSL program- Waterfowl management areas spraying weeds.  Finishing up rolling 1,000 acres of phragmites.  Bird and 
brine shrimp surveys.  The GSL bird festival will be May 17-20. 
Wildlife Section- depredation season is starting.  Animals coming into some of the new crops.  Working on moose and 
pronghorn unit management plans.  Trying to collar a couple of bears for reproductive study. 
Aquatics- Stocked tiger muskie at Pineview.  Bear Lake gill netting survey is underway.  East Canyon and Rockport 
fishing well for rainbows from shore. 
Administrative- Results for bucks, bulls and OIAL will be posted May 31st.  Antlerless guidebook available mid-May 
which is an online only guidebook. 
Outreach- Conducted wiper clinic in the Salt Lake office.  165 people registered and just over 100 participated.  Hunting 
dog training event at Ogden Bay on May 19th.  Conducting a beginning fly fishing clinic in Logan on May 12th. Look at 
our Face book page for activities that interest you.  
Habitat- WMA's now open to general public.  Winter closures are done for the year.  Nate Long with SFW finished up a 
project on Hardware. 
 
Bryce Thurgood: Congratulate everyone on awards given. 
 
 



 

NRAC 05-02-18: Page 3/11 
 

Item 5. Wildlife Projects Update                                                                             
- Justin Shannon, Wildlife Section Chief 
 
Justin Shannon: Wildlife board asked us to share an overview of how conservation and expo permit funds benefit wildlife 
and wildlife habitat. Presentation on highlighted successes of the program. Captured 74 bison on Henry Mountains for 
monitoring purposes.  Parker Mountain capture of 312 pronghorn and translocated to different units throughout the states.  
New populations on Mountain goats along the Wasatch Front.  Bighorn sheep aggressive capturing almost 800 which are 
translocated across the state.  Remainder is disease testing.  Captured 174 moose over the last several years, mostly on 
Cache and Wasatch unit.  817 elk captured, a lot on the Wasatch but some on the Cache unit and translocated 128 mostly 
to the Stansbury unit.  Captured almost 4,000 deer and translocated over 1,300.  Thank sportsman and volunteers.  A lot of 
research has been done and results of study completely changed elk management in the state.  Helped bridge some gaps of 
what the sportsman were seeing and the division was seeing as far as counts and distribution of animals.  Deer survival 
data is the best we have had.  (video shown of the elk capture on the Wasatch Unit). Waterfowl captures aggressive with 
catching 5,300 urban geese.  Moved almost 5,000 turkeys over the last 5 years.  A lot of quail transfers.  SFW played a big 
role in pheasant and chukar releases.  Sage grouse research and translocations done along with monitoring and research. 
cougar studies on Oquirrh and Stansbury.  Bear studies looking and densities throughout the state and reproduction.  Utah 
migration initiative started over a year ago to identify, preserve and enhance movement pathways and corridors for 
species through partnerships compelling outreach and advanced tracking and data technology.  (video shown about 
migration initiative on bucks on Paunsagunt unit).  GPS units on deer.   Utah watershed and restoration initiative has 
completed 1,751 various habitat projects, treated 1.5 million acres and spent about 186 million dollars with 20 million 
more in kind.  Proposed another 200 projects with more acres and money to be spent for habitat and habitat restoration. 
Proactive restoration and fire rehabilitation. Bulk of funding is federal because a lot of this we are treating is on federal 
lands. State dollars come from hunters, anglers and also from sportsman groups. (video of bull hog). Fire restoration and 
chaining.  Division and partners trying to improve management through monitoring and research.   
Randy Wood: Captures in northern region for transplants.  Moved turkeys to northeastern region.  Moved deer from 
Bountiful to the southern region.  Bighorn sheep off Antelope Island and Newfoundland mountains to central region.  
Captures of deer, elk, sheep and moose for radio collaring in northern region.  Migration initiative.   
Scott Walker: Habitat in northern region. (slide and video presentation) Aspen restoration. Turkey habitat projects above 
Mendon.  Water development.   
Randy Wood: Thank cooperators and volunteers.   
Bryce Thurgood: Put videos on social media so everyone can see it. 
 
Item 6. Wildlife Implications of New State and County Resource Management Plans  
- Martin Bushman, Assistant Attorney General  
 
See RAC Packet 
 
Item 7. Wild Turkey Recommendations and Rule Amendments                                                 
- Jason Robinson, Upland Game Coordinator  
 
See RAC Packet 
 
Public Questions  
 
No questions from the public. 
 
RAC Questions  
 
Randy Hutchinson: Success rate is very high for the fall already.  I don't understand logic of putting in rimless rifle fire. 
Jason Robinson: As turkey populations continue to grow, we want to be able to reduce those populations where we need 
to.  This gives us another tool.  As we put more hunters out there, the success rate can go down a little. This will allow a 
more broad audience to go out and keep that success rate high.  Especially in the fall hunt? 
Randy Hutchinson:  Are there any other states that do anything like this? We are already at 70% success. 
Jason Robinson: It varies from 50-70%.  There are other states that have fall turkey hunts for controlling populations.  
Notably Wyoming and Colorado. 
Randy Hutchinson: With rimless? 



 

NRAC 05-02-18: Page 4/11 
 

Jason Robinson: Yes, with rim fire, correct. 
Mike Laughter: Generally, our surplus of turkeys are in urban areas from what I understand, is that correct? 
Jason Robinson: In many cases, yes. 
Mike Laughter:  It seems to be the case. The rim fire in the city limits, I guess I am not getting the management tool from 
rim fire perspective in city limits where the majority of turkeys are.  Is it to increase harvest? 
Jason Robinson: If there is a city ordinance that does not allow for discharge of firearms, this would supersede that.  That 
would still be in place. This gives a tool where we can use it. Hopefully it would increase success and give us a broader 
audience of hunters.  It will not be a "solve all" tool by any means. We will still have to have places within city limits 
where trap and transplant is our primary tool of dealing with those populations. 
Mike Laughter: Hunter arms required? 
Jason Robinson:  It is not.  For upland game hunting in Utah, hunter orange is not required. 
 
Public Comments  
 
Matt Leonard (NWTF): After much debate with our board on this topic, primarily a lot of our debate had to do with safety 
with the rim fire rifle.  In speaking with the division and other states including Colorado, we talked about accidents and in 
Colorado they have had far fewer accidents with the fall turkey hunts than with the spring.  In Utah, I don't think we have 
had any spring turkey accidents.  That was our concern but discussed it and came down to the point that the division did 
their due diligence in researching this.  NWTF supports the division in this policy and change for turkey regulations. 
Kevin Norman: Point brought up at the central RAC last night.  I have a young girl almost of age to hunt turkey.  If I put 
her behind the shotgun and set her up on a turkey, it would probably be the last time she went hunting.  This provides 
opportunity for young hunters.  I support this rim fire. 
Kade Perser: Oppose the motion for rim fire rifles.  I talked to a landowner yesterday and I told them about this motion.  It 
is in an area that you would be able to shoot a rim fire rifle and be able to do it safely.  He was highly opposed because 
you are still within the distance of his house.  He does not want people to be sneaking on his property with a 17 or 22 and 
doing it quietly.  In 2015, we were hunting fall turkeys on a small property where a hunter came up, pulled in out of the 
driveway, held a 22 with a scope out the window, fired and shot 2 turkeys.  He didn't see us in the brush on the other side 
of the turkeys and we were able to get his license plates and fish and game were able to catch up to him later.  He didn't 
have a license or tag.  I talked to the landowner and he did not have permission.  He was able to sneak in there quicker and 
get out there faster.  Also, with the 3 turkey permits recommended in the fall,  a lot of landowners I have talked to, they 
are wanting them to ask permission to bring friends to shoot turkeys.  Most of them are saying we have enough hunters as 
it is and are tired of being bothered.  I am just trying to keep landowners happy with hunters and giving us a good name. 
Troy Justinsen (SFW): Turkeys have been a huge success in Utah.  Transplanted a record 2,100 birds this year.  Support 
the divisions recommendations.  We would ask, and we understand the purpose of rim fire in certain areas, but we ask to 
not lose sight of transplant as a management tool.   
 
RAC Comments  
 
Matt Klar: I received a number of emails on this subject.  They were universally opposed to the rim fire rule primarily for 
safety reasons.  
Chad Jensen: Speaking on a public safety point, we have far more in law enforcement issues and I'm sure fish and game 
could verify this.  We have far more problems with trespassing and shotgun issues during the pheasant hunt than during 
the turkey hunt.  I don't think the rim fire bring any more of a public safety threat to citizens, vehicles, etc.  I would not be 
opposed to the rim fire in the right areas.  There are already state laws that prohibit how close you can shoot to a building 
and over roadways.   
Randy Hutchinson: I have received emails on this as well with concerns opposing it. I like the changes to the permits.  I 
have reservations about the 22's and 17's. 
Kevin McLeod: We don't restrict or require hunter orange for small game hunting with 22's so I agree with Chad. I don't 
think that it does pose an additional threat or concern. It all boils down to how people handle their firearm, how they are 
trained and how they use it.  I saw the same information and I understand their concern.  I hope hunters are more 
responsible than that. 
Justin Oliver:  My only concern is that when you are trying to call in turkeys, their vision is unbelievable.  You are doing 
all you can to hide yourself from the turkey.  It does concern me a little bit as far as most things we are hunting with rim 
fire or a 22, we are not hiding or trying to lure something in.  I think that I respect the turkey federation that they come up 
and did their due diligence and looked into that. 



 

NRAC 05-02-18: Page 5/11 
 

Aaron Johnson: I also received the emails.  I have been torn but I would like to echo what Justin said. I respect what the 
turkey foundation and other sportsman groups came out and supported it. It seems to be 50/50 among sportsman for and 
against. 
Bryce Thurgood: When I first saw it, I loved everything about it except the rim fire. The more I hear and listen, I actually 
have been swayed to that side.  Especially what Kevin brought up.  I have young daughters too.  I appreciate the turkey 
foundation and law enforcement commenting.  I would probably like to at least give it a try.  If it is terrible success this 
next year, rules change every year and we can always redo it.  
Aaron Johnson: This would run 2 years and then readdress it? 
Jason Robinson: Yes, that is the plan to have this in place for 2 years.  When we brought the upland game and turkey 
guidebook to the RAC and board in 2 years, this would be part of it. 
 
Motion - Kevin McLeod - Recommend the Wildlife Board accept the Division’s proposal as presented. 
Second - John Blazzard 
 
Motion Passes - 11 in Favor, 2 Opposed 
 
Randy Hutchinson: I am not comfortable with the rim fire. 
Mike Laughter: That plays in a role for me too. I think you are offering this opportunity by allowing them to have 3 tags. 
If it was just youth, I get it but you are going to have everyone in the fall shooting rim fire.  You are already offering 3 
permits as an opportunity and to add the rim fire to that, it seems like not the greatest idea with safety concerns.   
 
Item 8. Coyote Bounty Program Amendments – Rule R657-64        
- Xaela Walden, Predator Management Specialist  
 
See RAC Packet 
 
Public Questions 
 
No questions from the public. 
 
RAC Questions 
 
Aaron Johnson: Let's say you didn't have your smart phone at that time, would you not be able to turn that one in or do it 
the old fashioned way? 
Xaela Walden: We require people to have their phones on them when killing a coyote. I did forget to mention that we are 
going to be making this app available July 2018 and then it won't be required until July 1, 2019. It gives participants a 
year to get adjusted and work out all the bugs. 
Aaron Johnson: My phone does not work in the mountains.  You don't have to have a signal? 
Xaela Walden:  No, it will still record location on the photo and it will just save any reports you enter into it until you 
have service.  You then have to go in and enter it when you have service.  It saves all the information that you put in. 
Bryce Thurgood: How is John going to do it with his flip phone? 
Xaela Walden: We are going to require people to have smart phones to participate.   
Bryce Thurgood: That is a little bit of discrimination though.  If you can't afford a particular device, then you can't 
participate in the program. 
Xaela Walden: It is not discrimination because we are not preventing guys from going out and buying a smart phone, that 
is a choice they can make on their own.  We are also not preventing anyone from hunting coyotes, we are just preventing 
them from getting paid to do so if they choose not to use the application.   
Justin Oliver: Is there a cap on how low the bounty could go? You said it could as low as $5? 
Xaela Walden: Potentially, we did not specify in the rule a cap on it. 
Justin Oliver: How many years have we met the quota since the inception of the bounty program? 
Xaela Walden: How much have we paid out? 
Justin Oliver: Did it say and I missed it? 
Bryce Thurgood: Back to your slide. 
Xaela Walden: Most years we have received $500,000 each year.  Anything that does not get spent gets rolled over into 
the next year.  It accumulates to ending up being more than $5000,000 each year.  We have never overspent because we 
can't.  Right now, we are at $5000,000 this year and have 2 months to go. We have roughly $35,000-37,000 left to spend. 



 

NRAC 05-02-18: Page 6/11 
 

Bryce Thurgood: Do you have money left from 2013, 2014 or 2015 then? 
Xaela Walden: Yep. The $37,000 is what has been rolled over.  We are currently at the $500,000 that was given this year. 
Justin Oliver: The process in order to get that money, how does that work? Does someone go before the legislature each 
year? 
Xaela Walden: It gets evaluated by legislation annually and they decide what is allotted or if we continue getting funding.  
Justin Oliver: Is there a mechanism in place to base it on the success of the program or is it just excess money in the 
budget? 
Xaela Walden: I'm not sure.    
Darren DeBloois: We get asked every year, how the program is going and how effective it is.  Working on masters project 
for that very question. It depends on the legislature.  If they decide not to appropriate those funds, there is nothing to pay 
bounty but it happens every year. 
Mellissa Wood: What is COR? 
Xaela Walden: Certificate of Registration. 
Randy Hutchinson: We have been doing it since 2013.  Is it tracked as a benefit? 
Xaela Walden:  Currently, I am working on a thesis how effective or non-effective it is.  I don't have results tonight but we 
are working on evaluating it.  It takes time to accumulate enough data to really assess whether it is effective or not. 
Kristin Purdy: If you don't have a smart phone, you cannot apply for a bounty if you take a coyote? 
Xaela Walden: Correct. 
Kristin Purdy: Okay.  
 
Public Comments  
 
Mike Hearst: When they first came out with the coyote program, we were really excited.  It seems like there is just more 
involvement with it so I wanted to voice my opposition with the changes.  People taking coyotes are the trappers and most 
of them I know, they are anti-technology.  You also get 1099 and there is getting to be a lot of stuff involved with the 
predator control program.  I don't agree with having to have the smart phone for that. 
Troy Justinsen (SFW): A lot of debate on this and guys within the organization participated with this.  They don't like the 
rules at first. They understand the reason why. They are willing to give it a try and think it can be a benefit.  The idea is to 
help our mule deer and eliminate some of the predators.  If it's not effective, we could shift dollars to another area but we 
do support this recommendation. 
 
RAC Comments  
 
Aaron Johnson: Did you say this will go into place in 2019? 
Xaela Walden: Yes, the application portion would become a requirement.  If they turn in enough coyotes between now 
and then, they can pay for their smart phone.  
John Blazzard: I am indifferent whether this is important or not but the concern I have is that it seems like every time we 
get a simple program like this, we tweak it to death to where it just becomes unbearable and complicated.  I hope that we 
don't do that.   
Bryce Thurgood: I agree. 
Kevin McLeod: At $50 a coyote, there is a lot of money involved and a lot of money spent by the state.  It is unfortunate 
that the tweaking has to happen but when there is money involved, the federal government is going to come after part of 
it.  It is required by the government that the state 1099 everybody that participates in a program.  I don't think it will 
eliminate fraud but it will help.  I hear the comment that people are afraid that the money given for coyote bounty is 
coming from animals harvested outside the state.  I would like to see the progress and the recommendations and see that 
they are trying to eliminate that kind of fraud.  Anytime you involve money, it contaminates and opens it up to fraud.  I 
like the idea. 
Bryce Thurgood: It always seems like the best way to police everybody else is like we police ourselves.  If somebody gets 
caught bringing one in from out of state, what is the penalty? It is a big penalty.  We throw the book at the people who are 
cheating and set an example that way. 
Martin Bushman: Depending on the amount of coyotes involved.  It is a violation of rule which is infraction.  If you bring 
enough in, it becomes fraud that could move into the felony class. We have made a couple felony cases on people 
bringing in coyotes from a derby in Arizona that they collected and brought up here.  We get reports from hunters that it is 
happening.  We don't know the extent of it and there are sanctions in place that make it illegal.  This is not going to solve 
all fraud but it will make it more difficult and hopefully diminish it.  We don't want to have the honest people not being 
able to get a compensation for taking a coyote in Utah because there are dishonest people using up all the money.  We try 



 

NRAC 05-02-18: Page 7/11 
 

to regulate enough to control illegal activity but not so much that it makes it impossible for honest people to participate in 
the program.  It is a balance.   
Justin Oliver: Does it have to be equated to a dollar amount? 
Martin Bushman: The dollar amount determines the severity of the criminal sanction.  I think $1,000 dollars puts you into 
the felony class. 
Justin Oliver:  Is there a way to put it specifically to this coyote bounty?  So, it wouldn't matter if it was $1,000 dollars or 
one coyote, that it would be hefty enough to deter people? 
Martin Bushman: To make something specific to the bounty program, you would have to write a statute to create a felony.  
We don't have a mechanism in rule to do that because we don't have an authorizing statute. This is not a wildlife violation 
because coyotes are not protected wildlife.  Under our rule, the highest level of criminal liability we could impose by rule 
would be an infraction. 
Justin Oliver: That's what worries me. 
Bryce Thurgood: 20 coyotes to get to the felony range. 
Justin Oliver: If we were to go to a wildlife friendly legislator or state lawmaker, is that something that could be done? 
Martin Bushman: Yes. 
Bryce Thurgood: I hate penalizing guys who don't have smart phones.  They are not going to go buy a smart phone just to 
go hunting. 
Matt Klar: I have a falconry COR and you wouldn't believe how much that cost to get that COR. With the smart phone 
and this program, we are not talking about hunting, we are talking about a business arrangement or financial thing.  If 
people are wanting the state to pay them for this activity, it is reasonable to have higher requirements than someone 
wanting to go out and hunt for themselves on a license. I don't think a $150 dollar smart phone is unreasonable to reduce 
the amount of fraud in the system right now. 
Christopher Hoagstrom: Any kind of outdoor recreation, there is a lot of gear people buy.  To me, if you want to 
participate in this it is the same thing.  It is a piece of gear that is required.  The smart phones help with data collected 
from this.  The information will be used for better understand where coyotes are coming from and to me, if they use that 
data it could be real valuable. 
Mellissa Wood: Having had to try and read some chicken scratch and get that into a computer system several times, I 
think the app could be helpful and useful and reduce the amount of times it takes in data entry to get all of the information.  
It would be more accurate data. 
Justin Oliver: You mentioned something about road kill. If I run over the coyote, does it still not count.   
Xaela Walden: I have heard of people purposely trying to hit them with their car so I guess it qualifies. You are removing 
it on purpose.  
 
Motion - John Blazzard - Recommend the Wildlife Board accept the Division’s proposal as presented. 
Second - Mellissa Wood 
 
Motion Passes - 11 in Favor, 2 Opposed 
 
Kristin Purdy: I object to the requirement of the use of a smart phone to apply for a bounty. 
Justin Oliver: I would say the same. 
 
Item 9. Mineral Mountain Bighorn Sheep Management Plan       
- David Smedley, Wildlife Biologist  
 
See RAC Packet 
 
David Smedley:  
Bryce Thurgood:  
 
Public Questions  
 
No questions from the public. 
 
RAC Questions  
 
Randy Hutchinson: Are there any sheep operations nearby? 



 

NRAC 05-02-18: Page 8/11 
 

David Smedley:  No, there is none within the unit.  There is no active permits on the unit. On the north end in Millard 
county, they have one.  It barely trickles in to that boundary. That operation is in the process of being converted into 
cattle. 
Justin Oliver:  How do we vote to make sure we have sheep come from Nevada and not Zion? Is there a process to 
determine that? 
David Smedley:  I have not been involved in that process.  Jace, do you know? 
Jace Taylor:  It all depends on what is available. The most important thing about getting these is that they are clean and 
healthy.  Before we go and transplant, we will do a pre-test and catch a handful of animals and test them and go from 
there.  If everything goes well, we would like to use them from Nevada.  There are some strings with that.  Ideally, that is 
our goal. 
Bryce Thurgood: Can we trade them for some turkeys? 
John Blazzard: In your presentation, you said you maintained special distance between those and domestic sheep. In 
Summit County, the big horn sheep have migrated up into domestic sheep country.  You said they would be euthanized if 
they leave the unit?  
David Smedley:  We have had some in Southern Utah recently that got into an area that were euthanized. We have that 
option.  It is a case by case basis.   
Jace Taylor: It is a high priority for us. There is no value for us in having big horn sheep mixing with domestic sheep.  
With something like this, we plan to put quite a few GPS collars on these animals. The GPS technology is giving us data 
live.  We will be able to notice if animals are leaving the area that are safe zones. We have geo fencing with those collars. 
If the animal leaves a specified area, we will be notified via email and can react immediately.  It is something we are 
committed to. 
Bryce Thurgood: That means the sheep have smart phones and not flip phones.  
John Blazzard:  I know that it was devastating for those ranchers in Summit county when their permits were pulled away 
from them.  It basically puts them out of business. 
David Smedley: It is not our intent to put any domestic operators out of business.  This is one where we feel we can work 
with those involved and avoid that. We will do what we can to keep sheep where they need to be. 
John Blazzard: Even though it is not the intent, that is what happens.  Those permits are retired or taken away.  I know 
how big it was a month ago when we were talking about killing 3 big horn instead of 1. Does that make sense? 
David Smedley:  Yes, it does. 
Justin Shannon: We have not heard that any of the producers have lost their allotments.  That is what you have heard? 
John Blazzard: These producers are Wyoming producers and in Summit County. 
Justin Shannon: I'm aware of the situation on the north slope but that is news to us if they have not been able to graze up 
there. To our knowledge, they still have those permits.  We have written letters to the forest service in support of domestic 
sheep grazing on the North Slope. That is a population we have had domestic and big horn for decades and it has been 
working.  If they have been asked to leave the mountain, let us know. 
John Blazzard: The last report we had through the farm bureau, there were 2 permits that had been retired. 
Justin Shannon: That is news to us. 
Paul Chase: To my knowledge, that is incorrect.  We are currently analyzing the effects of that and should be released in 
the next couple months. No decision has been made so no units or allotments have been retired. 
John Blazzard: So, someone is whistle blowing before the fact. I know it has been a big talk. That is a report we had that 2 
had been.   
Paul Chase:  No decision has been made.  
John Blazzard: That’s a concern. 
Mellissa Wood: You mentioned that the operators that are there are working to convert their permit over from sheep to 
cattle.  Can you tell me when that is going to be completed? 
David Smedley:  They have not turned in their application. Right now, those permits, they don't come into the boundary. 
The sheep stay on the north side.  Within the next couple years if not sooner. 
Mellissa Wood: Okay. Thanks. 
 
Public Comments  
 
Greg Bird (Utah Wild Sheep Foundation): Full support of the divisions recommendations. It is going to give us another 
unit in the state and provide opportunity. 
Troy Justinsen (SFW): John, you are a victim of fake news. 
John Blazzard:  I hear a lot about that.   



 

NRAC 05-02-18: Page 9/11 
 

Troy Justinsen (SFW): It is that smart phone.  We support this recommendation. This is a proposal that came by our local 
committee in Beaver.  This is 10-15 years in the making and the community is excited about this.   
 
RAC Comments  
 
Mellissa Wood: In the Salt Lake field office, this is actually south of our office boundary.  We have worked really closely 
with the division when we do have interactions with sheep.  I would think that coordination would continue here. We have 
had instances where the big horn are euthanized because of the interactions they have with domestic sheep. We still have a 
lot of areas where sheep grazing and wild and domestic happen fairly close. The division will still do a good job making 
sure those permits are valid and those grazing rights are still able to be used.  I would support the work being done. 
 
Motion - Justin Oliver - Recommend the Wildlife Board accept the Division’s proposal as presented. 
Second - Mike Laughter 
 
Motion Passes - Unanimous 
 
Item 10. Proposed Rule Amendments to Conservation and Sportsman Permits Rule R657-41, Wildlife Expo 
Permits Rule R657-55, and Drawing Application Procedures Rule R657-62. 
- Kenny Johnson, Administrative Services Section Chief  
 
See RAC Packet 
 
Public Questions  
 
No questions from the public. 
 
RAC Questions  
 
Mike Laughter:  To my understanding, in some cases money is allocated and whatever reason a project doesn't go. How 
does that August 1st deadline apply to money already allocated? 
Kenny Johnson:  Since we already know the amounts and totals, if a project got moved or adjusted, we would just credit 
you back. 
Mike Laughter: Okay. That is how it works now.  I didn't know if there was going to be a change in regards to the 2 year 
deal. It happens frequently where you allocate funding and for whatever reason, the project doesn't go. That comes back to 
be reallocated. 
Kenny Johnson: Yes.  
Kevin McLeod: I think you said that with these expo permits, 30% of the collected fee goes to projects, 70% for 
administrative costs? 
Kenny Johnson: Correct.  
John Blazzard: You said that 5% of the available permits were used.  That is expo and conservation? 
Kenny Johnson: That is conservation. 
John Blazzard: Just conservation? 
Kenny Johnson: Yes, there were about 314 permits last year. 
John Blazzard: So it wasn't just one per species? 
Kenny Johnson:  It was for conservation.  The expo was separate. 
 
Public Comments  
 
Jeremy Anderson (MDF): Appreciate this program and conservation permit money. Mule Deer Foundation supports this 
program as presented. 
Greg Bird (Utah Wild Sheep Foundation): Support proposal by the division.  Excited about these programs.  Has given us 
opportunities.  Most progressive sheep management in the country due to expo and conservation dollars. 
Troy Justinsen (SFW): Support the divisions recommendations.  On the expo permits, you say there is a 70/30 split.  The 
30% is restricted and it can only be spent on projects approved by the division. The other 70% can be put towards mission 
accomplishment here in Utah.  We are going to receive about $550,000 dollars through the $5 app. Of that $550,000 we 
have allocated nearly $530,000 to wildlife projects.  There is a small amount for administrative fees but our goal is to put 



 

NRAC 05-02-18: Page 10/11 
 

90-95% back on the ground.  This expo money gives us the ability to fund other things and is critical.  We have treated 
more acreage through these permit money than the nation combined.   
Kevin Norman: Thank Justin for bringing video on what this program does.  I support this 100%. 
 
RAC Comments 
 
Kevin McLeod: I appreciate your information and I knew most of that does go back.  I think the 70/30 needed to be 
explained more. I have had people talk to me about expanding that permit process.  I don't like the fact that you have to 
attend the expo to apply.   Could there be an online process where a person could apply for those permits and not have to 
attend or be at the expo to do that. 
John Blazzard: That is because I don't have a smart phone and I can't GPS how to get there. 
Troy Justinsen: We had about 15,000-16,000 people apply for the $5 app but 50,000 come to the expo. Not everyone who 
applies for the $5 app goes to the expo.  If we could expand what you are talking about, it is more revenue. There are 
restrictions that we can't.  It creates tourism dollars for Salt Lake County. It is a huge economic boost.  Especially now 
that outdoor retailers have left.  Martin could answer the legalities as to why we could not do that. 
Kevin McLeod: I do want to hear from Martin why but I do think it would be a revenue increase and give more people the 
opportunity to apply for permits that are state permits.  Martin will probably explain why that can't happen. 
Martin Bushman: When the program is created, the idea was to use permits to attract people to the convention.  It was tied 
that the rule states in order to validate your application, you have to come to the convention.  You don't have to pay to get 
it but you do have to come and validate your application unless you are active military and other exceptions. That is in 
rule. The wildlife board has authority to amend rule if it so chooses.  That is the best I know on the rationale and the fact 
that it is currently required by rule. 
Justin Oliver: I really like it as far as the one permit per person. It has been amazing that there has been multiple people do 
that.  I like that they get to choose so that it goes to the next person quickly. I think it is great change as far as that goes. 
Randy Hutchinson: Anything and everything that can be done to make this transparent.  Make it big and bold letters at the 
end of every year or two years, what actually was done and accomplished.  I think this is going in the right direction and it 
is important to be as transparent as possible. 
Kenny Johnson: We agree and we have made changes to the year round reporting and auditing every year.  This is another 
step in that direction.   
Justin Oliver: I second that.  I think with the sportsman groups that are out there, they can tell the story of what they have 
done and they try to tell what they are doing with the money. To show exactly what is being done, it helps the perception 
of the program rather than the two groups that currently have the expo.  If Utah is able to  how this is what has been 
accomplish with this, I think that would really help with the perception of this and cause it to grow even more. 
Bryce Thurgood: I applaud both groups for what they have done. It is a cool expo and it creates a lot of excitement for 
Utah, wildlife and projects that we get out of it. 
 
Motion - Justin Oliver - Recommend the Wildlife Board accept the Division’s proposal as presented. 
Second - Kevin McLeod 
 
Motion Passes - Unanimous 
 
Item 11. Proposed Rule Amendments Repealing the Certification Review Committee under R657-3 and R657-53, 
Error Committee under R657-50, Walk-in Access Advisory Committee under R657-56 and the Variance 
Committee under R657-57. 
- Martin Bushman, Assistant Attorney General 
 
See RAC Packet 
 
Public Questions  
 
No questions from the public. 
 
RAC Questions  
 



 

NRAC 05-02-18: Page 11/11 
 

Matt Klar: Most of these committees, it looks like the division is reviewing its own decision and advising itself. Is there 
any conflict that might arise from eliminating these committees in terms of appeal processes?  Is it going to be pretty 
much the same people doing it? 
Martin Bushman: It will be the same people. The division would organize it internally instead of creating it in rule. The 
fact that it was created in rule, it was arguably moving into the realm of being a public body subject to the act.  So, I think 
the groups will function just as they have in the past only it will be administered and created internally within the division.  
We won't lose any function or operation in any way.  Division errors are dealing with individual issues.  They are not 
really the type of meeting we associate with policy type things and the open public act meeting type of gathering.   
 
Public Comments  
 
No comments from the public.  
 
RAC Comments  
 
Motion - Chad Jensen - Recommend the Wildlife Board accept the Division’s proposal as presented. 
Second - Justin Oliver  
 
Motion Passes - Unanimous  
 
 
Motion to adjourn 
 
Meeting Ends- 8:55 p.m. 



�����������	
����������
�	������������������������������� �!"���#$%$����$���&
�'�(�����)�������*�
��������+��	��+��������
��"�&����,-�%�-����%�.��,�.������#.��/�#��#�/�-�����,�0���������,-/������&���"�12��)�//�/��,�,�%�3/����$�'
4+����0�5�������+��
������+���4�����+�����������
��"������-�,�����%�,-�%�-����%�.��,�.������#.��/�#��#�/�-$�����,�6��,/�,�/���,-�-�����&���"�12��)�//�/��,�,�%�3/��7$���5���������5�)��	������+����2���4���89!28:�������
��"������,�6��,/�,�%�-����%�.��,�.������#.��/�#��#�/�-$�������4�3;�����,-�-������&���"�12��)�//�/��,�,�%�3/�������
��"��<��'��.��,�%�-����%�.��,�=���������%%�,-�-���.��,������.�%��=���.���+'�����<�=���=3,-�,���,��--�.��,��=�.���>9��������.��<��#�.���#�����%����%;3�/�%�,.��.�>9��#�������.�$���%%��)���/�,�����,-�-�����&���"��2��)�//�/��:$�
����4������
���
	���������)����	�����)4���������
��"�����-�,�����%�,-�%�-����%�.��,�.������#.��/�#��#�/�-������,�6��,/�,�����,-�-$�����&���"�:29�*���/�������
��"���%%��)���/�,�%�-����%�.��,�=���.���+'��.��������.��%��.�?�.���������3#/�;�=������-���/��,��/�������-��������4�3;�����,-�-$�����&���"�!2��)�//�/��9$����)��)���+���4�����+��������������&��
�����+��)�������)��
�����4���89!2:���'
4+4
*���@)��)��
�����4���89!299����+�+��'
�	��))4
���
���)����+�������4���89!28��������
��"�	�,������-%�,�%�-����%�.��,�.������#.��/�#��#�/�-����%%��)���/�,�����,-�-$�� ABCDEF�EGHEIJ� E



�������������	
������
������������	��	����������������������	����������� ����!� �����������"� ����������������#$�%�������#$�#%&������� ����������������#$�#�&�"��'�����  �����������(� ����������������#$�#���������������� �� ����������������#$�#$�������������)*
+,�����-.���,��
,��
���/����/��
--�0/�
��0*����/�,&�)*�
��1�.�������-��,�,����������������	
������
������������ �������������������������������������� 234567�6896:;� 6



�����������	���
��	���������	
�������������������������������� �!"���#$%$�� ������%&��'�(��'�)*� +,��(��'�))���(��'�)*� ,��-��.������-�(��'�)*� �����%&��'�	�*�(��'�)*�/012�34056�7862�9:;<=2>�?2>2�3:0;@A0>�B;08C�D0EF�3;0G@:>�H85=A:>@�I0AAG�J20;K:>�3;80>��L:=>K:>�M20>�N244G�O2;40>@�N8>C�M20>�M<2P0;<������ L:=>>G�Q284�/2>8K2�?84C2>�IG;244�R;A2�B:@G�S10>K�J=84�IE<<42�/018@�MA2@42G�I2;2K0�?;8TT8>�O0>52�7EAT:;@�U2040�904@2>�/0;;2>�/234::8K�LEK<8>�M=0>>:>�70;<8>�3EK=A0>�V12;G�B::6�N2>>G�L:=>K:>�?0F2�J0<<2;K:>�?0;G�32WW0><�L:K=�J:44:56�NG42�B=;8K<2>K2>�L052�I0G4:;������� /:>>G�XE><2;�M<212�/04<:>� 90@2�X20<:>�H842G�H:F2;<K�HEK<G�V862>�Q856�L:;C2>K2>��/012�34056�50442@�<=2�A22<8>C�<:�:;@2;�0<�YZ[\�]̂Â�I=2;2�P2;2�_̀�0]];:a8A0<24G�8><2;2K<2@�]0;<82K�8>�0<<2>@0>52�8>�0@@8<8:>�<:�HVB�A2AF2;Kb�A2AF2;K�:T�<=2�984@48T2�3:0;@b�0>@�/818K8:>�2A]4:G22K̂�/012�34056�8><;:@E52@�=8AK24T�0>@�0K62@�HVB�A2AF2;K�<:�8><;:@E52�<=2AK2412K̂�/012�34056�2a]408>2@�HVB�A22<8>C�];:52@E;2K̂������� cdefg̀�ghigj[� g



�����������	
�����	��	���������	�����	����������	�����	����������	�
���������	�����	�����	�����	�������� �!"#��$%�&�!'%(��)%*�%*$�$%�$+��,%*$+�-.�/�0"%.�/12�(��$".0�$+"3��4�.".05�6)�.7(��"3�874��9!7'#:�;�!"4��".�,$5�<�%-0�:�;�-�=-�3�.$�$+��=*>!"'�7$�!7-0�:�7. �;�(�$+��'+7"-(7.�%?�$+��/12�'%(("$$��5�@"-3$:�;�&%*! �!"#��$%�".$-% *'��$&%�%?�%*-�&"! !"?��>%7- �(�(>�-3�$+7$�&��+74��".�$+��7* "�.'��$% 7)5����+74��8%..)�A*.$�-�7. �,$�4��87!$%.�&"$+�*35����7==-�'"7$��$+�(�>�".0�+�-�5�B*-�?"-3$�"$�(�%.�$+��70�. 7�"3�7.�7'$"%.�"$�(�$%�7''�=$�$+��(��$".0�70�. 7�(".*$�35�;�733*(��)%*�0*)3�+74��+7 �7�'+7.'��$%�!%%#�$+%3��%4�-�7. �&%*! ��.$�-$7".�7�(%$"%.�$%�$+7$��??�'$5��C�
�	���D������;�&%*! �!"#��$%�(7#��7�(%$"%.�$%�7''�=$�$+��(".*$�35���	�����	�����8%�&��+74��7�3�'%. E�B#7)5�1. �,�7.E�8%�;�+74��7.)� "3'*33"%.E�1!!�$+%3��".�?74%-E�F.7."(%*35�B#7):�$+7.#�)%*5�G�H$�"$�(�&"!!�>��7�&"! !"?��>%7- �*= 7$�5�;�&73.�$�7>!��$%�7$$�. �$+7$�(��$".05��7 ��A�7$%.�7$$�. � �7. �+��3�.%$�+�-��$%."0+$:�7. �3%�I�-�37�+73�7.�*= 7$��?%-�*35��J�
�K	�L
�������M�1!-"0+$�7. �;�(�I�-�37�<-"??".:�;�(�3"$$".0�".�?%-�N�4".�9*..�!!�$%."0+$5�I+��&"! !"?��>%7- �7==-%4� �$+��%.!)�'+7.0�:�$+��O".��P7!!�)� ��-�=�-("$35�I+�)�'+7.0� �$+��.*(>�-3�$%�>��$+��37(��73�!73$�)�7-:�3*==%-$".0�&+7$�$+��,%*$+�-.�/�0"%.�/12�+7 �4%$� �*=%.5�I+�)� " �$+��37(��$+".0�%.�$+��6%.-%���!#�=�-("$3�7. �$+�)�#�=$�$+��=�-("$�.*(>�-3�$+��37(��73�!73$�)�7-5�I+�)� " � �'-�73��3+��=�=�-("$3�%.�$+��G�>%Q�737$'+�*."$�7. �$+�.�$+��7.$!�-!�33� " �=733�73�=-�3�.$� 5���	�����	���R�9�?%-��&��0%�$%�$+��-�0"%.7!�*= 7$�:�;�?�!$�$+7$�&��3+%*! �!�$�$+��/12�(�(>�-3�".$-% *'��$+�(3�!4�35�1!3%:�&��+74��7�.�&�/12�(�(>�-:�,�7.�,$�&7-$:�7. �&+�.�&��0�$�$%�,�7.�&��!!�!�$�+"(�$7#��S*3$�7�'%*=!��(%-��(".*$�3�$%�".$-% *'��+"(3�!?5�T�$�3�3$7-$� %&.�+�-��%.�()�?7-�-"0+$�&"$+�P�-!7. 5��C�
�	���D����R�;�("0+$�0�$�3=%%#� �7. �!�74�5�;�(�P�-!7. �N".0:�-�=-�3�.$".0�70-"'*!$*-��".�F$7+5��L������	
�U	��R�<�.��9%7- (7.:�A".'#!�):�F$7+5�;�(�-�=-�3�.$".0�$+��=*>!"'5��V�	��V�W	
���,�7.�,$�&7-$:�;�(�-�=-�3�.$".0�$+��9T65�A��73#� �(��$%�$�!!�)%*�7�!"$$!��>"$�7>%*$�()3�!?5�;�(�7�3=�'"7!"3$�&%-#".0�%*$�%?�X3'7!7.$�:�F$7+�?%-�$+��<-7. �,$7"-'73��6%.*(�.$:�&�!!�&+7$�3�!�?$�%?�"$5�1. �;�(�&%-#".0�&"$+�$+��N7.7>�?"�! �%??"'��73�&�!!5�;�(�7�!"?�!%.0�-�3" �.$�%?�,%*$+�-.�F$7+5��J	UUY�Z�	
K�����I7(()�O�7-3%.:��!�'$� �%??"'"7!5�9�74�-�2%*.$)5���
	���[	\]�R�2-7"0�T7*>:�;-%.�2%*.$)�7. �-�=-�3�.$".0�70-"'*!$*-�5��V�	��D���Y�R�,�7.�N�!!):�-�=-�3�.$".0�$+��@"3+�T7#��7. �8"H"��G7$"%.7!�@%-�3$5���
	Y��������U������9-7) %.�/"'+(%. :�-�=-�3�.$".0�3=%-$3(7.5���
�	��̂���K�����9-"7.�_%+.3%.�?-%(�X.%'+:�-�=-�3�.$".0�$+��.%.R'%.3*(=$"4�5�àbc�d��ef�gh� �



���������	
������������������������������������������������� !�"����!����#��$%&��'(%)�*��+��������������#�+�����,�����-���������.��-������!����-#�/����0�!!� �����������!��������.��-�/���������0�!!#��1���2%�3��44��*��+��������0��5�����������6������"��7���#�8������.�����������"���!!�����!!����������6������"��7���#���9�����������"���������������:���-��"���.��-�����;�����<����.����!��������#��������!�����������.�����"�����:�������..�"����.��-�=��� #�>���;�����������������.����������?����<���0���6����!#���������������������@���������0������:����!����A�!!-�����..�"��������������"�-���� �"�����������������������.������-����#�7����0����0������!��������=�B��..�"�������������0��0��!��!����������������"����!��"��������������!����@�������:��#�/�������"������������������-����"����������������0�����������������������#����"������!����:��CDEE�����"����������������������������!��������0���,��"�������"���������������#�F�9���-��������.�����������"���������������� ������"��:������ �����������5�"������!��.������������:�"�������������:�����������..�"�5�-�������� �.����������"���������#�F�9�����G������������������HI9�#���9:��������.�0����G��������������!����������������������������-���������"����!������"�-��������CJ��#����0����� !�������!�������0�����G��������!�"��� ������;�����<����.��������0�9�������������.������-����!��.������!���������-���#����������������-�����5�"���������K����������0����������0#�+����.������������-����������� ������������������������!�"�-��������0�����������!!������-����0��������-�#���9:���!���������.��"������� ����������������!�������������������.���"�����"���������������!�� ��"�-�!����� �����������.�������--��#��$%&��'(%)�*��L���������������#�+�����,�����-�0�!!� ����0�!�!�.�����5�"�������������������0�!!� ��@������8������#��M�&��N�%�O�P))�Q	%�)���4�PR��O%�%�O����S	�2�T%)	���U����VW$WVXY�ZM[\Y]1̂�_Z$P1Ŷ��\S2	���̂
%����*��/�����������#������#�����-�����@������8�������������������F��-�������������������������.��-������!����-����0�!�!�.�������� ��������5�"��#�/������������.�����������������������0�.�!�#�/���.�����������0��!�����������0�!�!�.�� ���������������������������:��:��0��.���0�"�����:�����������,������-���.����� ���.���0�!�!�.������0�!�!�.���� ����#���9:����!������!���� �������������5�"������������0������������ ��� !������������"��:����������̀I��-�- ���������������������� !�"����"������.��-���������0����0�����0����������.�����������0�������������-�����!!�� ���.���0�!�!�.�������� ����#�/�����"�������������0�9:���������-���,"������0����� ��������� ���������0�!�!�.��������#������:��9��������������5� ��.�����!����������������""�����#�F���-�- ���0����F�0����������-�!��������!���������0����������������0�����!���!����0����!����� ������!����.����������������������������������-������������������0�0����������!!�������5� ��.���������������""�����.������#�/���9����������������������0���������������������#�8������ �����0���� �����-��"������������������!�������������.���!�.����������:�������!����.�:���������0�9:��"��������aD� ���������������"�!!��������-#�I�!����.�����������""������������<����9���0��"�������:���������-�������-�:�-��������������!�����������;�����!�..��0�����0��������-������������������-�!�������-�:�-������.��-���������0�!!#�A��������������0�9:��"������ECb������������������6���������������:�������!����.�:�������#�bEa��.���������:�� ���������!�"�������� �!������������������-����0�����!������#�/�����-��������.�����"�!!�������� �������!��:�����������������0��"�����������������������!������ �������cdefgJ�ghigjk� g



�����������������	���
��������������
���	����������	
����������
��
�������
������

������	�������
������
�������
	��������
���	����
�����������	
��
����������������������
���	��������	
������
���	����
����������	���������������
��������������	��
���	����
����������������
��	��
�������
����	
��
�����������
���	��������������������������� �������
���������������	������������	��	���������	�����
��	��������
���	�����
���!��������������������������	
����������
�����	��	��� ��������
��	������	��"��	�����
���	�����������
�����������	�������
�����	
������!���	���	
�!����
�����	�
�������
������
��	��������
���#��
��	������
��
�	�����������!������������
���������	�������
�	����������
�	�������
	������
��!����
�������
��	��$��
�����

�����
�
��������������%����� �
��
������������
���������
���	����
�����%�
��
���$� ���&
��	���!����
�������
�
��
���	������������'��
���������������!����������	���	�!�������	����
�����	�����

���!��������(�
�����������������
��	������������������
���������
���	���������
�'�	
���
�
��������	������������������������������
�������������
�������������
����!�������!������
����	����	�����
�������
�������
����!���
���������
��	�������	���������
�����	��	��������
������������	���	�������
����	�
������������ �����������)���������������
��������	
��***����������
���	����
���������+**����
��������
����
��	�����������������	�������	,,�-���
������.������������	������
��	�������	������������������������������/�
�	�	��������������	�������0�����
����
��������������
��	�����
�
�����	�
���1� �&
��!���	�����������!�����������������	��0�����
��
�����	��
	�����
��
�	
��!���������������������
����� �
��
�������������
������������
��������������
������
	������	�	�����	�
������
	�����������
��!������������� ���
���
��
��������������	�����
�	������!����	
��
������
��	������
���	���������������
�������
�����������	��	�
��	���� ��������������
��������	�������������������
���������
�	
��
����	��� �������
������	����!�����
	�
������������
�����������	���������
�������	
��� ������
��	�������	��������
�����������
!��)���
��������	����������	�������������
������
��
�����������������������������������

���������
��������
�� �������������
���	��������������������	��������	
�!����
���	�������
��	�������
������	���������	��������	���	��� �� �����������������������������������
�����������������
��	��0
���	�����������!�������������)���
���"������)����&
��!�
��
�
�� ���������������
���	��
����������������������������
�����
�	���������������
�������
��	��������	�����*,2���
�	��0
�	�����������!��������� ��.����	���3��� ������������
�
���
����
��
� �������	���	����
��
���� 	��� ��
�����
����	������
��	�������	�����
�����������
������
���������!��4���������!	5�6��

!�������0
�	����
�
����������
����
��	�������
�	�����
��	����
�����
������	�������	��
�
�����
���������'��	���
�����������	�
��	�������	�����!��������������������0
�	������
��	���
��	�������	������������
�
�������
���������	��!�	��$���
�����0�������	�!�����7�8�����	���������	����
��������������!��������9
������
������������������������
���	�����
���	����
	�����
����������'�	
����������������������������!������
����	����	��������
�����'�����	��&���������!���
���	��0
�	������!������
��	�������
��	�	
������� 	��#����������������
��������������
���	����
��������:+**����	�����
���	
�
�������
����
��	����������������������	�	���������������	�������
���������
���	����
������	��
��:***�
�� �!	������
�����	
������!���	����������	�����������
����3�����
���	����
���	��&������3������8����������3������������	�3������0
���	���������
�
��	���
��
��&���	��������	��
���	����
���	���	
�!����
���	�������� 	�����
�����������������	����*�***���� ��	�����:*�***�����	��
	���	
�!��������
����������
����
��	������	���������
������	����
��������
	��	�������	�'�	
�	
�����
�����
���	���
	����&)����	����!����������!�������������
��	������������	�	����������	����������
��#�������������
������������	������������������
��	������	���������	��������	��������	��� ���
��������
��
�	����������������������
���#��
��	��;�	 !�����	��	
����	��'�	
�
�!����
����
���	��������������������
�������
��	�������	��8�� ��	�����
�� �!	���
�	�'�	
�����������!������
�����
���������	������
��	�������	��)������	�����������������
�����������	
����	����
���	
�
���$����	
������
�������	����
���$� ���&
��	���!�	���
��;�	
���"�
�����������������������	
����	������������������
�������
�������	��
��
���!�������� ���������
������������	�	��������	�
��
�����������
�������������
��
��
�����	���������
�����	��	����������������
�������������	�����	�
����������
�������		�����������!�������	�
��
�������������������������
����
��������	
�����
������������
���<=>?@2�@AB@2*� @



�������������	�
�������
������������������������������	���������������������������������������������	������������
��������	���
���������������������������������
�������������������������
���������������
�������������������������������������������������
����������������������
���������	�������	
����
����������
�������������	������������������������������������������	�����������������	���������	��������������������	����������������������������	�����	�����������������������������������������������������������������������
���
���������	�����
������	�����	������������	�	���������������������������	���������������
��������������������������	
����
����
��������������� ����������������������������������������������������	�����������������
��������������������������������
�������������������������������
�	������	�������	�����
�����������	�������������������������������������������������������������������	���������������������
������������������������
�����������������	�������!�����
��������
������
����������������������������������������������������	��������
�����������������������������������!�
���
�
����"��	�������#���������������������������������������������������������
	��������������������������	��������	��
�������������	��������������������������	����	�������$���
����������������
������������	������������������������������%���������������
���
���������������
�������������������&$'�������������������	�	��������������������������������	���
�����������
�������������������
��������	�����
����������	���������������������
��������������������	�
�����	�	�����������������������()������������������
�������������������������������������������������
��������	��������������������	����������������������$��*����������
�������������������
�	�������������������
�����	����
�	�����
����������	���������������������������������	����������������������������������������	���	�������������������������������������������	������������
����������������������+))������������������������������������������	�&�����������������������&�����������������������������������������������������	����������	����������	�����������������������,
�������������	����	�����	������
�����������
����������
������	����
�������
����������������������
�����
��������������
��������������������	������������������	�����������������������	��������������������������
����������������������������	�������-)).������	���������	�
������������������������������������������	�����+(/)����������������	�����+�/�����������������	�������+0.��������	�������'
�������������������
��-0+�����������������������
���������,
����������������������	��������.+������������
�	������������������������������������	�
�������������������-))�����������������,
����������������������	�1/������������
�	�����2��������
��������������������	���������������	�������	�����������������	�����������������
�
�����������
��-����������������	��������������������	���������������	����
������������������3))��������	����������������������������������������	��	�����������	������	�������	������������	������������������������������������������������������
����������������������������	�����������������	������������������������2�������
����	�������������������������	����
����������������	�����������������������������������	�����������	����
������������	������������������������������������������������������	����������������������������
�����������4�����5��	��������	�����2�������������	������	�6�����������������������������������������
�����������������������������
�����	������������������������������
�����	������	���������������������������������������������������������	�������2�������������
�	�	7���������	���
��3))��������	������������
�������������	����������������������������������������������������	�����48���$�	�������������������$������������������������������	��������	��$��	���
���������������������������
��������	���������������������������
�����	����������������������������������
��
�����
��������	������������������
�����������
����������������������������������	���������������������
�����	��������������������������	������ �������������������������������������������������	�������������9�����
������	���������������
�������������������������������������������������������
�����	������������������
�	�����������������������������������	�����	�������������������������
�������	������������
������������������������������	��$�	���������������������%
���
������������������������������������������
������������������������:;<=>(�>?@>.)� >



�����������	
�������������
����������	����������������
���
�����	
��
��������
�����������
�����������������
������
���
�����
���������
��
����������������������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������������������
���
���������������������	�
�
������������������
�
���������	������������	�
�
����
���	������
�������������������
�������
��������������������������
�����������������������������������
�����������	
��������
��������������
������������������������������
��
���������������
��������
����������������
����������������
������������
���������
����������
��������������������
������������������
������������������������
���		�������������������������
���������������
���
���������������������������������� ���
���
��������
�����������������!�������������
�����
����������	���������������
��������
����������������	
���������������
������������������������
���
��������
���
������"##"������������$�	����	
�������
�������������
������������������
��������������%��&���������
�����
�����'�����$���������
����������������������������
�������������
������������
���
�����������������
����������
����

��
������������
������
���������	���������
���������	�����
����������������������
���������
�����������������������������
�����������������	����
����������������������������������
����(�
���������
����)�������*�������(���
������������
�����
��������+,���,#����
������������-..#�������������������
��������
��"���+������	�
�����������
�������������
�������
���
���������
��������
�����������������	�
��������
��������������	����-,����
�����
��
����
��
�����������
������������������������	���������������
����������������������������������������	
��������/��
�����
������������������������������������������������
����������������������0�
���������������������������������������
������������
�	�������������
�����������	
������
�������������������������������������
�������������������������
���
��������	�
	��������
������������������
��	�����
��������������������
�������
������
��������������������������
����������������������%���������������
����������������������������������
������������������
��
�������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������
���(�
�����������$�������������������������������1���������������������������������"##2��������
����
�����
�����������������������������"#--������������
����������
���������
�����������
�������
����������������
����������������������������������
����������������������������������������3�������4�������$/��'���
����
�
�������������
�������������������
��������������������������������������
�������������������������������������
����������
����������	
���������
���
���������
��������
������	����������.����
�����
������������������������������
���������������������������
���������������������
������
���������������
������5��������������
�	�
��
������
��
���������	
������
���������������������
����������
��������
����
�������������
�����
���
�����������������������������
�����������
�����
��
���
������������������
�������
��������������������������������������������������������������������6���������
������	
�������������
�������
����������
�������������������
���	�
�����
�������
����������������������������������
�����������������
������	�
���	
��
�����������%	����������������
������
�����
�������������
�	�
��
���	��������������
�������
��	��������������������������������
������������������
����������������������������������������������������������������������������
��
���
���������������	����������������������������������
���
�������������
��������������������
���
�����������	�
������������
��������������������������	�����
���
���������
���$
��4���
������������������������������������������������7�
�)����������������������������	�����������������������������������������������������������	
��
�����89:;<=>9?@A<�1����������������
����������������B9CD<=;EE9FGA<�H�����������������7�
��'�00�����������(�����I
��
���$�����
�����������������
��
�������J�������������
������
����������������
��������������������������������	
������������	�����������������
�����������������������
��
����������������������������
�����K���
�����LMNOPQ�PRSPT#� P



���������������	
���
�������
����	���������
������������������
	�������������
����
	������
�������
�������
����������
���
���	����	�������������
���	������������������
���������������
������������������
����������������	��������
����������
���
��������	
����������
���	��
�����������
����� ��
�	��������	���!
�������	�������	�����
����
���������
����
�����������
������
��������	�������
���������	������"���	�����	��������
����
��
����������

���������	��	�������������

����
������������
����������
���������!����#���������!����!��������������������
������������������
����������"��
������������

������������
���

��������	���������������������$%&������
��������
�������%�������
������������
�����������	�
�������	���	������������������
����
�����������
������
������������		���������
������
�����	
���������
�������������������
�������������������	���������
������
����	�����������������������������������

����
�
���
��	����������	��������
��
��������
�������	��������������
�����'����������
��
������
����	�����������
����������
��$$��
�������
����
��������
���$$(��
�	��������	������������������	���������	���
�������
�����
�����
��	���������)�����	�
������	�
����
����	������������
�����
�����������������
��
����������
�������
�����������
���������*�
��������������������������	�������������
�����
���+,,,�����	�
������
������$&,,�����	�
����������
������
���������	��������-���������

����
����������	������
����������������������
�����������	�
����
�������
�����
�.�����������
����������	�
�������
������������
�����������������������

����������������-�������
��	���������������
�����
����
��
�������	�
����������������	�
�����������������������������������
��	�������������������	�
�����
�����������/����	����	�������������
�
���������
�������
������������������������
��	������������
���
���������
������
�����������	�����������
����)��������0����
�����	1�!
������������	
�����������	�����
	�
�����������
����
������	�
������
�	����������������2	���������

���������������)��������������������������
��3,�	��
��	���������������
������
����	�����/���������
������4���"�������
��
��������
�����������		�����������������������������
����	����������	����������������
��
��	5����	���������

�5���������
���
���
������
�.����������	�
����
���������������������������	�������
����	
����������������	��	���������
��	��	��������������
���6�������
��
������	��
��	����������������
������	��7���������
�����������������������
����������	����8
��
��8
�������4�
������������������
�������
����	���
	���
�� �,,,�����	�
���	�������	�
����
����������������������
���������)����������	��"�	�	����������������������
������
��%,,�����	�
�������������
�����������������
�����$�,,���������	������������� ,,�����	�
��������������	���������������(,,�����	�
���������	��������������������������������
����	
���������������
�����
����
���	��!
����������	�
������
���
���������
��8
��
��8
���������������������	����'�����9�	��		�����
	��
���
��������
�����
������
���
������
�������
��	
������
������:��	��������������
�
��	���
�����;�	�<����=���
����;
��	���������
�	�	
���������������
���
����������"��������	
����������	������
����������)������
�	��������������������������������	����������������������	����������������������
����������������������
��
����
��������	�����
�����������������������
���������	�����
������
��������
����������	�
�������������
�	����������
���	��������
�������	
���������	�	����
���
����	��������������
��������������������
���	�
������������
���	������������������������
���	�
��������
���
	��������������	�
���
���	�������	���������
������������
����
��
�������������<�	�����������������������
������������/�����:���������������;����������	����������	�����������
��
���
�������
��������
����������
��	��	�������
����	�
����!
���
��������	�����
�����	��	��
���
������������������	���������������������
�������	
������+,,�����	�
������������	�	������
���������	
���
������
��������"�������
�����������

�	��
�����������������
�	���
������������	�
������	��"���	����	�����������	������
����������
�	�>�����������	������6�	����	
����7���
��
����������������������������
��
���������
��������������
��	��	��������
�	�����������
��
�����������
������������	������6���
������	
��������������
��
��������������������������
��
��	������)�	�������
��������
��
���

��	������
������������!
�
���?�!������	��
���	��������	�
������������	�������
��������������������	��������������	��
��	����	�@������������
	���
��
����������������
�����)���������
��
�������A����������������	�����	���������
���������&,�,,,��������������������������$$�,,,�����	��������BCDEF(�FGHF&,� F



���������������	��
���������������
���
����	�������
����������	���������������
����������������������
�����������������
�������
��������������������
����������
�������
�����������
�������������������
������
�����������������
������������������	�
�������������������������������
��������
���
�����
���	���
��������������������������������������
�������
�����������������������������������
���
���������
����������������
�	����������������	���
��������������������������� ������������������������������������
�������������
������ ���������������
���������������
�������������������������������������������������������
�����������������������
����������!"���#������������������������	�
���������������
���������������������������������������������������	�
�������#��������������
����������������������
��������������������������
���������
��������������������� ����������
����������������
������	�������������������������������	������������������	����������� ���������$��	��������������	������������������
����������������������������������������������	�%����#��������������������
�������
��������
����������	����
����������������������������� �����������������
��� ���
��������
�������	��������� �������������������	��������&������� �����������������
�����	��������������������	�%��������'�������	��������
�������������������
������ �������������
������������
���������
�������
��������������
�	�����
���������(�
��������������������������
�����������������������
�����������	�������
�����������������������
�����������������������������
����������
���������������������������
����������	�������������������������
���������������
�����
����������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������
�������
�����	����������������	�����������
���������������������
����	������������#����������������������
���
�����%%��
��������
��������������
�������)����*������������������������������� ������
��������	�����
����+���������������������������������������
�����������������������������������������
�����������
���,-./01-22-3405�6�
������������������������ �	����������������������(������������(���������)�����7�����"�������(�
���������������������
����� �	������������������������������������������������	�������������
	���������������������������
�����
�	����������
�������+������������������������������������������������	���������������	�������
��������������������������
������� ������������������������
�����������������
��������������������������
�8(9������
������� ���������
�����������������
��������:;<<�����7��"������������������
���������������������
���������������������������
�	������������
�	�:;<<����:;<=��>������������������������������������
������������	������������������������������������������������������������������
����������������
����	������������
����� ��������������	��
��������

���
�����
����������
�������������������������������������������
�����������������������������	��
�����������������
	��������
���������
������������
������	������������������
���
���
������	�%�����#���������
������
��������������������������������	��������������������������	��?�������������������8(9������
��������������
���������������	��������������
������������
���������
�������������������������
�������@�������������
���
����������	����
������	������������
������	�%��������������������
�������������
���������������������������

����������������
����A��
�������
�����������������������
��������
�����
����������7�������������
�������������������
��������
�����
�������
���������
�����
�����
��������������������������
��� �����������������������
����A��
����������������������������	�����������������
����������������������������
����������������
	����������������������������
��
���������������������������������
��������������������������
�����������������������
��
�����������������������������������
�������������������� ����������������������	��
��������

���
���������������
���
�����������
���
�	������7��
������ ���������������������	��(�����������	���	����������������
���
���
������	�%�����#��������������������������������������������������������������
���������	����������������
������������������������������
�������
��������
�����������������
��B;�	��������A��
��B;�	�������������������������������:C����
���������9����������
������������������������
�����	�����>���������������DE����
������������������������F���������
���(��������
�������<B�	�����������������������������������
����������������������������
�����
���������������������������
��
�	������	�
���������������
����	������
�����&���������������������
�	��������������������������������
�GHIJK<;�KLMKN;� K



������������	�
����
��������	�����������������	�����
������������	�
��������	���������������������������������
����������������
����������	������
�����������������������	�������������	�������
��������������
�������������
����
������������������������������
�������������������������	������
������
����������������	��
���������������������	����������������������������	�������	�������
���
������	��
��������	���
����������������	�������
������������������	�������
��
������
������������������ ��	�����������������	����	�������
�������	��	�����
��	���������
��� ��	�������	�
����!����
���������������
�����������������!��������	��"#����������������
���������������������	���
������	����	���
�������������	��
����
����������	������$��������!�����������	��	���	����%�������
�������������������
�������������&#'(����������	��)����������������
���������
��	�
���	�������*��!����������&+���������������,���������
���-��������������
���������������	�
����������
������	������������	�����������������������	���������
�����
�������������	����.��������	��������������������!�������������	���������������	�	�
����	�
�������
�������
���/�����������$��������
��	�
����	�
����������������	�������������������������������	�����������������$����������0���
�0�����	�
�����	�����������1#�������������������!������������������
���������	���������������*��2���	�
����	�
������	�
�����������	�����������
�����
����*��0����3�����
���	����
�����
�������������
�����������	�����/���������������	�������������������������
�4����	��	�
�����������	��)���������	��������
������������
������
����	�
���	�
���������������
�	�
����	������
�����������	������������������
����	����������������������������������������
������������	�����������������������
����	�������
���������	�������
��
��
���������������	����	���
���
����������	����	���
�����������������
���������
���������
������������	��������
�����
����������$����	����������
��������������	��������������������������������������������������
���
�����	���������!�	������56789:;6<=94�>��	��>�������?�
�������
��������	�����@�
������
��������������������
������������������
�������������������	����������	�������������	���������A����������������
��	������
�������������!��	����������!�����$�����������������
��
��	�������
������������	��������������A��������������������������������	��������	����	���������
������������������
����������������
��
��������������
������	���������������	������
�����	����
����
����
�	�	�������	�������������	����������
������
������������������	����������	��	����B(�.�
����)��	������	����������������
����?���
������	�
��������	��������/����.�
�������CDE5EDFG9DHIEDJKLDMNO9MF9NGC9OLKLG9KN59JMPNLQ9RGOMPRJG9HKNKSGHGNL9IEKNO��H6TUVW9:XYZ[6W94��	�����������������������������������.�
���)��	������!��������������������
����?���
�����!���
�����	����������\����
��������!������	�
��������$�������
�������������
�����������������	����������
����
�����������������������
�������	����������.��������������	����������!��&#'(���	�� ��	�%��������
����������������������
��
��
����
�����������������������
�	������������������	���������
�����������������
�����������
�����	�����������������	������
��
�����
�����
����������������	�
����������	
�������������������
����������������
��������	��
�������]�������	���	��	���������
����
���������������
�����	�������������	�����������
������������������	����	����
����
����������������������������
������	�����������	�
�������������������������!���	�������������������	�
������������������������	���������̂]��	��������	����
��������������
��������������	�����	�
��������	����������������������
�������������������
�������&"�����������\����
����0������� ��	�_������	�������������	�����������
�������	����	��2���������\�0������)��
����������������������������������	���	����������������
�������������������]����$�������������������	
���	����������	��������������	�������������	�����	������������������	������������������	����	��2��������������������������
�����������������������
���������������������	����������	������������������	��	�
����
�������
����������������������	����	��$�
��������������	������������������	����àbcd''�defd(#� d



������������	��
���������������	���������	�������������������	��������������	���������
��������
��
�������������������������������������������
�������������������	����	�����	���������������	���������	���������	����������	�������������������������������������	����������� ���������������!������� ����������	������	��������������������	���������"��	�����������������	������������
����������������������������������������������������������������	�����������������������������	����������������������������	��
���������������������������������!������������	���������������������������������	�������������������#	�����������������������������������	��������������������	��	��
������������������������������
���	��	��
��
�����������������	���������������������
���������������������������	��
�������������
�������������������������
��
����������������������������������������������������!�������	���������������	����
�����������������	�����������������������������������	��������������	����������������$���	������������������������������	����	������������������������$���	�������������
��������������������
�������
��
�����������������������������������������������	��	���������%�������������������������	�����������������������������������������������$���	���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	����������������������	�����������!������� �����������������	���	�������������&�����������������	��������������������	����������������������������������	������������������	����������� ��������	����	�����	������������	������������������������������
���������������������������������������
����������������
���������	��������������������������'��	���������������	��
��
����������
�������������������������	���������������������������������	�
������������������������������������������������������������������	�����������������
����� ������������ ��������"��	����	��
���������	���������������������������������	���������!������� ���������
������������	�������	��������������
���������	���������������������	����	������������
����������������������	����������������"��������������	��
����	����������

���������	����������������������������(����������
�����������������������#	���������������	����������������������������	����������
��
�����������������
�����������������������	���������������
���������#	��������������������	��������������������������
�������������������	������
��
�������
�����������������	�������
��������#	������������������	����������	������$�����������������������	����������������������
���������	�������������������������	����������������
������������	��������������	�����������������������
�����������������������������������������
��������������������
�����������������	������!����	�������������	��
�������
�������������	���! ������������������������	����������!����	����	���������

�����������������������������

������	��
����������	������	�����������
��������	������������������������������	����������� ��������	����������������������������������	����������������������	������������
����)
�����
�������������������������������������������������
�
�������������������������������
��������������������������	��	��������������������������������������	����	�������������! �����������������������	����	��	�����	����
��������
�������)
��������
����������	����	���������������������	�����������	��	�������	�������������������������	��������������������
�������������������
����������������������	����	����������������������
���������������������	����������������	�����������������������������������#	��������������������	����������� ������#	�������������������������������������	������	��������	�����������(����������*����&�������������������������
��������	�����	���������	�������������������������������	������������	��������������������� ������#	�������������������������������������������
�����	���������������
�����	���
�������������������������'�����������������
�����������������������������	������������	���������������������
��������#	��
�����	����������������������������������������������$����	����������������	������������������������������	���! &���������������������
�����������������
����
�������&���	��
������������������������	�����������	����	��������
����������	��
������������������������	�������������������
�����������������������	�����	����������	�������������������������������
����������������������������������	����	��	���! ��������������������
���������&������������������������������
��
���	�����������������	�������	����	�������������	�����������!������� �������������������	�����+,-./01�/23/45� /



�������������	�
���	�����	���
���	�����	����
�		������
�	��
���������������������
�	��
������������������	����������
�������������
�����	���	�����
�������������	��������������������	����������������������
���	��������
	�����������������������������������������	����
�	�������������� !"#$�%&"'�(���������������)�
����������
���������*���
������������������
����������	���������
�������������	��+���,�	���������������
����������
�����
�	�
����-�������.����������������������/�"01&!"23456!78"�����������.�
���+����������������
��������������������	������+���	������������������������+
���������9�	��
���.����������:�����	���������	������������-��	����	��������������������	������	������
������	������������	�
�����������	��������������������
�����
���
��	�������������,������	���������	������
���		�	����������������	��	����	��������������������+���
��������
�����������	����	���
���������
�������
��������������������������	������
������	�����	���
	�������	����
��������
����	������*;.������<�
�	��=�
�������
�����>�9���*��������+��������	�����������	��������
�������������
��������	������	���������������
���	�	������������������������
����������������������������������������������
�	��
�����������������������������	����������������������	��		���������	���������
����	����
���
�������������
���������������������
���������+����������������������	��	��������������		����
�������������������		��	�����������������������+����
���������������	����
�����
����������������	���������	�������-��	�������������������	��������������0�4517"#?@6A�78"�+���
��������
��������������������������+�������������������������	���������>���	����	�����
������������
�������	�������	������
���������������������
�	�����	���������	�����	���	������ !"#$�%&8"�(���������������=���������������������������	������������������������������������������	������	������	�����������������������
�����������������>���	�����������	������������
��������������
����	�������
�����������
��
����=����	���������
��
�������������
�	������������������������������
�-��	����	�������������-��	����	��
�������9B����
	���������������	������
�����-��	����	��
���������������������	����������	���������������������������
�	������
��������������������������-��	����	�������+���������������-��	������
��������������������������������	���	�����������
���������	�������
�������B�	��������������
������
������������������
������
	�����	��
�-��	����	����������9B��������������������
�>�9�������������	�������������������	������������������	�
����������	��
�	�������������-��	������������������	���������	��
�������
����������������	��������
�	�
����������������������	���������
��
������������������*��
������	��������������������
�����������������������CD��������	������������
���
�������������	�����
�������������	����2EF�"GHIJKL"IKMN00KO�PGENOQ"PO�"IHFK"P0KO�0KOGQ��P !4R"M33&8"�+���B��
�����������S������T����:
�,����;����
���
�����S����>���	�����������������U�	���9����	���	�����������������������������������������	�����������������������
�	��������
�	������
���	�����	��	��+����������������
������������
������������������S������T���������������
���T�����*��������9����9�������������	���=���+����	��
����������������������������
����������
��,�	������	��������������
	����
��������
�����
���������������
�������
�����	��������,�
����������S������T����9���������	���
�����
�������	����
���
���������9B������*��
�������	�������	�	�����������,�	����
�	�������������	����������
���
���	���=��������
�������������	����S�����
��������-����������������������������	���������
���
������
�������	��������
	��������������������������VWXV�������������
�������
�����������
�����
����
����������Y�����
�������������
�������������	��������������������
���
���������
��
������������	���������
�	������
���	���
�	��������	�������	����������
���
����������
������
����
��	�Z[\]̂X_�̂̀âbW� ^



�����������������	��	
���	���	������������	����
������������������	����������
��������������������
���������	���	����	�����������������������	����	�����	��������������	��
��������
	����	��������������
���������	��	����������
����	��������������	�������������
���������������������
������
���������������������������������	���������	�������
	��	��������
	�����	�����������	����������������������������������������
�����	
���	���	������������	�������������������	�����	���	�������	��������������
���
����������	����������������������
������	�������������������������������������������������������
	���
�����	������������������������� !�������������������������
	�����	�����	����	������������������������	�����������"���	��#�����
�����������������������������������������������������$������������������������������
��%�����������������	��&�������������������	���������������������������
	��������������	��	���������������������	���&'%��������(
��������	����������
���
������������������������
����������	�����������������	���	����������	��	��
����������
�����������������������)���	���	������������	�� &�����������������������	����������	�� & ��������	���������������	�*�+������	��	���������	����,�����������	�������)����	�����������������������-���������
������
	��	��������	�����������	�������������������������������������������������������
����	�����	�����������	��	�����������	�����������������������������������������������������������
��������	��	�
���������	���������
	���
���������	������������	�������������������� !��	�����������
����������������������
	���
�����	����������	�
��	��������������������	�����	����	����������	������	�������	��������*�+��
	�����
���������	�������.
�������������������	��������������	������
������������������	�������	���������/
	���������	�������	������������������������	�''������������	��	��	
���������	���
	��������������
��������������������	������	������������	�����	���	�������	���������������	����������������	�������������������	�����	��*�+���������������	����������������������������������������������������	��������������������������������.
����������������������*�+���	����������	�������������������������	������
�����0����	�����������������������������	������������������������������������������������
�����0����	������
	��	��������������������	����
��	����
	��	�����������������	�������������������,���	���
	��������������	��	���������������������������������	�����������������������	��������������
���������������	����
	��1�2���������������������������	���������	����������	��	��
������������	����������
�����	����)	�� &$'&%����������
������������������	�����.
�������������3�����������������
���������������������	�����������������������	���	��������	��������	��	��������
�����	����4���������������	����	��	��
������	������
�����
�����	�����������	����������	���������
		�	���	�����������������
����������
�������	���	�����������������	�����������������������������������������
������	�����������0����������������������	�����������������������
	���
�����������������������	����������������	����,�������������������
�������������������	���
	���������	��������	�����
�����	��������������������������������.
�����������
����������	�������	��������������������������������������������
���
��������������
�������������������������
	�����������
��	�����������������
�����
���	�����	�����	��	���	���	�����	�����	���	�����
�����	���,���	�������	����������
	��������������	��	�������	�����������������������������������������	���	������������
	������������������������������	��$��
�����%��	���������������	��	�����
��&�5��	����������	�����������������������
	��������������������������������	�����	������������	����������	������������
������
	���������������������
	�����
�
���������	����������	��������������������������������������
	������������������
�	���
����6�
��	��	��������������������
	��������������������
	���������
	����
	���������������	�������������	��������������������	�����������������������������	�������
�����������	���	���������������������	���	������������
�����	������	��������	�����������������������	�����	��������	
���	���	������������	����
������������������������
	������������
�����
�����	�����������������������0���������������	���������	���	��������
���������������
��������
�����	����������������*�+��	����������������������������������
��������������������������������	����������	�������������	�������
	�����������������������	���������
�����	��	��
����	��	��������	��������	������������
��������������
�����	�������	��������
�������������������,������������������	��������������������������������������������
�����������	�����-�	������������������������������	�������������
�������������������	����
�������������������789:;&$�;<=;> � ;



��������������	
����������������	�������������������������������������������	��
���������������
�����������������������
������������������
��������	�����������
�
������
��
�������
���������������
��	�
�����������	������������
�����������������������
��������������
����
����������������
�����������������������	����������	�
�������
���������� �����������
����������������
���������������
��������������������������������������
���������������������
��������
�������
	����
�����
����!��������������
�����
�����
��
����
����������	���������������������������
	���
���
���
������������!���
�����	��������
�
��������
����������������������������������"
��	�����������������#��������������������	����
�����
�����������
�	������������������������������������������������
�����������������
��
��������������������
��������	
����
��
�����	����
�����
�������������
�$�������������������������������������!�����
����
����	����	
��������
�����������%��
����������������
�
��&'()'*����+�����������+�����,��������
�
������
�	��������������
��������	��
�����
��	������������	��
��
�����������-���
�$��������������������������������������-��
����..��
��
��������
�����,�����+����
��������������
������
�������������
�����	����������
������������������
���������������
���/����
����������	
�������
�������������
�����������������
������	������������)��������
���������
��������������������0
�	������������	�������+����
�����
����
���
��1���
���������������������������
����
����
��
�����������		
��
������������	�������������
����	��
�
����,��������
���
�
������
����
��������������������
���������������
��
�����!��������������������������������������
��������������������������������
����	���
�����
��������
������������%��
��������������
������
����
�����
���+����+��������
�����������	����������
����
������
��
�����������
������������+�����
��������
����������������
�����
��
���
�������������
���������
���������������
����
�������������������
��������������	���������������+��������������������������������,���������
�������������
�$���
��������������
��������������������	
��������
�����������
��	
�������
�����������#
����%�������
����	
����������	�
�������������
����������	����������
��&'()'1��������+������������
���������������
�����������
�������������������������������!�����
�����	�������������������������
�������
���������������������������
���������

�������
��
��������
��
�������������
�������������
���	
����
��������������������������������������
�������
��������������+���	
���
�������������
	�������������
�����+����������������������
������
�	
����
������������������������#
�����������������������2���
�����	
���
����������������
�����������
������������������
���������������
���
�����
����������������������������������!���+��
���34567894:;7)��������������#����
�����
������<%=>��+����%���#����
�����
����������	>����
�������������	
������	�����
��������������������������
�����
������������	
������	���>��+����?����>���@A6BCDEFB7GHEI7CJ67KLMN���@A6BCDEFB7GHEI7CJ67OAP9D:N���MEII6FC7M4HQN�7R65DF7SEHIEFT7�U��������������?������
��
��������������������"�,�
��������
��	��,�����
�������������
������	
��������
����
��������+�����V����
�+���������������
������
���
�����������
�������
	������+���������
��
�������������!����������������
��������������������������	
��������+�������������������������
����
��������!������
��
����
�������	
��������
������
������
���+���
����������������������
��������������
������������������������������������
�������

��
��
��������
�������
����!���������
������������WXYZ[�'�[\][&̂� [



�����������	
��	��������������������������������
��	
�������������
�	������	��	�	��������	�
����
	��������	�������������
����
���
����������	
�������������	��������	���	������	����������������������������� �!"#��$���%�����������&�
����%����'���	����
�����	�(&)*�+	�����
	'	��	����	��'���	�������	,����%��������	������������������������'��'	����
	�������	��-�'	���	
	������'���	��%�������������	��	��
	�
	�������	�	
�������������.�����������		������	
���'������
����	�����	������*�/������	
0��123�456!766589��94��8:���;8:����<�=489�15!>?894#���@������	�������������''	�����	���
�	��
	'���	�����������
����	����������� �!"#��&���	����	����	'����
���A
����&�����'����������	������*�&�������	�������
*�B����������	�������'�

�	���+	��������������
�	C����	�%����'�������	�����	
�	��������'�������'����	��������
��
������3DEDFG��DHIFE�J1DK12L�2LGI�LGIFM#�1HNG�1OPQ#OR��S�� ��T� 4�9#�������������
���	�����
�����������	������������@��U	����+���	������������	��
	�	��������	��
	����
�'��
����
��
����+	��
	��
����������	�
��	���	��	������
��	�(VWX,VY��-�%��������	����������'��
��������	��
��
��%���	��
��
�������������	����'����Z[\Z���	
���	����	��		
��
��	'�����'�����	�
	�����������	��
��
�������������	����������
��	'���,�
	����
���������	%���	'���'��������	��		
����	������������	��
��
�����
�������	�������
	�����'��	��������	�	
���	�
���
���	��
��
��������	���	���������
�����	��
��
��������	���
����	���
��'�������������]W[�'�����'	���	���
�	�	
��'����	���������
	���	�������	'��	�����
��'����������	��
��
��%�����������������	������'������������	�������	���
�	��'�����'��
�	��������	�̂������	����	�������
��'����	���$��������'����	�%���	���
	�
	̂��
	�������
�����	��'����������	
������������'���	��������
�%������'����	��
	'�
����	����	%���	���'����%���	��	C%������	��	�����������	����	�'��'����	��������	��
	���	��-�%����̂�'����	
��	�������	��
����	��'���	�%���	���
������������	�
	'���	��
	̂��
�����)$(������
��'����	�����	��
��
������	��	'��%��	�
	'���	�������
��_���������	������
��_���������	�'����	
����''	�����	������	���	���
��'�������
	���
�������	����	
��'���������������
�%��	�
	'���	����������	���������������	
���	�����	������	�����������	�����	����������	��
	���������'����	�
����	����
���
	'���	�������	��
	����������
	̂��
�����
��'�����������	���	�	'�
��'������'����������
��'����	�����	��
��
����-�%���
��%��	�
	'���	��
	̂��
�����	���	������'	
����'��	����
	����
����������
��'����	���������@��
	����������������	���'�����������	
	'	���
�����������
���
��'�������+����
	��������������������	���%�����'���		���������	����	
�
���������'�
	
%���	���
��'������'����	�	���	�	��'�����'��
�	%�����
���������������		���������
����	����
	����
��������	
������������������������������'���	������)$(����	
���	������	�����	
	'	��������
��'������������		%�����������	���
	������������	����
	���	������'��
�	������������������'���������
	��������
�����'�������������
	̂��
	����������%����	�	
%��	����	����	��
'	�����������������̀		
����%�)$(@�����	����		�����'���	���������	�%����	�	
%��	��
	�������������	������
���	�������'�������������
��
����	'���	��	���@������������	�����	���������
��'��������������	����������	�	C��
	'���	�������������	��
	�������
	�	
�������������	����������	��������	�����
����������	�
��	%���	�����'������	���������
��'������������
	�'�������'����	����������	����	���	�'����	���	��	��	�%����	�	
%���	���
��a���	b��'���	���������������	
	���	
��%�cdefg\V�ghigV[� g



�����������	
����������
���������������	��������
����
����������������������������	��	��
�����������������
��
����
��	����������
�
�������������
��

����������������������
�������������������������
����
�
��������
�����	�������
�����	�������	������������������	
���������
���������
��
�������������������	���
��	
���������
������	��	
����������
�����	
����	
��
����
���
�������	���
��
�
���
��������������	
������
��� �����������������
���
����������������	
�������
�����������������������	

�������
���������
�������	
���	��
!
�����	����

���������
���������������
����	����
�������
�����������
����������������
��	��������
����������
����
���������
����	�!
�������������	
����"����������������	
����
����
�����
�	������������������������

������
����
����������
�����#�$���	
������
����������
����	
�������	���
��	�����
�����������	��	�����	
���
�����
�����
���	����	
�����������������
��	
������
��������
������
����
��
����	����������������
��
�������
����
��
�	�!
�����
��
�����
���������	�����
��	
��
������������	
����������������	�����������������
��	
���
�����	��	�����������
�
������������
���	
��
���
����
���������
��
�����������	�!�����	
���������������
��	
�����
�������
������	

��
��
����	��������
�������	
��
!�������������
���%	����
��
�
����
���������	�!�����	
�������������
�
��
�����
�������&'��
������
�����������������������
���	����
�
�	��������
���
��������
������
������	����
!������
���%	���������	���
���������������	����	�����������
����
���
������
���
���������
������
���%
��������	
��
���
��	
�����
������&('���������
����
��������
��������
�����
�	������	
�
���
�����
����
��������	
�����������������&()��#���
�������
�����������
����
��������������������&('������	
���������������
������������
��������������������&')���	���������������
����
������������
������!
����������
�
��������������������������������&')���	
�
���������	�����������
��������������������������������
��������

����������
���
��#���	

����������
���
�������������	�����������	
��������������
���	��	��������������
�
������	��������������
������������������������������	
��������	���
�
��
����������
����
�����
������������	
��������������������
����������������
��������	
���������������������
���	������
������������������!
�������������
��������
�������������������
����
��
��
������
����
����
���������������	������������
��
��#�����
�����������������	
��������������
���
�	�!
��

����
������
!
���
�����������
��
�
��
���������
�	��������
���
�����
����	��������
�	�!
������	��
!
���	

�������
���������
�	���������	����
��������	
��
����
���
�����	
����	
�������	�����	�����
�����������	��	�������	����
��
�
����
������
*�����������������������������	
�������
�����	�����
��
������	
���������
���	
�
������	����
��
�����������	�������	��������
������������������������
���	��������������	
�����������	
��������
����������������
������	
���

+
�����	

��������
�����������
������	
���
���������	����������������
������������������������	
�������
������
������������

�����������
��������������������
!
������������	��������������	
�������
���������	
�����
�����
������������&')���	
��
����	���
���	����
��
�����������
�
*�������	
���
�������
�
���������������������	�������������
���
���
*��
�
�����������������,)-.�������
��
�����������
��
���������	
����������������/�������,)-0������!
�
!
���
����
�����������
������	����	
�����������������������
��������
����������������������������	
����������	
���������	
������	����	
����������������������������������	�����������
����
��	
����
�����
���������������������������������������	�!
����������������
�����
������������������
��%	
���	
���
���������	
���
�����	
��������	�����������������
���	
����������������	
�������������	
���	��
����������	�!
�����
��������	��
����	����������������������	������
����	
�����
��
�������
��
������������������	
������	
����
����������������	
�����
�������������
��
��������	
��������	�!
��������
������	

��	
���
���������	

��	
���
�	�����������#���
�����������������	
��������
��������
������	
����������
��������
�����	
������
���	��	�������	
���
��
�
�

��
������������
���������������
����������������#��������
���������
!��
����
���	
�
����������
���!
�����������������
������	
�����������������
���������������
��	
��	�!
��
!��
���������	�������������������������������
����
��	
��
�
�����������������	
���������������
���������	
��"��������������������������������������������	
����
�������������������	
�������������	�!
�������
���������	����	
��������������
���������
������
���	
��"������
����	
����������������������12345-6�57859)� 5



�����������������	�
�����������������
���
������������
���	��
����������������������	��
�������
		��
	�������������������
���������
��������������
�������������������	��������������������������
��������
���	��
������
���	��
����
�����������������������
���������������������������
����������������
������
�����������������
���	��
����������������������
���������������
���
���
�������������������	
������������������������������	������������	
����
������������
���������
	�������
����������������������
���������������
��
��	�������
��
��
�������������������������������������������� ��������������������������	����
���
		��
����
�
�
�������
����
������������������
���	��
��������������
������������ ����!������������������
���"��
��������
�����������������������
���������#�����������
��������������������������
�
�����������������������
�������
��������������	�������������
�������������������������	�����������������������
�
��#�����	���	�
���
��������������������
��������������
�����������������������
����	������
������������������������
�
�
�����������������
��������������������
�����������
���		���
���
���������������	���������
���
����������
��������������
���	��
�������$��
��
����
��
��������������
�����������������	������
����������
���������������������
�����������
���
����������������������������������������������
�
�
����#�����������
�������
����	
�����������������������������	����
���������������
��� �����
��������	
�������
���������������	�����������������
���	��
����
��������	������������
�������	���	������������������	���������������������
�������	�����
����������������������
���	������	������
���	����������"�
�������
�������������������������������
��� ��������
	�����������������������������	������
���������
���
����������������������"����������������
	�������	�����������%�
��	����&'�(')*�����	��	��������������	���
�����
������
����������+����������������	����	���������������������
�����������	��������������������������������"�������
���������
�����������
�������� �
���
����
���	��
���������
��������������
�����������	������������������	������
��������������������������
		��
���������	
������
��������
����������������
�����
��������	
������
�������"��������������������	�� �����
������������
������	����������������
��
���
�����������
�����������������������
�����
����������
��
����
��������������
�������	����������������
���
��������������������������
���	��
�����
���������	������
��������������
	����
����������
	��
���������
�
��
���������
������������������������������������������
������������!������������������������������������	�������
����������������
�����������������	�������
���������������������� �
������������������
���������,-./012-3450�#�
�����
������������+������������������6�78� 
���8���9:/;<=>?;0@A>B0<C/0DEFG��H-BBI0J/-A;>?50�#�
�����
��
����������������������������8���������
�����
��������
������
��
����
�8��K/-2-0L-2M/?50�N����������������
��������������
��������
�������������������
������������������!����������	����	��������O����������
		����������������������
����H-BBI0J/-A;>?500#�
�����	
������
����
�������
��
���������������������������������������������,-./012-3450�#�
���������P���
��8���Q/A2-?M0R=?S50�T�����	���������
��
���	
�����������
�8��K/-2-0L-2M/?0U�V����������������
���� WXYZ[\]�[̂_[&)� [



���������	
�������������������������������������������������������������� ��������!����"���#��������������������������$�#���"�����%����$������&�$������������'��"��$(�!��������&��)�#��������������������)���"��$������)�����"�������*+,+�---����������"��$�����$���������&�$�*+--�---�)�$$����"(�.�)������������$����&�$������&������'����������$�/��0���"��(���������	
���1�23�"�����"������������%������������)���(�4�#��������$����$��/���4�����������3�������������������#�0����������(�4����������$�/��#��������� ��������!�����$��)�������)���/$��0��������$������������������������%����)����������$���������$����/����$���$�����������������������)������������$�)���������&��0�������$��)������(����������	
�����23�"�������'��5������������4�0��������������$&���������"������$����3��0��&�$"/��"���������������$���)������)�$��"���#/�$���������������������&����������������������)3��0���������0���0���(�4�0���������5��������������/���$��"�����$�������"����$���$���)�����������"��.�)�����4�)������������&�$��#���������#�"/����)3��0������"���#��������$��"���&��0�����0$���������������������"�������$����"���������#�3���$��/�����$(��������� ��������!�����������������/���$���)������������)����6�����$&�$(�7����&����89!��"���#������3������$�)3������$���)�$��"������$���)���������)�$��"������$���$��)������������������������$����������������)�#�����$��0��������&�����(�2������������������"��$������0���0������&������$�&��������$���)����������������)�����(�4����%����0���0����/������$���#����������$�)����#�$�4(8(���#/�$�����)���������������/���$�����0����������������������"��$������$����������)�#�������������)������)��$��(�����������	
�����23�"(��:�;��<��=>�1�?$��0���@��
��A�BC���D"�5���������������������"����"�����������0����$��0������)��$����&�$"�"��$��9�������#����3�����������#�)�(�������� ������1�!����))��������"�����#�3������������������������0�"���������&����3��������&��"��$���0���$����������0������������(�����������"�������$����"�0�������#�3����$���������$���$��)��������$����#����$��/�)����������������������#��))�����/�����$���������$#���������������$���$�&����0����#��/�)������������$��)���������3�����)��$�����&��"��$���0������"�)�����"��E���4���$0�������(F�9������"�����%����$����"����������#��))�����/�������3�����$����"���$�����������$#�������$�����������$�#����(�4�����/������G-�#������)��$�������)������'��)������$�����$�)��$������3�����������$�0����$��0���$#����������������3���������������������������%����)�������������������$��$�0$�#�(���:�;��<��=>�123�"��0���������D�3�(��H
>�� I�JK���1�2��������&������$�����������������$�������������0������$��0�&���"�����)��"��$���������������������#�������$�������������)�������#�����$���&����������������&�$������0��������4�3������������$���������$�����������������)�������$�5��$����$���00����������������&�������������"��$�������$�����$�#�"�/������$��/%�)��&���������"������$�����������0�����������$���(�4���������������#���"�"���0�����$�����������$�����LMNOPQR�PSTPU-� P



����������	�
�������������������������������������������
�������������
���������������
������ 
����������������
��!�"�������#���
��������������
���	���������������������#���������������	��������	�
�!�$��
���������������������	�
����
�	����������
���%��� ����%� ������������������� ����
���
	�%���������������� 
������
��������������������
��!��&'(���)*+,��������������������
�� �����������������
�����������������
��������
������
���
��
����
�� ������������������-$.%���
�� �����
�/����������	�
�
��
���������������������������������������0�1�
�%������#�����������������������������
�����������������	��
������!�$����������
�����������
���������
��%���
�� 
������	�����������������������������������
��!��&'(���)*+,���0�2/
�%������
�#�������
������
�/����������������������������
����3�����
������������������
�����
�����������������0�1��!��4�5��6��7(���2/
��8������9����6)�*�:���0�$����
����
�� ���
���
����	�
�%�
�����
����������������������!�;��%��������������
��� ���������#������	�
���	���!������ ������	��������������	���������������0���%����������%�"#�� ��/��	����
��
����#�����������������������������������������������!�<
�������������
������
�� ���
���#�����/���
������������� �������
��������
/���
����	���������������������	���
�
%�������
�������
��������������%������� 
�������=������������������� ������
���������������������%����
	
��%�	���������������������������������������>����?���
���
������ �� ��������������	���	���������������
�
���
�� �� �����������������
�������
�
��@��������������������
����
����!���%����������A��������������
��%�"� ���������������	����������� ����� ����������/��	�
���� �����������
�������������� ���� �������������
�������	���������
��� ���������������
����
 ���	�
�!���9����6)�*�:���0�������"��������
�����
�� �����#���
���
����
�
%��������
�������������
��� ����	�������������������B������!��4�5��6��7(���2/
�%�C�/����&'(���)*+,���0�2���=��������������������!�$�� �����������
�� �����������	�
����
�������
��������
������
������� �����������	����������� 
�����
	�����
����
/��-D3��
�����!�"����
����	�����������������0���������������������
/������
	��
��������
��������
�������
/��-D3��
�����!��&'(���)*+,�����2/
�%������
������	�������;��
����"����#��/�� ��� ��
��������������������
�������������������
����
�/��	�
����!�E�
�#��
��
F�������	!��������������0���� ��
�������������
	��	�
�����
��������������������������������
��
�������� ��
���GHIJKLM�KNOKPM� K



�����������	��
	���������������������������������	�����������������	��������������
����	���	���	
��������������	�
	���������	��������������� !�"�#�$%������&��'������������������������
��������������������������	��������������(�	������		�)��*�+,+��+,-�"�#�.�����/+0��1,+2��#�3�����
)��4��,+"-�5�"6�#�7	�	����������������	��
������������������������������&��%���)�.	��%�	����(���������(�	8�����*�+,+��+,-�"�#�9����	��
�������	�
�������
�������������������	:��������	�	�����;�&��'����%��
�	(����	������<	������;�&���	�����	�����������
�((�������	�����%��(��������������������������&���������	�
�:������=�	��>�������	�
����4��,+"-�5�"6�#�7	����&���	���	(�����	���������������
����������((����)��*�+,+��+,-�"�#.�������&��<����	(�������/+0��1,+2�?��$%��������	����@�����	���(�	�����A�B)��	�����:��@�����	���(�	�����<�����)�;�%�	����������������������	(��	���������
��<��%�
��<��B����	���������	����	���������
��(	����
��	�������������(�����:�������	������)�;������������	�������(�	������	�	��������	�)�$%����C�������(��	���	��
���%���	��	���(	����
����&���(��
��	������
���DE�F ��"F�G��H� !��IEJ,�2K���L�HH�" F�G��H� !��IEJ,�2K��1�M2��I�,,�"6��N�C�����O��������;���<�����������<	�������(	��(�����
����
��(���;&������	�	����		�
����	���P����<<	����	������������	����
���	����9������	��(	���������������������:������������������	��	(���������(�	��	���	(���������
�������������������
��	������<�������
��P�����	������
:���������	���	���
�����
��<<�	:�������9��%��	����/+0��1,+2��#�$%������%��	���O�����
�
��	�������	���
����	���������
)��I+E,�Q��H�M���#�O�������������;&�������������	(����P����R7�:����7SP��;&:���	��%��
�	(���@�����	����
����	�������;(��	�����%��	��������:���	�%�<�	
��������
��	���	(�����<	������������(������%�������	�	����	�����<�	����������<�����P���������	������	��	(��((	����	��:����������������<����
���
������	����	�������	����
��	�
	�����;��:����(����������������������	�����������
	������<����������������<�������	�����<������	��
�'�	<��
�8������<�	������;��	��
��������������(	������<����	���������%���������	�<������;����%��������������	����(�	�����������������<�	�������:����������	�����������������������;����	����%���������	(��	�����������	��
�������������	���%�������������%���(�����������%����(	���	�	����	���	���;��	��
���%���	������	���	(������((	�����
���		���
������(������������������(�����������;��	��
�TUVWX=Y�XZ[X\]� X



������������������	
��������������������������������������	��������������������������������
������	�������������������
����������������������������������������� �������������� �������
�������������������������������������������������	���� ��	��������� �� ����������������������!�������������������	����	
����������
����������������������	����
���������	�����������������������!��������������������������������!���"�������
����#$%&'()$*+',�-������������
�.�
���/��������������0�����������������	����	������
	��������������1�����������������������!������������2�3������������!��������435�������������2�6����2��7899&:;<'=>89';?&'@A7B��(>C$:'D8?:<8:',������E
����������	��!���������	���	������� �����������������������������������������!����������!��������	����� �������������������!���������������	���	����	������� ��������	�����������������#$%&'()$*+F'�-����"�������G$99H'I&$><8:F'�J�
���������������������������������������������������������!
�������������� ��	����������������	�����������
�����	���	�����������������������������������!���������������������������
���������!���K�������
��������	��������!������	�������������L��������������	���	������������������"��������������������104��5����������!���K����
���������������������	�����������������������������"���������� �������"������������	�!�������
����������������!�� �������3������	���������������� ������ ��	����	���	������M��N���������������������
����������
�����	���	���,�
��� �� ��������
������� ����������������
����������������	���	����������
�����������������O&$)$'P$)Q&:F'�0������ �������������������	�!�����������#$%&'()$*+',�-�����R���2��SC+&'P8>;?&:F'����
�����������������!��	������������R���T����������������
�����
���	�������
����������������!�����
���������
����������������������U��
������"���������������!���!
��������	�������
���������
���������������������������������!��� �� ������	����
�������������
���������������������������������������������
� ��	�������������!���
 ������� � ���!����������������������!������
������������
���������������E������������������������
���������
����	�������������������������������������������������������������
����
  �������������������
�������
����������#$%&'()$*+',�-�����������������,�����/����������
�������������������������
�����������������������2��V&:&'(8$>Q9$:',�3��
��W� �������������������������
�
�������������
�	�������������������������!�����������-��������������������!!������ �������3���������������������������0����������������������������	��������������������
������
	�������������
����������!�������������
�����
������ �������	�����1����
�������������������
�����
����� ����	��
��!���������������������2��O&$)$'P$)Q&:',�W��������������������U�����
����������
���������������������
 ���
���������� ��������!�������������!���������������!�������� ����������������������������������XN��3���������������������������������XN�������������������������!���������������
�����
������	�����������
	��������������� YZ[\]XX�]̂_]̀�� ]



����������	�
����
����
����
������
�
��������

�������
�
����
���
��
�����
���
�
� ��
�
���! 
��"�
��##���
���
��
"���
����
����
���
��������
���
���! 
"�
��#� ��#
���
$��$��!
� 
���
�����
���! 
"�
  ������#�
��
��
 ����� �

��
��
!���
����
  �����!
��� ��#
���
����
$��#���
�%�
��� ����#
��
��"�
���
��
����
$$��$����
��
"�
��
&����
!�#�
� 
��"�
��
���! 
�'�
������
������
��
��&����� 
���
"�
$��
�
�
&����
!�#
����
� 
����

������
���
���
$�����������
(��
���
#���
���
����
���)
����
��%��
�� �
��
��������

�������


*+,�-./�0//.12��2-��13�4

�5.�2�6172/12	�
�
���

������
���
��
&&�$�
���
 �'�����%�
$��$��!
��
���
$�� ���
&�����!
$��#���
�����������	�
8�
��
�'�

��&�� )
����
��
�'�

��&�� 
����
9��#�
(��
�������
 ��&������)
(!!
�����
��
�'��)
���
���
$����
���������
8�
��
�'�

��&�� 
������)

:.���;1537�2�<
=��&�
����
�� � 
��
���
��&
�
��'�
���
��
!��
���
�
&����
����
���
���
8>?
��
!���
�
��� ��#
��
  �����
��
���
��'�
��� �� 
������ 
����
���
!�#��!����
�
�@�$!��
� 
�
��&����
��
$�����
����
��
����
��
��
���$
���
$��#��
#���#
��
�����
����
 �
���
��� 
��
 �&����
���
ABC�

����������	�
>�
&�%�
�����
���
&����
!�#
�����
"��
��
&�
��&����� 
���
���
"�� 
&���� ��
���
�
�
&����
!�#
�����
�
�����
���
��
���
��
���
������
����! 
�� �
8�
��
�'�

��&�� 
��
���)
����
��
�'�

��&�� �
(!!
�����
��
�'��)
(��
�$$��� )
9���)
D����
��
�'���
���
�$$��� �
D���
����
D��
������
&������
E�@�
&����
����
��
���"��
F�
G����!
G������
"�#����
����$
��#�����
$!��
D���
��
8'� 
=�� !���
H���
���$
��
��� �
��
 �
$$��&���
�'���"� �
"���#
����
����#���
>�
$$��&���
���
&������
&� �
���
�'�
"���
����� 
���
D�
"�
&���������
�
��
#�
����� 
����
�����
��
���
��
����
��$��������#
�
��#��I� 
#���$�
��
��!!
!!��
���
��'�
�������
��
���
����
&��������
��
���
��
����
��$��������#
����
�
���
$�"!�&
��
!��

���"��
��
���
��#��I� 
#���$
���
��
&���
����� �
��
���! 
!���
��
!����
���
��
�����
��������
J!���
���$
���
��
��� 
�
��
#�
����� �
>�
��!!
����
���
����
�'��
��
8'� �


:KLM*+N�:OPLQ+KL��KRSO*L�TSMMU�:+L+RM:MLQ�UN+L

���.-�TV�-��W	��D���
���
G��
X������
�%�
8'� 
=�� !���
�%�
#���#
��
$������
���
G����!
G������
8�����
��#����
=���$
J!�
����#���
D�
#�'�
���

!���!�
"&�#���� 
��
���
��%'�
#�����
��
�����
��%��
�
����
���
$!��
��
��
�����
$$��&�� 
���
��'��
X�����
X������������
� 
 ��&���� 
����� �&��#
����$�
�'��!!�
��
� 
��$$����
D����
����
����
&��&����
���
��
�!�� 
"���
� 
���� 
��
  �����
"��
�'��!!�
��
��!�
!���
��
� 
��$$���
����
���
&������������
��
$��&�� 
����
�����
>�%'�
&��� ���� 
����
���
�YG
�����#�
����
$��&���
� 
��%'�
� 
��$$���
����
���
�YG�
>�
����

 ���
��
���
$!�
� 
��
���
����
���
$����������
>�
#��
��$��
� 
&��&����
� 
��
���� 
��
#����
���
����������
� 
  ����
��
� 
�$ ��
���
$!�
��
  ����
�����
������
� 
&��&����
���
����
"���#��
�$�
>�
����
���
$!�
��&�
#��
��
���
&�������������
G���
��
���
G����!
G�������
�!!
������
��'��
X�����
� 

'���
!���!�
"��
��
���
�� 
�!!�
������
G�!!� 
&������
>�
����
��
�����
&�����
&������������
� 
 ��&���� 
� 
"���
����� 
��������
� 
��$$����
=��&�
���
�����
�
������
���
��'��
X�����
X���������
��
&��#� 

!���!�
"��
��
�����
!�'�!
��
��$$���
� 
��$���!!�
��
��!!
���
����
����

!���!�
"��
!���
����#��
����
����
��
�����
����#���
�
��
&������!��
Z�!!����#
����
��
���
#��
����
���
!�&!
������! ���
��
 ��&���
���
$!�
#��
���
��
� 
�$ �� 
� 
&��#� 
� 
�����
��! !���
[\]̂_̀a
_bc_dC
 _



�����������	��
��������������������������������������������������������	�������������	��������������������������������	�����������������������������������������
���������������	���������������������������������	���������	���������������	���������������������������������������	�����������
����������������������������������	�������������������������	����������	���������
�����������������������������������������
������	�������������������������������������������������������������	��
�������������������������������������	������	�����
���� �������	������������	�����������������������	���������������������������	�����������������������
�!����	��	����������������������������������������������������������������	������������������������������������������������������������������������"���������������������������������������������������	����������������	�����������������������	������	������������������������������
�!��������������	�����������������������������������������	��������������������
�����������������������������������	���������������������������������������������������������������	����������������������������������	�������������������������������
�#������	����������������������������������������	����������������
�����������������������������������������������������������������������	����������	��������������
���������������������������������������
��������������������������������������	����
���������������������������������������������������������������������������$	��������
�%�������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������������	����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	����������������������
��������������������
��&�	���������������������������������������������������������	�����������
�!����	�����	������������������������������������������	����������	�����'()���������������������
������������������	���������������	����������������������������������������������������	�����*+��������������
�����������������������������,������������	������	��������������������������������������
���������������������������
�#�����������-.!�����������������������������������������������������
� ��������������������������	������������������������������������������������������������������������
�#�������������	��������	�����������������������	������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���������������
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������������������������������������������
���������������������	����������������������������
�/	���������������������������������������������������������������������������������	������������������������	����������������������������������������������������������������������������
�/�������	����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���������������������������	���������	��������������
�/�������������������������������������	��������������������������������������������������������������������
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	���������	�����������������������������������������������������������������
�#��������������������������������
�#�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�/	������������������������������0�������������������������	���������������������������������������	����������������������	����������������	���������	�����������������"���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	����������	������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�/	���������������������������������������	������������������������������	��������
����������������������������������������1���������������	�������������	���	������-�������.����������������������������������������������������������������������������	���������������	""�������������������������������������	��������������������������������������2��������������	���������������������	���������������������������������������	����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�/	���������������������������������
�!���������������������	������������	����������������	��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	����������3������������������	��������������������
�/	������������������������������	����������������������������������������������������������������	����������������������������������	���4��	��������������������56789:*�9;<9=+� 9



���������	����	��	��
����	�
��
���	���������������
���������	
����������
��
�	���	����	
������	���������
����������������������	���������������
����������������������
������	�
���	���������	���������	������
���������	
����
����	�����������	����
�����	����
�����������

����	�������������	
�������
��������	�������������	���
������������������	�����	
��
����������	���	��	����
��	���
������
�����������������	���	��	��������		����	
���	�	��	�����	�������	��	�������	����������
����
����������	�����������������������
��
���
��
���	��
��	���������	��	������	
�������������	����
�����	����
�������������������������		�����������������	���	
�	�������������	��	���
������������������
�	��
�������������	
�����������������	�����	���������	���������
��	�����
�����
	��	�������������������������	����������� !"����	�����������
��	����
��������������������	������	�������#�������
��	����������������
�����$%&'()*%+,-(��������
���.���	�
�����
��	���/012���34'567895(:;8<(6='(>?@A��B%<<C(D'%;589-(�E��F������$%&'(G<'H*'C-(�E����������B%<<C(D'%;589-(�#��#��
������	
�	���������������
������	��I�
���
�����
��
�	���	�����
���
�����	����
�����������

����	�������������	
�������
��������	������������	���
�����J����	��
���	��	������������
������
��	���������
�	�������������2��$%&'(G<'H*'C-(��
��
��	�
������	������������	���������	���KLM��
������������������0���
��	����
���������		����	��	�����	���������	������	��	�����	�������	������������
���
��������	������
�	�������
��������������B%<<C(D'%;589-(��
�	�����
�	�������
���������
����������	����
�����2��$%&'(G<'H*'C(N��
�	�����
�	������
����������	�
��	��	��������	��	���
����������
��������	��	���
������K�������	�������������	����	�	��	�	��������
	���	������
���������	��������B%<<C(D'%;589(N��
�#����������	����O���	�
����������
�����	��������
�����	����
�������	�������
�������
����	��������������
�������	��������	����
���	��
��������$%&'(G<'H*'C-(�/���	���B%<<C(D'%;589-((P
��������		�����	���KLM��	���2�������
���
����	
��
�	����
�������������	�������	����
��	���
������
�����
����
������	������������������
���2��$%&'(G<'H*'C-((/���	��P�����	��	������	��������	�
�����	����	���������������	���	��	����
��	���
������
������	
���	�	�
�����
�������
������#������������	�	��
��������	���������������
����	��	������������#���
�
��Q������	�����	
���	���
�������	���
����������
���������	���	
�����������	��	�	�������������	���	
�	�
�����$%&'()*%+,(N�������	������
���0���	�����
	����O���	�
��2�M���2�� RSTUV�W�VXYVZ � V



���������	�
���������������������������������������������������������������������� ����������������!���������"#��$%&��'(�)*�+������������,�������������������-�.�/���������� �0�/����!��������������!���� ��������� �-�����������	�
���1�����������,�����������2���� ������������!���������������������������������������3������"0�������������������"��"����,�����,�� ������������#��$%&��'(�)*�+���4����������,��������!���-�1�������������567�8����������������������� ����������0�,��������������"�����8�����!�8������������������"�����0��������������8� �������8������!�����������������0�,�8����������������������!��������������"����������8��8�������������0�,������-�1������� ��������� �!�� �����"����0�567�8�������������������������������������8������������������������������������������"-�����������	�
���9�������!��������8�������!��������!� ������"0���������������������� ��������������������������#��$%&��'(�)*�+���4�����������������0�����-�����������	�
���:����������������#�:���������� ������!����������� �2������,�� �#��$%&��'(�)*�+���;�"��-�����3��������������"���� �����!�������0�,��������/��������������������������������"��!������-�4����������������"��"����"�����������������������8����������0�,������ ��"��!��������������������-�4�����������������������������"������������������������������� ���������������������������"����������,��8���������������������������������������������������-�����������	�
���:/��0�����������������<���������0����� ������������������ ���,���� ������������������� ����8������������8���-�1��������������������#��$%&��'(�)*�+���4���8��������� ����8������������ ���������,�,���������5���������=�8�-�4�������3����������������,��������0��������������/��������� ��0���������,���������/����!�"���8���������,�8/���8/�����������������>��!������"����0�=�����0��������?@A-����/����!�,�B�������������-�4��0���3���"��������������/������� �����>�������8����������������-���������� ����8�����������-�4������ ,���������,���"����"�� ������������2����,���������8������������,���������������������-�4���3�������"����8���������8�����0�������������������� ��������,��"������8�����������8�����������������B�����������-�����������	�
�?�=�����3�������/����!���"������/���"����������8��������������� ����8����������,�"��������������������"�������������8��������"�����������,�"���������#��$%&��'(�)*�+���4������������������/-�1������������/�������������������8�� �� �C����������/-�����3��/����!�������������� ��0���3����/���������������������"�������������5������6��/-�1������������������:�/�D���/���E�@����� �����!�������������8��������,��!����������F� ����-�9������!������������0��������8�0�����3���������!������������ �����"������,����0������������������������-�1��/����������������������/0����������� �� �C���������������,�������8�-�9������������ ���������0�����3���������������������GHIJKEL�KMNKL�� K



��������������	����
	��	�����
�	��	��������������������������	����	����
��� �!
"����	����!�������������
#���	
�	���!��	������
�����
#����	
�	��������	�$�	�� �!
"���%����
#��&��'()��*+�,-�.���/�0�	��1	����������	�� �!�	����
"�%��	���	���	�	
��
	���	���������	��	������
�����	
��
�	��	�!�	��	����
���	����	
��
	�%��0�	��	��
	��	������������%����	
�	��������1��	�� ������	
�%����
#��$�!��������
#��	���$�%"	�!�2���������	�� ��
�	��"��	
�����0���
����	���������	�
�$�%"	� ���$����	�� ����������
	��	�������$�!������0
�
"	�������
#��	�
��������������������3�� ���'()��4-(5������ �
	���6"��	�
��&�7��� &��8(++.�9�(�:��;��<
�1�� 
"���#���	� ��������$�!��	���� 
"�	��������	�
�!��	���� 
"�%"�����
���	��	����	�� ����0�		��0��
!����	
�	�������������
���	���������12#��������
���
�� 
"����0"�0�$� 
"2��������0�	�����
%% ��������1��	��	�="�	���>
	����?	��������&�@���"����
!�������	2���
	����
%% ��7��	2��� �6"��	�
��%���"����	�!����	�	��������������
���
��
"����	��0��	��	$�	��	2�����������������'()��*+�,-�.���<
�	���6"��	�
�� 
"���������!��	�!���
"�	��������
��	��	&��8(++.�9�(�:��;��A���$�!��	���� 
"�%"�����
���
�!��	�!
"��� 
"�	��������%�����	�� 2���
!�����0��0��
"������B���#�����
�C���
��D��	&��'()�,�*+�,-�.���<
��	�������
"�%��	���	���	�	
����	�����

�����!�����$����!�������	��	�	���2�����������	�
����������7����

��	���0�!�	��BE<��
��������!���������	�$�!��������#����0�
�����������!��������0�	���������
����%"��������	����!������0�	�������	����	�
����������
#��
"	�����%���%���	
����	�����		���%�	�6"�������8(++.�9�(�:�����<
�!�����#� ��������	��	� 
"�%��0�����	�	���	����!����%����BE<��
������������&���F(5��8(.-��;��<
�� ���������G����7� �
$�12����H�#���
��
��I��������%�0�
��������%�
�
0��	���1�!
��!�	��	���
���%�
�
0��	��	��	�!����!�2���������0�	��������	"��$�!����!�2��0�		��0�	������������
�$��
!���� �
��	����!�2��0
��0�	
��
���$�����	��	������
��	���0���<
$�%"�0�	�!���$��
$�!�2���
	�0
��0�	
�%���%���	
��
�����#� ����0���������$�%"	�
"�0
�����$�!�	��	������������������� $�!����!�2�����	
�"���0������	�	��0���!��
�"��	�
��$�!��!��	�	
��
��������0��������	�0��
��	���$��
�!��!��	�	
�%����

	��0������JK�LK������	�
��	����������
"�0
������8(++.�9�(�:��;��M��I��	2�������	���	���%�	���	��
�� 
"�����&���F(5��8(.-��;��7�� ����0��N�	�� ��
�2	���#��	!������O� �����
�	����	
���#��	!������	�	����
�	$�
�����8(++.�9�(�:��;��I��	������
���	�
&���F(5��8(.-��;��A���$��
��	�
������#� ���0�������	� ���
���	����	�	����<
����������!����!�2���	"00���0$�!�2��	�����0������PK����%�����QKK��!�����I��0�����
!��	��	��
!$�%"	��
	��
��	�����	���RSTUVPW�VXYVZK� V



�������������	�

��������
������������	������������������ ���!���"��	�����������������������#
�����$�%
�#�����������&'���#�()��*�+�����,��-��.���/��	���0��������������!���"��	����	���1��&������	����������������2�3��4,�+5���6�0�7#��������(�	�������	�08�9���8��:� ��4���;�� -��<��&��0�#���=����(����������������(#&����/�>�����'������	�����#
(���'�����7#��������=�	����	������������������
����������������?�����
�?�#������8��2�3@;�A��;,��-��<���0�#�(������(����=���������������&�
���&��(��	�"B�������=�����������#���#�(������#������������/���(���������'����������=������"������������������(��/������������	�#
(����������������������?�����
�����*C�D@ �AE�  � -��F�
(
�=����&�������������>���G��/�������	�����������	��������0�H�
������(�<��

�����(����0�
��'�(��������(������#������=������������������I���/���(����0�=�#�(����������=��������������������&������������������
0��������B��0���J�����B���(����������(���#���������������I���/���(�������0�&��&
#(����������0�	����������������&�

0�����#���#��I������2�3��4,�+5-���K��6�0�������7#�������8�F�"

��#�������B�����������#�
�&�=���7#����������>�(�(���B����7#�������=����L����M��	����(�������(/�N�F�������������=����0�
��B����������#�(��08O���PC��D@� ��Q����DE���CR,@+S��2�3@;�A��;,��-��<�/�0�#�'��	/�	�"

�
��'��������������#�����0�#���������/��#��	�"������������&�����#������������=�����������&�����	�"

�
��'�����=����0����(�����������B�(/�	�"

���������(�����B���������T�/��=����0"����������������=�&��&���/�0�#�'��	�	�"

�J#���
��'������������&�����0�&�������������2�3��4,�+5-��K�����'�0�#���<��	�"

��#���������B�����������#�
�&���	���>=������"����0�7#�������/��
�����&�������������&���?�'���#���0�#�������0�#���������(��
�����'������������������=����������������7#����������
0���U@5��V�W���-��?0���������?�'��X�	������(�>�J#���	�������'��	����#���

�������������0��#����������(��=��������6I?"���

�&���(�=���&�	�/�(���/�	���������0�#��������������=��������������8��2�3��4,�+5-��Y���0�#�������(��������8��2�3@;�A��;,��-��<�/�	��(��"����B��6I?"��&�
&#
���(�=���	�
(
�=��	����������/��#�����������������/������������������0��&�

0����������=��(����������	��������0"������������������B�������&�����������	����&���
����(�����(����������B��
�������
���������
���������U@5��V�W���-��F�0�(��"��0�#�J#�����'���������&'��������Z�=�0�?�
��?�#��������(��#���������&'��#�������8���2�3@;�A��;,��-��>�(��"��'��	�	���������Z�=�0�?�
��?�#�����������F����"������Z�=�0�?�
��?�#��������8�[\]̂_̀a�_bc_�� _



����������	
������������������������������������������������������� ��������������!��� ������������������������������"#$�%�&'�%(�)���*���+�,������-����..����/�/�0�����!��������0������ ���-�������#	��1�234�5�6��-�,/�����/�������7����8��������90�:00�/��/��������+�;�!������.�����<��0�/�0���������/��0��0�����/��������0���������=�0��������������0���������0������.�0�������+�>�0��/���/��������0��0�0?���"#$�%�&'�%(�)�5�����+�0�������/�������!��00�0��������0�����0����0���@���.�.��0������0��������������������0����0�/��.����0�����.�����������/0����/����.�����0��.�����/����� ��������0���������!�����/���/�/����/��/�������!�!��.�/���������@�������/0�0����/�����������.+�����/����0��������������/�������/��������������0/!�/�/��������#	��1�234�5�@�������/��+�0��������0�������0����0��/������������������:76�0?��"#$�%�&'�%(�)���;������-������������������/�!������������:76�0+������������/������0������������#	��1�234�5�A-����@������+�������.�.0�������+�������0�BC�.�����������������!�������0�.�/�������������������,�����������!/�!������/������������0���.�����0?��"#$�%�&'�%(�)���@�������0�BC�.�������������+����������BC�.�������/0��/��/�������������/������0�/��0��/��/������0���.����/��������������0���.�����!/�!���0���+�/��0������0�������.���������;��0��/-��D�.��������E�����0��.�.�������������0���.�/�����/�����-����0+����-����������/F�������������/���������������+����������0�>�0��!/�!�������������0������0����/0-���������������������������0����������-��0������0��0���.��������!/�!���������������/�!�������������#	��1�234�5�A-��+������0��<��0�/����,����/�����0������0��.���/�0+�����������0��0���.�.���/�0���������������������������.���/�0���,�����������!/�!����������0���.������������/0�+�����0��������0�����!��0����������������/���������.���/�0�/���0���.�.���/�0?� ���-������"#$�%�&'�%(�)���,���+�0���/�0������������������G�/�������������������0����/0�/0��������������������������0������������0�/��0���.���������0��/��/���������/��������������/������+�������/-����0���/����������+�����������#	��1�234�5�@�/����0.�0��������+������/0�!/�!����������=/�/0/��0�.�/�����/�!�������?�E����0����/0+��!�/��;�����/F�������/�������������.�0�+����0�������0������!���������������+���������������������.����/�����!����-�����/������������������0���������.���/����0���.������������������������������������/��������-���0��������+�����������-����������������0������������H�0�������/�!����������.�/���/0�!/�!������������������������/F���������������-���������!���������������������������������/������0���/!���0�����/������7�/����@����0+�0�>�0���������-�������������=/�/0/��0�!/�!�����?��IJ
K�2�&4#22�2���;���/�-������0������������/��<��0�/����A�����/�!�/0+���������������������!�������!���������0��������������������.�������EL6+�����/�����������0.������+�/��0����0����/�!���������0�..���MNOPQBR�QSTQUV� Q



��������������	
�������������������������	������������������������������	���������������������������������	�
��������������������������������������������������
���������		�������������
����������� �������
�
������������!�����"�������������������������	������	�����
������
����#�		���#�������
�
�������$�����	��
����������������������
����������������������#�����#���������������������������������%���������������������	���	����������������&�������������
������������������������	
	������������������������������
��������������#��������������������������������	���������������������
�������"�����	�������������������������
����������	�������������
�#��������������'������
������������
�����������������������	
�������		��������������������������	�������������(���%��������������������������
���������
�������)*+,-./*01-2�3�������4�������5���6,7,-8*9:/,;<--&�������#����������������
�������
����������������
��
�
���������������������������������
�������������������������
�����5��&�����������
�������#�����5���)*+=:->?,:/,;<-�&��
�������
�������������	����������������#�������������		���������������������������
�
�������
������
�	����
���6,7,-8*9:/,;-2�&����
�
��������������������
�
������������������������5��)*+=:->?,:/,;<-�!������%�
��������	��������������
���������%�����������
�������
�������%�
�����������������
�������
��������������
��������������
�
������%�
�����������	���������
���������%����������	��
��������������������������������
������������
��������������6,7,-8*9:/,;-2�@������������������#������������������A�
�������������
��BC�������������������������������������������������������
������D����)*+=:->?,:/,;-2�E��������
�������
�������������	����������������������������������
�	���������	����������
��������������������
����������������������������������������������������������������������6,7,-8*9:/,;-2�$������������#���������������������������		�#������	������
��
������5���)*+=:->?,:/,;<-�%��������		���������������������������	���������
��������������
������������6,7,-8*9:/,;<--�C���%�
�	���������������������������������#�	������������	����������������
��
��������%�
������#�#�������������#������������������������������������������)*+=:->?,:/,;-2�%����������#����4�����������@�##����%�������������������������������		��������������������&����
�
�����������5��F*??;-6,*9GHI<-�������3����������		���
�%���
�����������
������������������������@��������	�������������������##��������������������
�����
��������������������������������������������������
�%��	
���#������������������������������������������������	������������#�����
������#����A�
��#�����
��������������5��E���#�����������J"���&����
����������	�#�������������&����
�������	������������&��
�
�����������
����������������������������
�%���
����
��������������KLMNOP �OQRO� � O



�����������	�
���	����������������������������������������������������������������������� �!���"�
�#���$�%%&�'��()*+���,��
�#��-����.��������/�����01�2%�1��&���3������	�.��.����#�	�����������������������������.����#����� �#��
�#�������	�	���"����������!������4����4����$�%%&�'��()*+���3�����25���+�6�(1��&���7������3��	8�
�.����3��	8�
���.�������
���9#������"��	����-�������.����:����.������������-���!�����������8����������8����	���8�����������������.�����"�����#��.���������������	#4�������	��8���.���������#��������;�8�������������#���<#������8��8�"����������<#������"����	������������-���������#���	�����#-� �.�������������������=>:;�	�4#����������	������������;�
��������������������������4���-����������������������������� ����
�.�#8	�����������"����=>:;����������?@�-��#�	���������������,��
�#��������A#������ �7�����/��25���+�6�(1��&�B�3��� �C�	�������
��� ��#��C�.�������-���������4"-��#�	 ���������.����C�	����"�����A#������ ����.�88�����������8�-�����4
����������������������;�	���������������!���"�
�#���25���+�6�(1��&�B��D�
������������������=>:;���#	
�	������������
������?@ �����
�����,DE �#��
������?@�.����������������.8
������	#4�	����4����������������/���F�(50+��G)H%�+���C�4���������"����������?@ �#��=>:;��������	���8�8�.���������8���������	���8��-��4����.�������
������"��-���	�4����� �.������4�88�	�����<�����	���8��4������!��
�	��������8
���������������I�	�������4#������8�. ������������������#������
��������-��.�8	8��������?@���	�������������4��8��	���!��
�����������������
����������8��
��D�����������������#�	����"��-��4�����������	��8�.������������-���������.�8	8��� �������������=>:;���������8�����4�#���������	���8�-������������������������-�����!��
���
���.��"��-�.����#����	������	��-����#� �#�����
�	����������������-��������8������������������	 �������������������#���������������-�	��J48#����8
�
������?@ ������
�	�4��������	����-��	��-�;I@��������-��K��-������� ����-���-������������4���8
�.����=>:;��4�#�������������?@�����������"��-���������8�	�4����������������4���������25���+�6�(1��&���L"�
��������88�.�#����������A#�������.�#8	���.������������MNO������������8�;I@����������������������������������������#����	�	 ���.�	���������-��4
����8�<#������	�����#����-�PQR����	�������������������������������	���4��4�����������.��������8������4"������/��F�(50+��G)H%�+���C�4�#8	�������.�����.������?@����8��<#������	����������25���+�6�(1��&���C���������"��-���.������?@����8��<#������	 �C�����"��-���.�����,DE����8��<#������	�.�������������MNO��������;I@�������������������������������#����	�	 ����������������-�#��	�
�8������4"�-��K�����4�#����������	������������� �����.�������	�����-������������8�8� ���.�	��������,DE�STUVWMP�WXYWZ[� W



�������������	��
��
���	��
��������
�������
����������������������������������� �!����������"����������#��$��������%��&������'����(��)�*��"������
�����#�#���������#������������+,�	��������������#��%� ��������������������
��
�������-.��
	������!��	�
/����$������������#������#��%�0����!�����������-������
����.���������/����#�������
�
�����������
	��#�%�0�����
/�����$�
���"����"�����
�����#����1�
���
��������������!���������%�2�����
�����#���$������#��������
.����-���$�����"���
�
���-�����#���
��-�!����.�����������
��-���������/���
�.�����������!���	
/����%���'�343��5��6738�)�0�����������
��.��
���������"�������������!����%�9��-���-�
���	��
$����.�"������-�	��	��
$�����.��
	������!�������
/���
�����������#�������
�%�9��-/������
�������:���������	�!
��
	�!��
����-�	������	�!
.�������!����"����#������
%��&������'����(����9������-�"���������%����;3�<(���3����=
������������������
��������!��!�������$�
�����!��
� ������������
�������>?@�!����
�����
��������$�
��"�����:����
�����A����B�$�%� �� ������"��������.���������������:��������#�!���������������-�
����������-��##���	�����.��:�
���������
�������������#����
����:��������#��:����������
����	���##����	�����.�"������
��������������#��:����������
��
	����	�C0���##���������"������!��	�
/����:���
�����?DE/�����������������
	�-��/�����-�
�����#����������$��
����������������
�	�������#������
�!�������������%F�G����
��"�$��
.�������!��������
��������������
�.�!��
�-�������#��

�
������!��	��������
�#��
��.�������
�����������H������
���������������������	�������:��
��
���
	���$������������#�
��
%� ��	���
/�����
������-�����:����������!���.�"������	������$�����������#�
��
%� 
���������.��������2BE��
�"���	�!��������.�	�����-���-����������������
��������	��#������.���!��������-�!�����������'3���I3778��� �
��	�����������-�����������
�����%�9����!����
��������
�����#���.���������������:��%�9����!���
��������������#��:����%�9����!����
���#��-���!��$�
���
������!
%� �	�
/��!�
�������������	���-����
	�-�����.�"�����������-���$
�!.������!���
����������%��J�43��7�K;��� �!�����������
�����#��
�����.�!��	����:��������������������2BE.��
	�!��
��������##��#������!��!����"��
�����������������!��	����-��/���"���"�����������������#������
%�0��!�����������������
���������
��#�����
%�=$�-�!�/�����:���
������������
��#�����
.�����
.����!������������������.����-�����#����
��������#.�!��!���������������������L���
�����#�������#%� ��-��������
��
	�:�	��������#���������������	-�#����
��	.�+���
������
	�+���
����������
	�:�	����%�=����������
�����E��$�0�
���
	����!����"�������!�	�"-�M�:�
�0��$��%��N(��3����O�(����3�P�Q7�KR�����;�<��K����9��
$�-����������>?@����"���%� /��E��$�0�
��!��������D����@�������
/��?��������
%�0�������##���	���������
���	����
����������#������
����
��������������-���:��
���"��
��
%� �$
�!���������!�����������	���������-���:��"��
���������������������.���!�:��.�����������
���"��
�����
�����
��#��
���������1�
��#��
����������	����
��	������%�9��������.����������
��
���	����
%�2�����
����:������	���������:������	�����������#����	���
�����S�-�����A���������!��������
�����D�
����%�0�������������������
��-�
��"�
	�����	���������	�����#��
����������.���������-�"���
�����������%�9�������:��"��
��
���
����
�����#����!�����������?DE/����:��"��
����	�	���������#�?DE/��TUVWX+Y�XZ[X\,� X



������������	�
�������������	�����������������	��������������������	��������	��������������������	�����������������	��������	�������		��������������	
�����������������������	��������������������	��������������������������������������������	���������������������������	���������������������������������	������	��	��������������������	������	��������������������������������������������
�������������	�������������������	�	�� 	������������������������������	�����	��������	
����	���	������������������� �������	����	���!	������	���	� ���	��������������	�	�����������������������������	�������������������������������������������������"	���������������������������	
�#����������	�������	������	���������	�������������������	���		�	����������������������������$������
����	��	� ����������������	
��������������%��	����	&� ���������	���"���������������	"�����	� ������������ ����������������	�	�����������������	��	��������������	�����������������������'����"�� ������������������������	������"������� �������	���"����������	�����������������������	�� ��������������� ��������	��������������������������� �����������	����"��������	�����������������������������	��������"
������������	� ������	������	����	����'��������������	��������������������		��
��������������	�����
������������	���������	�� �����������	������������������� ��������������������������	����������	�������	�����$�	��	������������	��������
����	�	���������������������������������
�����	���"� ��������������������#!	� �������������������	��������	�
�����"����
��()*+,-.)/01,�����"�����#��"
�2�������������������������������	�����������������������������	�����	�������������������������'������ ��� �� ����"��	��������������������	��������������	���������
�3����� �������� ������������������
��4+*56,785/0+9,:�3���������"����;!��������������������<��������	�������������	�
�;!�����������������������	��������������������		���
�=�������	���"���������������������		�����	����������	�������������������������������� �������	�����������	
�����������������������2��������	�������������������� ���������������		�	����������	��������	������������������������������������������	�����������������������	�������������	�������	����������#!	���������!	����������������	
���� �����������������	��������	� ������������������������������� ��"�����	������	�������	�������������������������������������	
���� �����	���"������������������������������	���������������������	��"���������������������� �	����������������������������;�����"�����������	�������������������������	����������	
�2������������������������	�	��������	���������	�������� ���������������������	������ ���������	����������2���������	�����������	��������	�����������	
�;�����������������������������	����� ���	������ �� �����"�������"��	������������	�������	�	������		������	�����"���������������������������������������������
�������������������	� ��������������� ���������������	
����"�� ����������������	�� ���������������	��������"������������������������������������	����
�;�����	����	�����	�� �� �����"�����	�������2������������������������������������������������ �������������������������	
�;��	���	������ ���������������	��� �����������������������"�	����������	����������������	���"����������	������ ��	��������	����	���"������ ����	�����������	����	���	������	��������2������	��� ������������������������������������������������	���"��	��;�����"������ �������������������������	������������������������������������������
���� �����"���		����������������	����������	�������������	�������	���������	� ��������������������������� ������������	�����		�������������	������������	� ����������#������#�������	���	�������������������������������	��������������������	�����	�������
�����	��������������	���������������������������������$������������������� ��������!���>?@��������������
�����������������������������������������
���	����;��������������������	��������������������	��	����
�;�����"�������������	��������������������������������������������	����������������������������������������;�����"������ ������������������������������� �����������������	�������������"��	�������������	������	����	�����	���� �����	����	��������������A��������������������	��	����������� �����
�����!	� ����;���������	��
��BCDEFGG�FHIFJ?� F



����������	��
���������������������������������������� ��!�����"�##���$�%&'	��()!������������*������+����,��!����������+����,��!��������-���.�/��������.�!�0��������������.���������������/��0��--�0��������/����00������)0����������!��������������.���0����������0/��.����*�����.�!!�00����0��������-��!�����0���1�)���!�0����.�.������������!-�.�0��������0��.��*��2�*/��0�3�����4���������������0������!���������1�������������0�0-�����5+6)0�������������.������������0-�.��0/������������������)0�.�!-��������������������0��.�������)���*�������.�.������������������50������0�������.����������������-��.�00���������*�����0����������0/��������)���������������-�������0�-���/���������������7��0��������0�����0�����.�!!������-��0��0������-��/�����0���������!������*���-/���)����������������������������-��.�00/�0����������.����-��0�������!�!���0����������.���0/�����0����*���������/����������������0�!���-��������0�-��.�00���5������.�.���������������/��0��������)���.�.������������!-�.�0������������1�����������������*����0���-������������������/������������!-����!���-��8�.�0���������*�-�������������������������.���0/���������������0���-����.�����������)���.�.����������/��0�������0������!-�.�0������!�������������������0��0������)0�����!����������������1�������0�������!�!���0���������*��/�������.���0/����(���)��������������������.�!!��0/������0����*���������/���)���.�.�����������������������00��0����������9����6��������0���������)������������*�����/������������!�0����0��0-�.��0���)��0�������������0���0�������-�������0����0����0��*����������.�����/���������0�*���.����!-�.�0��������.���0���:�0�����0���0����������������9����6������*���-/���)�������*������.��������0�!��5+6��;.��*�0����.�!-�0����������.���0���.��0������)�����������������������!����.��������.��0������!-�.�0�������������������0������0�!���������.�.��0����������������������0�0���������������������������1���--��.�������������)0��������������������-���*�2�������������*�!��������!�����������0��8�.�/�������)�������0��������.����������0���0��������00���.�!�*�����������.��0���������)��������������������-��.�00�����0������0������������<�����<�!!�00��/���)�������.�.��0����!����!����������.���0���������������������)�������������/�0���������������/�+����,��!��������������--�0�����0�������������	��
����������3������� ��!����������������������<���*�1��������=$%��>?##���@�A����.������������0��!�.0�����������!����B�1�)���*����*�0�!���������.�!�*���.����C��%&�DE"F�&�@�()!������ ��!����-��0���*�!�0������50���0-���0!�/�(�0�--��������0���-�������6�����0���(����������������������0����0���-���*0/�����)����0����!�.���-��.�0���������*�����.���0���--�������/�()!���0�--���������(��0���0������������.�����.�!-��!�0���������0���-�.��������0�������0��!�����0�������������!�.��.�!-������/�0��(���*����0�--�������0/��������������;�����--���������������������@�3��<���*���������������������5����1�������G"�%'�H%��I�&�@�(��!���-��0���*�!�0�����������!�!���0��������3,1��0��������(���������������0���-�������6������J�*����(��!�������/�����(��!�*����*����������0�!���!�0������)0�0�!�������*��--��������0���������.������������50����*��������/����.�)������������0��0���-�����0���!���/���������������-���0�����������/����.�������������.�������������������-�.�.�������������0���-���(����������)��������������������������-�����!0���������!�.�!�*���������������*����/���������*����������.��������(�������0����!���������*�����0�-��.�00/����������/�����0��.�/��0�������0���������/����������������!�����!���0�����������*�����������!������������-��0�������
���������������������@�5������������������������J����A���0��KLMNOPQ�ORSOTU� O



�����������	��
�����������������
������������������������
�������� �������������! �����������"��������#����������
����!$��������������������������������!������������
����!$�������$�������������������%�����������$���%����������������������������������������!���! ��!����&�������
���!�$�!��������������'���!�#����������(�)����$����������!��$!������������������'��������#���������� �����$���!��������'��������������'�����"�����$��������������������������!���*+���'��'���������������&,�
���!�$����������%��%������%���������%����������� ������������������������!���! ��!����&��
���!�$�'!���������������'������������!�#���� �#����������"�������������������!�#����������������"��������$������'�� ��������������������������'����'��%���������������������!�#������������'���!������������!��&������
���!�$�!��'�����������%���!���������#�����%���!�������#��������������������!���������#��%!��������!���������������!� �� ������"���'��%�����#�����������"�����!#����!����������#���!�#�����������!��������%�������������!�&��-���$�&���./0��1�/23�4�-���$�"��&�����)���"�'!�����������'����"�5����6�������&��7/��8�./09:�4�6"������!��)���"�(� !�&��;������%���������%�������&��<���$��'�'�� �������! ���!��=�� ���������������������������������! ��������'�����������������!��������'���� ��!��%�����&��<���$��'���"�'!��������!�"����������!� �� ���!������%���������!������������!���! ��&��
��������������������"������"!�#������$�����! !�#�������$����!�#��'��$�����&��
���!�$������!##������!�#������!������������������������'!�����%�������&��
������������!�#�����������%��������������"����������'�����������������'�"�������'��%�����$��!��'��$��
���!�$�'����������!����'����#������������$��!��'��$&��<���$��'��
���������������!��*��,��#�!����*����,�$!��������!�#������������������&�����������������
��� ����������!#������������������6!������6�����!��&��
���!�$�!��'��������#����&��
���!�$�'��%�����$��!��'��$������
���!�$�������������������������������!���%�����'����� ��"���"������$��!���������������������"���!�#&��
������%���������������!$�����"��� ����������!�%����������#���������!�%��������������������������"����'��$���!�#�����&�
�������!�&�-���$�"��&��./0��1�/23�4�-���$�"����)���"&�5����6��������'!�����������'����"�5����+!���"��&��>/?��@/A:B/��	��6"������!��5����6�������&��
��������������������������������������)�%$"�6�����!��C�$��������!����������#��
�������������������!����&������!�#����������"��
������������"����&���%�������������#���������!�&�������� !����������D
E�����!��������%�����"�����������D
E��������������������������"�!���'��#��������������!�"����!�%������������������!�"�����D
E��������
����!���� ����������&��
�'������� ���������������!���"���%$"���&��
���!�$�!��'���������'��������������������#��������������������&��
���!�$�!��'�������!�#��������!���������%�����!�"���%����!%���"������ ��"��!�#�����&��
����������!#������'!����������������%�������������&��
������%!����'�������"���&�
������%!����'����"���#�"����&��<���#�"����������!���'$'�����!����!��������!����%������#!�#������
������%!����"��� ����������'������������!��%���!����&��
�'������!$�������������%�����������������������!��"����������������$�����������������������!��"&��D���!����������������������
�'������!$���������!����������������������$�������'�������!�#�����#���!���"�'!���!�����#��!F��!�����������������%�����!�"������!��%�����&���������$���������G�%���� �����"������#���������H���� !����=��%�&�������������������������"�!������������G�%�&��
�������!���"��!��������!��'���������IJK�KKK��������#��
���������� ��� !���%�����������!#�����'&��-�������G�%��'�������!�������%������%��������������'!���!��&���!���������#��������������'!��������%������������������������
�$��'���������#���������'���������%�����!�"�$����������������!��!�#����������������'����!�����%�������������$��'!�����������!�������"���"&��������������%����������!��'!���!�������%������!��!��'����%�����"������'��������#��'!��������#��������������'���������!�!�!���"&��D�������!�#�������
�'������!$���������!�����������������������'����������!�������������L�'��������!������'���������������!��'!�����%���������������&����������MNOPQRS�QTUQVK� Q



����������������	�����
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	��������
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�������� !"#$% &'#(�)��������������������������)����*������+ ,%#-."/"0"1#(�����2�������������������)�����3������)4����	�����
��������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������5����������������������������������6����������������������������������������������������������7����������������������8�9������������������������������������������������������	�����
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������7�����������������������������������������������������������������������6�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����������������������������������������������������������)��	�������������������������������	�����
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������:����;���������������
��������
����������������������
���������������������������������������
����������������������
�����������������������������������������(������	�����
�������������������������
������������<���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������	�����
����
��������������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�����������	�����
���������=����������������������������������������:�����������:�����������������������������������������������������������������������
����������
�������������������������
�����������������
���������:�����������������
������� !"#$% &'#(�)��)�������������������������>�����������+?.%#@,AA%"B##C����������������������������������������������������
����D? EF#G./HB#�	���)�����*�����	�������������������)4�����������������������������I�����������������	��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������<	8*�����������
�������������������������������
�������������������������	�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������	��	����������	�����
�����������������������J��������������������KLJ�MMM����KNM�MMM�������������������������������	�������������	�������������������
������� !"#$% &'#(�>�������������������������������O��������P1"Q#$.1RB#�>������������S8T�����������>����������U���������)�����4��������������������������������������C�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
����������V�������V����������C����������������������������:��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
�����������������������������
�����������������������������������������������
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������)���������WXYZ[\]�[̂_[]M� [



�����������		
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� !"#�$%!&�'��(�������������������������'�����)���������*+��,-!. /- /0!�1����������(�����2��������3�������������������4���������5�����6������������7�������8�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������9��������4�����������������:	�������������7��������������������������������������������;�3��������������������������������������������������������������������������������1������1����������������4����<��������������������)����������7�������8�������������������������������������������������8��������������������1������1�������������������������������������������������������9�����4�����������;������������������������������������������������=�����;�4���������5�����6������������������������������������������������������������������������������9������������1������;������������������������������8���������������������������������������������������������������7���������;�3�������������������������8�������������������������9����������������������������4����<���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������4�����������������������&���������������������������������������(�������������������������3�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������>�����?��������?������1�@���;�����������������������������;�����������������������>�����?��������1�@���;������������1������1��������;��������������������1�������8�����������������������������������@��������A:B	;			�����������8�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������1���������4���������5�����6��������������������������������������������8����������������������������)����;��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������?�������������;����;����������������������������������������������������������������������3�������������������������������������������������������������;����������;������8�������������@��������B	�������;�����3������������������;�����3����������������������������������������������������8�����������������������C������������������������������<�)���<��������������������������������������3������������������������>41�����������;��BD�������������E���������FG	�>41�����(������������������@����������;			�>41����������1������1��������;�����������:�H�������������������������������������������;����������������;�������������������		
;����������������������������8��������@�������������������;�����������������;��������������;�I��������������������������:�H
��������������>41����������1������J�����������������������������������������������������������(���������8������������������;�������������������������������������������������������������������������(��������������� !"#�$%!&�5��'�������������������������(�����5���������K ##L!MN##,/-!O�=���3�������P�����?������56��Q�������������������������������������������<�����������������������������������������������������&&�		
&&�������������������������������������������� !"#�$%!&�(����������5��(�������������������������(��������������*+��,-!R ,S +-!&�=����3����(�����5����������3�������������������56������3�������������������������3����������������������<����������������� TUVWX:B�XYZXH	� X



����������	�
������������������������������������������������������������� �!!"�#$%�&�'�
�()������������������(���**��+�+���,-�����*�++��.�+�������*����+���/������/���+������(�������0�����+����������1+���2�+������������*����3����4��������(�5��+���+�+�����+�+�()�������**��+�����+�������������	6��,�����������������������������������,+�7���8��������#�"'���'9�:�!;��#$%�&�'6��()����*��������������������0��.����(���0��0��������+��+���0++���+���*���+2���+�(���������+�+�+������������.�������������+��������()�������**��+������7��.�+�������*����+���/������������������	�
�����������,+�7�����������������������3���<�0��������=>���'�?�!9��"�
�()��,+�7���8��������+��8�������++������*������()��5��+������+�����+�+�()����+���0���������**�����+��+�����+����0+�������+��������+���.���������*����+���/������2���+�(�+�����+�+������+���.�������+�����0�����������+����0�����������������������)����������+����+������+��+�����*��7����+�������+���.����*��7����+�*��5�0+��������++�*��5�0+��+���0���++��+�����+����0+�����@���(�����������������+���.�+
.��+�+�+���A����+����0+���B����0���������+����A��+����0+���B����*�+������0�����+��������+����0+������/�����5��+���������+��+����������C�������+�������+��.�������+�����+�2���+���)��DE������������C��*��������������0�����+������7��.�*�����������+�+�����+����������������+�+�����0�������)����7����������������+���.���������+����+�������7���������������������+��7�����*����+�����+�+���2���+���+����+�+���.������7�����+�FGGG�0�������0���+������+.�������*�����������)7��+����+���+�������������+����7���*�+�+�.���������.���+��+����+�������+�+�.������������7��+�0�2����+�������������+���H���+2���+�+����)����������+����������������+����+���*�����������7����0���������+�0�������0����)7���������+�+��������������������+�+�������������)+��������+���������+����7��+�0��.�H��.2������+���*�*��+������.����+����*�����������7�����+�+���)�����**�����+����2�+����+����������������.����+����.�H��.���.�+������������+�+��������+���I�7��������+����0����������+���.���������*���+��+�+���2�+�+�+���*��5�0+�������+�����������������������+�+�+�����JDK����*������@L/)�������+�����+���������������0+�7��.�����(�+�����������0�����+�+2��+�����)7���+������������������.������+�������+�������2�+������+��+�+M�����+)�����()7��.�+�+���������������������������	6����������2�,+�7�����3�����������������������N�������*�����O�P���Q$�R&;'9�
�S�����7����.���/���������3���<�0���������()��.�+�����+�������������()��+������������������������+���+����+�+���������0+��+��������������+���7���+���.���+��������(�����*�����+��.�����������(��������**��+���(��7��+����������(�������+�����/���������������+��.��������/��������7����������7��+�����������������(���������������*��+�+�+����0�����+������+�����*����+������0�������(+�����������������7������-�����2��+�������������������-���+���2��+����������5��+����������.�����2����������2�+�+)�����.����+�7+�����T�7������2���)7������+����+�����������+����2�����*����*��0�������3��*���+���0������*��0�����+���.�����(����)+�����*����������(��+���������+�������������2�(�+�����+�+)��*�������.���.�+��.�����������.�����.���.�+���**���+����*��7��+���.��+��������(�+�����������.�+�.�+���������+������.�+���.������0�������������+������������+�+�������)+�.�+�.���������+���+���.��+�+����)+���.�+����������������������+�������+�.�+����������������+�+�+���.��������+����+��������������������+�����+�+����.���.�+���������.�+����������������������+�+���.����(������UVWXYJD�YZ[Y\G� Y



�����������	�
������	�
�������������������	�
�����������������
����������	���
���������������� !�"#�$�%	�&�������
�'		�
����������	��(���
����)*+�,-�.+�/�$�����&���0��1������	����2
��
��	'���
�3����4		�5�	�
���6��	�����	������
�3����4		�5�	�
���6��	�����	�����	11	�
���	������������	�����

1������1���
�����	���
�����
�
���
���
�
��	������	������'	���������������
����
�	����
�2��
���2	�����������'���
�3����748��
���
���	���	������1��
�����	�����

1���
�
���
�
�������������
��		���������
������	�
����	��	������������	�
�������

1����������������
�
����������	������

1������������������1������
�1�	1	�
������	�����	�����
��������������
�������
���	�������
�����	�����'�	��9�	��:��;2����<�����	��
����'	���	�
�=>�???��
���	'��	�
�������

1���������<
��������@?���
��	'���
�2��
���2	�����������
����
�3����748���	������������	��
����
�������	���	�
�������������	����
��	�
�������

1�1�	���
������

���'	������1	�
������
����������	���
�����	���1	1����	�����'�3����748�1�	�

����	������1������
�����	�����

1�	����
�2��
���2	�����������
����
�3����4		�5�	�
���6��	�����	��'	������
A�
������2
�	�������B'�3��
�����������
��

��748�������
�4		�5�	�
���6��	�����	��������
1�
�
������
�	�����<���	��	'���
��''
��
����

1�1�	���
�����������
���
������	���������
�2��
���2	���������
������
�������
�	''����������
�
���1�����������������2B3��
������������
�3����748������	������1����������	�����

1����������
��	������	�����������
�����	���������������
����
�
���
�
�������������
��		���������
������	�������	�
�������

1������������
�3����748������
�����������������
��
���
�1	����
�'	����
��
����	'���
�����	����
�����C�
��	���'���
�
����������	1�����	1
��1�
��	����	��D�����
�����'����
���������
�3����748�����	���	�
������	����
���

1�1�	���
���	����
��	�
�������

1��
�����'���
�
�����������1�	�
�����'���
���
�748�����	�����

��	������
����2B3���
�	���������'����'�	����
�����	�����	�
�������

1�1�	���
��������
���
�����
����
�3����4		�5�	�
���6��	�����	��������������	11	�
���	������������	�����

1������1���
�����	���
���
��	'���
�2��
���2	����������E����	����1
��	����	�
����
�����	�������
��

��������
������������
���

1�����������������������
���	������
�F��
��
��
����	��������
�3����������	�
���
��	���G	�
���%
����
������
����
�������
��;2������'
�
�����
�����������	����������
��	'�
��'		������������	��
��	����������	��

��������
�����������
������������
����������������	�������
�����	�����	��H���������
���	'���	�������	'��	�����	���
�3����
�	�	������������	��������� !�"#I���������	����������	�����	������'��	���	���
��
����	1��	'�����D���������	���%	������	������
�'		�
�����6������	��	���� J�/KL/�M�JK!�N�$����������	��(���
���
1�
�
������(���
��;
����������(���
��;��������������%	�=OP�	'��������
�����1�����
���	������(	����	�
���������
�
�����>P���
�
���
���

1��	����
���(	������
	1
����
��������
����
�
���
���
���11	�
���	���	���
���	�����������
�
���
���
���11	�
���	����
��

���	�����������
�
���
���
���11	�
���	���%�

1�	��
������
���

1�
��
���������1����	'��	����	��

1���
���

1���
�
���
���
���11	�
���	���4
��	�����

��������
�
�����
�������''
�
��
��
��

���	���
������
	1
���

���
��������	�������
��'��
��
��	�1�������11
������	����
������
���
��	���	�����	��������
�
���
���
���11	�
���	�����
�
���=OP���������1�����
���	���������������	�����
����	�����	�Q����
�
��
�
��		������	����������''�	��		���4
�
��
��	�����	��
����	���
���	�
��		D����
�
���������

��������

1�	����	�
��	��������'	��	�
���������
���
������4
���	���������������������	�������

1������
�'����
��������������������
���
����	�	��	����������
��	���	��	���9???����
���������
��������������������������
����
��	�����
�
��
'	�
��	�����	�
�������������
�������	���������
�
�������
��'���������
�8	����2	�������%�

1�G	������	���
����
��
�����������
���
���	''
�����
����
����
��������
��'����4
��
�
������
�	����������4
��	���������
1����
���	''
���
����
��
��
�
��������'	������������������������������
��RSTUV@W�VXYV9?� V



������������	�
���������������������	�
��������������������������������������������
����
�����������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
������������
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
� ���������������������������������������
�!���������������"��������������������������������������������������������������������������#����!�������������������������������
���������������������������������������������������������$����������������������������������������% "�����������������������������������������������������������������������������
����������������������������������������������������������������������&��������������
��������������������������������������������$������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������'�����������
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������
�����������������������	(�
������������
����������������)����������������������������������������������������������������������*+��$�������
��������������������������(�,���������-(�������������������.������������"������/��0�1	������������������������(�2������������3(�������������-	���������������������������������(�-�����(�1�������������������������������������������������������������������������������2����������������������������
���������������������
����������������
���$�����������������������������������������������
�������
���������������������
�����456789:5;<=8�������
�����&������������������
�#�����#��������>?5@89ABCDBC8E�&����%����������������������
������������������������������������������
�����������������&F�����������������������������������
������������������������������������������������������������������)��������������+����)�������������+��G����
������
�������((�
��������������������������������������H����������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������
����������������������������
���������������������������������������������������������������2((������
��-((��������
�����������������������������������������������������������I������&�������������������������������������((�
���������������������'����
�����������������H���������������������������������
����������������������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������
����������
������������������������������������������������I���������������'���
�����������������������������������������������������������(�����
�����������������������������������������
���������������������������������������������H�������������������������������������'�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������!�����������������
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������J�����������������������������������������������
�������������
�������������������������
����������������������������������������������������
���������������������������	K������������������������E�	��������������
����"��������������������	K�������L������������������
�MK�������������������������������������������H����
������������������������'�������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������������������������I��������������N���
�"����������O��������������
�����J���������F��
����������������������������������������������������������������������
��������H������������������������������������������������!������������������������������������������������������������������������������������'�����������������������������������2	������������������"������"��������������������������������������
���
���������
��������������*������������
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������#���2	��������������H�����������������!��������
��������������((�(((���������������������������������������3	����M(��P��������������&I"����� QRSTUM(�UVWU,(� U



�����������	
���
���
�����
��
���
��
���
���
����

��� ��!"#$"#�	
%�
��&�'
�
(()�����
���
����
��
�
��**�
+�((�)�
���
)�������������

,�"--�,-.//$�	
%����
%��00+
)�()�+������
��+�*��

����
+(���
��
&��*�
*���
���
��)�
��
���+�
��**+'
��
����
����)
+���
��
��������
��
0����)�'
0��
�
��
()���
���)�
&�)�
����+�)+�

�
1��&
&��)�
���)��+
���*
()���
��
����+�)+�

2�(�'
��'
&��)�
���
�����
��
��
0�1
��
���)�'
0��
����+
������)
��)�
��)
���)��

3���
���
+�
���
���
����*���
**
���
(��(*�
�������
0�
���+
��
���
����+���'
&����
��
0��*�+
+
�)
&�
+
4)��
5��
��
6���
7)1
���)
���
0����)�
+���(
��
�
)��
+����
��
8���)+��**��

2�0����+
���)
+��
�������
��
���

9��
+��'
�
��
(()�����
���
���
���+
)�
�)�����
���
��
&����
0�

()�0*��'
���
&����
*��
����
)��'
��
(��(*�
)�
+����'
:3�
�����
����
��
&�))�';
0���
���
��1��&��

���+
���
�
��1��&��

9���
1��1��
���
+���(
���
��
�����
9����)�
�����
��
��
���
<����+'
+�
���
�((�+��
��
���+
�����'
0���+�
���
����
��)�����

�**
���
���+
)�
����
���+'
0��
����**
0�
����'
��
��**
()�00*�
+��**
0�
�����'
���
1��&=

>��
?�+�
����
�1�
()���+�+
��
&��
���
����)������*
�)��(+
&�**
��
&���
���
���)�
+�+���'
+�
���
�((�+��
0���+�
��
����

2��
0���+�
�
����1
**
���)
()�?���+'
��
**
���
+(�)�+���
�����
��
+�((�)�'
�
����1
����+
�)���

���
���
��)
���
+(�)�+���
�����
�����

���+
?�+�
�
�����
&��
����
��
���
����
�
��
�@(��+��
9��1
����

�����������	
%�
A*���
&�**
0�
��**�&��
0�
7���
>)�*���


B�"C��D�!���CE�
���
A*���
>)�*���
���
���
()�+�����
��
���FFFF=FFFF=FFFFF
�++�������'
&����
���+
���*���+
���
8���)*
8������+
��
0���
+���+�

G��
�����
�
&��*�
*�1�
��
+�'
&�
���
�)���
��
��������
&���
���
H��1�
8������
%���(
A���������

G�)
()���
�����)�
�+
)���*��
��*���

9���
���
���
()���+�+�

5�
���������
���
����
����)��
IJKK'KKK�

9��
��+�
����
����)��
&+
ILK'KKK
��
��
&���
��&�
�)��
���)��
9���
����
���
�(
&���
���
+��(�*����
���
����
&��*�
+��&
�+
��&
��
+(���
��
��
&�
������
����1
���+
&+
)�����

9���
*+�
&����
�+
��
����
����
�)��
��&
����*
���
���
��
����
��
����)
���
��
)���&
���

9���
?�+�
&����
�+
��
)���&
��
��)
��0�

��**)
�

�����

9��
����)
�����
�+'
&�
&��*�
*�1�
����
��
0�
��*�
������0*�
��)
���
)���*��
��*���

��
2M7�
����+
�('
&�
�����
&��
��
0�
���
���+
���
���
��
(�
��)
����

%���
��
���
����)
�����+
���
���
����
0���'
&�
**
��)
0���
���
3�*�*���
N���+���
(������
��
**
���+
�����
��
�����
���)������'
��'
0��
���)��+
����)
0���
�������
(��
�(
+
���
���
&��)�
&)�
��
�

9���
���
�+

&��*�
*�+�
���
&+
O
�)
J
(��+
*���'
��
��)�
*���*�
��
��
�����)���
���+
)����

3�
)�
�����)���
0���
���+�

��
&�**
()�00*�
��(��
�+�

G��
����)
�����'
&���
����
���
���'
����
+��'
:3�
&��
PQR
���'
&�
&����
����
����
��)
R
��)+'
&���
&�
��
����
����'
��
&�**
���
��
0�

R
�)
�*�
)��;

2�&
��
����
�����
()�����
��
���
R
��)+'
�����)�
�)�
(��)
+���('
����+
**
�
��
+��

�
����1
+��������
����+
��
0�
�����

���+
?�+�
*�1�
���
�*1
�)
�������
�*+��
9��)��+
��
����)�*�

3���
&�
���
&���
���
N3H'
����
��*�
�+'
����
+��'
:3�
�����
�)��

3��)�
�����
��
��
��'
&�����)
���
���+
(()���
��
�)
&�����)
���
������;
��
�����)�
�����
��
���
���
�������
��
�1�
���
(�0*��
�����
&�
�)��
�+'
&�
����1
���+
��*�
��)
���
��0�
&�
)������
���
��
���
��+
�)
��0�
�&�
��+

��)
��)
���
�(1��(
��
���
���������
��
���
�)����
��
*+�
���
���������
��
���
&��)
*���+'
+�
���
���+�
�����+
��
0�
�1��
�)�
���

9��1
����

����������1	
%�
���+
�+
7���
>)�*��'
)����=
5��**
0�
��**�&��
0�
3��
M*�+���

S�-��D�!���C�	
G��
�����
�
&����
��
1���
��
��)�++
��
���
2M7��

�
��
����)+���
���
���
N3H
�����
���
��
��
�������'
0��
���
4T8
�+
��
��)��
��
)���*��
��*���

��
����
��
��*�
����
���
+(����+
��)
)���*��
��*��'
����
���+
���*�
&��
*�+�+
���)�
����'
��+�
)���*��
��*��
�+
��
0�

()��)���
��)
UVWXYZP
Y[\Y]K
 Y



���������������	
���������
�����
�
��������������������
������������������������
���
������������	
�
�����������������
�
�����	������������������	������
���
���������	��������
��������������������������
����
���	�������������
�����������

����������������������
�������	�����������������������
������
����������	��������

���
������
�����	
�����	�����������������
��
��������
�	����������
���
���������
���
����
��
��� �
�����
���������
������!"���
����

�������!"����
�	����������
���
�����
�������
��������#������������
���$��%
����
�	
��������

��������
	�������������#�������
�����������������	������������
��������

�����$����������#���������������	
�
����
��
�����������&�
����
�	
������
����������������������
�����
�������
��
����'�������	
�	
�
����������������
�()*������
��
�	�����
���
��������
����
�������$��������
��������#�������
�������������������	
�	��������
�������������
��$�+����
������
�������

���
�����
�����
����
����
�����	����	������
�����
������	
��
�,�
�����������
�
-�	
�������	��������

���.�
������
�,�
����������	
�	���
����
�������������
��

��������
�����%
����
���
��������
�
���

��	��������
��!"����
����#/��$���
��������
����
�
���
��������
����������
����
���������
�����
��
��������
���������������������������������
������������
������������������������
��
����
����������	�������������0��
����0����������������1222����
��������

�����
��
�������������
�������	��������������
��
������� �
�
�������

��/�� �
������������3

��.������/���������������������
���������������������������������������������
����
�	�
�
�
��
���
���
�����������������
�
����
������
�������
�������������	
���������������������
������������
��������	�
����
��������
��������������������
��������+������������������������
����������	��������
���������
����
��������������������
����
��������������
�����
,�
��
���	�������������
������������������
���������
�������������	
��
����������������
����
�������
���4���������
���������
����
�����
��������������������
���������������������������������
���������	��� �����������56789:;6<=9>� �������������
�?������������	
�����%���
�@���������A6B89C;D6EFG9>����
�?�������H����I����%��
���+���
�%���������H���������J��	
���%��������
����������������������
���
����
�����������������������
�����������������������	����������������
�������������������������������
��
4���
�
����������������������
�
���������
�������
���������������
��������
�������������
��������������
���������������
���H������������������
����
�������������
�������
���#*���	
���������������

������������������������
����������#�
�����
������

����������	
�
�����������
�������
��������$� ������������I
��������������������

�����	��������
��
�����

���	���
�����������������
�������
��
�������������
���������
�������	������
�����

����
����
���
�������

��������
���
��������������	��������������
��	����������
����
��
���������
��	
�
������������
�������
����������+����
�,�
���������������	���
�	
�����������
�������
������������	���
�	
�������������
������	��������
�
����
���H�����	
������
���������������������
����������������������� �����������56789:;6<=9>�%���
�	�����
������	
�����J��������
�����:KL<89MD;;DGN99O����%���
�@������������P�����
��
�
���������
����������
������0�������*������	�
�
�	
�������
���

���������������������
	��
�������������
�
�����P����	���
������
����
�()*����	�������P�������
�Q�������������
�����
������
����	�
�
�����
�
�	
�
���
������������

��,���
����
�����
��� �
�����������
������
�
-���
�
���

����������
��	�����
�
����
������������������
��������
�������0�������*����������������������� �����������56789:;6<=9>�J���	�����
������	
�����R��
�%
�������SDT9U6KB;8L9>����J��������
�������������V
������
�������
�����	�����������
���

�������
�������
�WXYZ[\!�[]̂[12� [



�����������		
������	�����	��	����������	�	���	��	�����	���	����	����	��	���	��	����	��	�����		���	�����	������	�����	�������	��	�����	����	����		�	���	�������		����	���	�������	��	���	�����	������	�����	��	�����	������	������	������	�������	�	�����	����	�����	���	���	�����	����	��	�������	����	���	�����	���	�����	�	��	 	����	��	�����	����	!���	���	�����	���	���	��	����	��	��	����	��	����	����	���	��	���	�����"		����	�	����	��#	�����	�����	���������	��	�������	���������	���	�������	�������	�����	�����	���������	���	�	����	��	���	����	����	���	��	������		�	����	���	�����	������	����	���	������	�������	����	����	�����	�����	������	�����	�������	!���	����������	�����	���	����	���	����	�����	�������	�������	������	�����	���	�������	����	�����	�������	���	����	���	�������	��	�	�����	����	�����	���	���	�����	����	���	���	�������	��	!���	����	������������	���	�����	��������	�������		$�	���	!���	������	��	���������	����	����	����	 %%	��������	���	�����	��	���	�����	���	��	���	�������� %%##	
������	!���	��������	���	���	���	���	����	���	�����	&%	������	����		'��	!���	�����	����	���	�����	�����	������	����	���	����	���	�������	���	��	�������	����	��	���	��	����������		����	�������	���	 %	�����	�����	���	(�����	)������	���	���	���	������	��������	������	��	�����	���	����	�����	��	!���	��	���	����	���	���	!���	���	����	���	������	�����	������	�����	�����	���	����	����	����	����	���	����	����	����	��	���	�����	�����	�������		�	!���	���	 %	����	�	��	����	����	������	����	�����	��	��	������	�����	��	$����	���	����	*�����		��	�����	���	���	��������	�����	����	����	�����		�	���	������	����	���	�����	!���	��������	�����������		��	�����	����	���	�����	�����	���	�	������	���������		�����	����	���	��	����	�	�����	+�	�	����	���	�����	�����	�����	�����	�����	�����		
����	����		,-./012-3405	
����	���	6��		+�	7���	���	��	��������	��	7�������		8-4/01/9:;905	<�	���	7���	=������		���	����	���	���	<���	����	6������	���������		���	*����	>�������	���������	��	�����		���	�	����	���	���	<���	����	6������	'����	?�����������	���	�	����	���	���	�������	+����	��������	���	���	?�����������	�������	��	�����		�	����	�	���	@��������		��	�������	��	������	���	�����	��������	���	���	������	�����	���	������	���	)�����	)��������	����	���	������	����	���������	��	�����	���	����	��������	��	�����	��	����������	����	������	������	��	���	������	������	�����	��	����	�	����	�����	A����	�	�����	����	����	��	���	����	�	����	����B	�	����	����	��	!������C�	���	D��%%%	����	��	�������	�����	����	���C�	����	���	�������	��	���	)�����	)�������"		
��	�����	�����	�	�������	����	������	��	���	�����	�������	���	D��%%%	����	��	������	�����������	����	���	��	��������	�	<���	���	�	�����	����	�����	������	������	�����	��	!������C�	�����		+����	�	<����		��	����	����	�	���	�����	�	�����	���	����	����������		�	�����	����	�����	���������	��	�	�������	��������	���	�	����	�����	���	����	���������	�	<���	�	�	�����	�������	���	�	���	��	�������	��	��	����	���	���	�������	���	��������	��	���	���	�������	��	����	@�����	������	����	���	������	��	�������		��������	�	����	@������	���	�������	�������	��	���	����	��	��������	���	�����	������	������	������		�������	@�������		�������	���	����	����������	���	������	����	��	������	�����	�	���	�����	��	<���"			,-./012-34E00	
��	�	�	�������	�������	��	�����	�����	���	��	���������			7���	=�����5		�������	�	�������	��	��	������	�����	������������	���	��	���������	������	������	�	����	�������	�����	����	���	����������	���	������	��	�������	�����	���������	�	���	�����	��	<����	����	��	�������		�	���	��	�����	�����	��	)���������	��	���	(������	6��	�	���	�����	����		�	����	������	�	�����	����	����	����	���	)�����	)��������	���	�	����	����	��	�������	�	����		���	����	�	���	�������	��	������	�������"		�	@������	����	�����		���	���	������	�����	���	����	������	������"	���	����	���	�����"	���	����	�����	���"	��	���	����	F���	G���	*���"		���	�	���	����	���	��	����	��	��	�����	���"		��	�����	�	�	��5���	��	���	������	������	�����	����	��	���	������"		
��	��������	���	��	HIJKL�M	LNOLP%	 L



����������������	�����
������������������������������������������������� ���!���"##$�%&������!���'���&	�$�	����(�)�*���&��&�����+�,,-.�/�0�1�,�2�3�4&���������&��'���&	�$�5%����������������6��#��$�6��&$��	�����7����$�8������% ��5�!���&��9� �:�!�)��&�����)������%�!�������$��*��$�;!�����	��!$����&�����5�����$�	�$������������	�8���<�7&���6�$&����������)����(��������$�������� ��(��������% ��5�!���&��9� �:�!�)��&���&��&��	!����!##�$���	�*&���$������#��������5&��$���5�!���&�������*��&����&��(&����&����##�$�!�&�&���	�$���$���!���$����)�#$��&)��)&��$�&���(&����!$�(&�)�&	�������� ���!���������������3��&��&���!��	����(�)�*��=&%��$&��6�$$�����)���������*��	����(�)�*���$���'!����������>-�?@/-��A�//@����4&���������&��=&%��$&��6�$$���������������#�#$�)!%�$�&����!���$��8�����������������7��$)��	�
&$�%��$�	�$�8���������B$�(�$�<���$��$�#$�����&��������	���)������������� �)�(&���5���&��4&�����)�$<�(�������$����$%��$�!#��������&������C�����8�&��$�&�����C��������������*&���$��$����(&����$�����DE��&������� &���	�$��(��<��������*!		�$�F����������&������&�#�$������������$����&�������$�����(��$�������(�������������������������#�(&������(��$�����$���$���(�����"����(&�����%�#������#��!���&�<�&��GHII<����������������%����)�(����)������)�)�����&%�����#���$)����$�!���!�������������������#$��������&��8����)�����&%�����#���4�(��$����!���&�������� ����#�#!���&����	�����#���)�#!��������������5&��$���5�!���&���������$����&�������������)���������������%����&��%����%��J����	������!���������������	��������&���&��7����$<���&)������&	���$����$�����)������	�$���)������!���	�����#$��&���<������)��������&����������(���������)&)�&��K������������%$����)����&������!�%$����IH<HHH�����#��$���$��!#����$�<��$�� &% �)��		����&$�$�������L&�����9�C������$�%�����������������������������MHH�����#�)�(��&���������&�����#�$ <�MHH�����#�)�(�����$��������$��#!��&����!��&)��&���*�$)�$���4�(��*�!��(��������������#�#!���&��<�����N!���&���$���#����&����$�!�)�������������O������#��������!#�	�$�������	������!���������$���������*&������#�)�(�����$����������������������������������� ���!����������������P���$���(&���*��	����(�)�*��K�$ �$�:�&������Q/@2�+RS?�,S�,����$���'!�������<�C:�������!##�$�������#$�#�������O��������$���!��&�������������#�&��L&���T��&�����K�$ ���U%��##&��V�������*����&���$���&�������&����$�����&������)�����*�����&)����$�!�����&$�����)#�&���������&� �*�����&)����������������&)�#�&���<�*!����)����&� ����$��&��������&�%��%�#�&�������(������� ��(�(��������%��������)�)�����&%�����#�(�$�����&�����������������	�8����������(�$���$���#�����)����(���������)&		�$���<��*���!��������)&		�$��������������$���&���&�<�&��(����� ��������*�!��������(&�)�&	�����&��<�����������)����� ��(�*�!�)�$&������������	���!�������$��	��&�&�$�(&�������7����$�5�!���&�<�!#���$�����������#���$�������$���$����%�!#����	������������������$��%����)�����$�F&�����B!����(����W�!��!��������%�(��!#����$�������!���$��������C�����������)��(&�)�&	���$����<����)��)�����&%��&�����% ���������$�������C:���!##�$�����&��	�$����!�*�$��	�$���������:&$��<������%�!����%���&��&���$<���!�������������	�%����&�!�����&����&��$���<���������������$�#$�������&�����% <�*!���!�)��$��������� ��(��)��<�&�������!��&�����)�	&��&���&�)!��$&��<�&����������%��)��$���&$)���$�����&�����������<�&���!*�����&����������� ��*�!��&��N!���*�&�����#�����&����������������#�����&�����9�#�%&�����&����������������(��<����$�����������	�#��#���������� �����&�&�����$�!����!&)&��<���$�!����!��&��<���$�!���������)��$�%�$&��������&��*�!�������������#��%������������������ �)��*�!����������$�����&X����!���)��%$����������5&��$���<������&	�����#�����������$�<�&��(&��� &�������<�(������$��������	!���������(��)&)�������(�����$��#�%���	�*�!�)�$&���(���������*!$��)<���)�C#�$��������	�&���)�����*&������	������)�������$�������)&)�������<�YT�<�)�����)$�#�&��������$�<����������������*����������������!��Z��YT�<��������#$&�����#$�#�$��<�)�����)$�#�&�����[\]̂_̀̀ �_ab_cH� _



�����������������	�
�����������������	����	�����������
��������������������������������������������������
�����������
�������������������������
������������������
�����������������������	������������������
�����
���������������	�����������	�������������������������������������������
����������������������
����
����������
����������������������	
�
	�	�������
	����������������������������
������������
��� �������	�
���	������
���������
������������������	�������	����������������������	�����
�	�
�����������������������
����	����������������������
��������������������
��
�������������������	��������
��
������
�	���������
����������������
	����������������������������������	����������
������������������
���������
������������������������	������������������
�����
����������!�������	����	����	�"���������#�
����
���������������������������������������
���������������$
�������������
�
���
��������������������
��
����	����
�����%���&�'()*(+*,-*../,(01,23(),14*,5067*+8*9:,��;�����<
������=3(-,>0/1*+/*+?,���������@�����%����������
���	������!������������%���AB(78*,23(),5067*+8*9:,,C������������������	���=3(-,>0/1*+/*+?,,�C������������������	���D������@�
�����������	���������������������������������������	�������������
�	���������������������������������������EFGH����	�������������	�����	�����@���	��
��������	����
���������������������	�������
�	�����������������	�������������
���	���	�����������������I�	�����������	
�������������������	����������������
����������������������������
�����������������������������������	�����������
���������GJJK���������������	���
�����������
�������	����
���
���������������������������������������
�����������
��
������
�������������������
���
�������������	�������������������
����������������
	�����;���������������L
�
�
�����������	��
����������������M5N*,O.58P,F�����������;��������	�����������������������	���	���
��
�� ������Q�
�����R53P*3,S57./:,,C
���������
�� ������Q�
������������������
����������
������	��
�
����������������
�������������������������
	������T��������������������������
���
���������������
������������������������!�������������������������
���������������
����������
��������������������������������������
���������������������������	��������������<������
����������������������
���	����	�������
��������������������
����������
���������������������������������������
������	�����������������	�
�������	���������������������	������	���	���	�����
����������������	�����������
����U������������������	����
��
������	����������������������������������������������������	�������������������	���
����������������������������	�����������������������������������������	�����
������������������������������	�����������������T�����������������
�����������U������������������	����
��
�����
�������������U�������������
��������U������	������������������������
�����������	������������������������������
������������	�������
�������������	�����������	������
������������������������������M5N*,O.58P:,������������	����	����������������	��������@���
��V��	������W5.N7+,X536.*-,F�C����������@���
��V��	�����Y�������������������������������������
	�������Q
�����	��
�	�
���	
	�����������	����������
�	����Z
�����D����
�	����Z
��������������	�����;��
��	
	����������������������������	������
�����������������������������������������
����������������
�������
����
������������������	��������	��
�
���������	������
���������������������������	��������[\]̂_̀a�_bc_EJ� _



������������	�
�	�����������������������������������	�
�	�����������������������
������
���������������������������������������������������
�������������������������
���������������������������������	�
�	���������������������������������
������������������������������������� !"#$% &'#(�����)������*�����������
�	�����������������
���������������+�����
��
�	������
�������������������������������������������������	�
�	������)�����
����
�����+���)���������+��+��)����,-./0��������1233"456#7823#59"#:;1<��� !"#$% &'=##>)�����������
)����������
��������������������
�����������?�@�������������������
�
������������ABC�������������������������������ABC������������
�����������)��
�������������������������������������
���������������������������������?�@���D" 4#D5"E 85=##��
��
���������������
���������������*��
��A����������?�	
����F�����
��������G�?����������������A�
		�������
����@�����@
���H
���C���	�����F������������������+��������
�	���
�������G����C���A����.�����A���������B����C���	�������@�����@
���H
���>��
���������
�����������������
���������������������+
	���������������	������������������C
�����C�����
�������������������F��������?�	
�������
�����@���
��������C���I��/-,I�������C
�����C�����
���������
����
��
������@�����@
���H
���>��
����
��������������������
�������������	���
��
������H
�����H
���>��
���������@�����@
���H
���>��
�������+�������
����
�������
�������)
�	�	��������������
����J���/-,K�������������������	����������������������������������
�	���
���LG�?������������
�
����	��M
�	�����
�������������������������
����������
��������������������������������������
���������)����������)
�	�	�����������������������������
����������
�������+��������
������+��������
��	��������
������ABC�
���������������	���������
������	���
�	�+
	���������������������
�����
������������������
����������
�
���������)��
�������F��������L�����������������)��������
��
�������
�	�����G����������������������
���F�������
��>�����NNOK��@��������
���F��������
������>�������?������
���>�����NN0P��Q���
�	��H
��
�	��?������
����F����
�	������
�
���@��������
���>�������
�
���
�������
���
����
�������������
+������������
���
��������>�����NNP/��������
�	�Q�+
����R��
���������������A
	�S�����
�����?��	������C
	���
���@���
�����������+���(�������������������
������������
���������A������������)��
����������
�
����	���
����������������)��������������������������
�����������
�
��������+
���������
������
��
�	�����������������
��������
��������������������������
������+
���T��������������	����������
�����������������
�������������
����������U�����@�����@
���H
���>��
���
������
������������
����
����������
������C
�����C�����
���+
	��������������)
�	�	�������ABC�������
�
���
����
����
������+
	��
���������������������������
����������������������������+���������
���������������������������+
�������
��)���
�	��
�������ABC������
��������
��
����������)���������������)
�	��
�������L����G
�
�
�������
�
���?�����������	���
�	�+
	���������������	�������
��
������@�����@
���H
���>��
�����F
������������A�
		���@�����@
���H
���>��
���C���	����� !"#$% &'#(�>)��������)����������������������
���	
�
�	�������������������������������
�����������������+��	��������D" 4#D5"E 85#(������
�����������������������������
	��������������������������*��
��A������� VWXYZOP�Z[\ZP-� Z



����������	�
����
����
����
�����
����
��
��
���
��������
����
���
 !"�




#�$��%&�'(%)	�
*
��
���
����
����
+�����
���
,

*
��
���
����
����
+�����
���
���
-�.
��
�/+�0��1
/�
���
2��������
��
*�������3
��������++�
��
4���
4���
���
25 
��
������
����
�6�������03
��
+����
+���
�1
�����
0��1�

���
7��������

8��
���43
4��6�
�+��1
/���
���
9������
2�+
�1
.��
-�����
/���0��
��3
���
���43
���
9:;!��
��1��+�

5�
�+��1
/���
 .<��
���
���
��������
�1
���
����
�1
��
��+1
��
��
/���++�
����
1����
���+�1�
���
25 
������
����3
�����0�
���
 !"
�1
���
/�0
0��
/��1�

���
���
7�������
*�6�
0��
���
���3
.��
-�����
�1
4�++3
����
�+�
/���
�6����0���

2���
�����
�6�
�6����0��
�6��
���
25 =

�����
���
���/+��
4��6�
�1
����
�1
����
0���

.�
����
++������
��
���
/��
��
���
>����
.�������
��
/�0����
�����
��
���

:6���
��4
�1
����3
�����
����0
/����3
�����++
/�
��+��
4�
����
���
���1�
���
��
��
���
����+�
 ������
�1
���
>������3
+�����0
���
��4
���������
��

��4
���13
����
0��
4�����1
���3
*
������

*
�6�
�����
!?.��
�����
�1
*�6�
��������1
��
���6��
�����

*�
���3
*
��
�
���6����
���
��
����
�1
*
�6����
0��
���
���6�
��
���
�����
1�4�
�����
/�����
*
���4
4���++
������

�����++
/�
����3
������++
/�
�����
�������������
���
4��6�
����
�����,,+���
��
���0��3
4���
�����
���1�
4���
����
����1
��
��++
���
�����
���
4���
�����1�
���
/���1�����

@�3
*�6�
+��
��������������

���1
��
�����
��
"����+
 ���
9����+
<���

*��
���
����
��4
/�0
��
�����*�6�
6���
��+1��
����
����
����+
����
4�����
4���
�����
4�
7����

1���0��
��������3
�1
�����
�����
��6�1
��0��
1�4�
��
���
;������
 �6���

8��
���+1
���
����
�6���1�
�
���
1��6�
�����0�
���
����

.�
�����
��
�+��
��++
��
���������

�������
������
�1
���
��
+���
�A

*
����
�6��
������
���
����0

�������
��
����3
/��
�������
/���

���/+��
��
���
���
4���
�����
�����
�1
���
1�0�
�����6�
����1
��
���
�����
��1�����
��
���
?����1
@����3
������++�
���
4������
?����1
@�����
*�6�
����
��
����
�1
����
0���

�����
0���
�+�
/���
������0
4���
���
0���
�1
��
B���
�����
+���
*��
/��
��
CDE
�1
���
/���+�
1�+
4�
4���
�����0��

���
/���+�
��+�
0�F�
��

������
�+���
�1
�����
�����
0�F�
��
ED
�������
�+����

�����
����
����+
����
1�����

5��6�
0��
���/+���
4���
�����
/���+�
1�4�
������

�������
1�0��0
���
��0��

�������

+��
��
����
��
���
>����
.�������3
/��
���
/���+�
��+�
������

������
���
��
��
�1
�������
���
���
������

�������
�/���
��������
1�0�
�1
��
4����
����
/���

8���6�
0��
��
+�����
��
�����
���1�����,,�������
��0����0
���
�����
+�6��A

����
1����
�6�
���
/�0
�����
�1
����
��++
���
��4
���
1�++��3
/��
����
�����
1�++��3
������0
����
���
��
����
+�13
����
�����
1�++���

*���
���
��������0
���
���
0��
���
�+�
��

�0
��
���
���
0��
���
��������0
���

���+�
�

���6������
��
���
���
0��
1����1
��
����

����
��
�����
+�6�+����1
�1
�������
��0����0
���
�����
+�6��
�1
4���
���
���
�����
��0��F�����3
;��
-����3
5��+
G��4���3
"��+����H�
!���������3
�������
��
4�
�����++
+��
���
���6���
���+�
��
�����
��������

*�6�
�+��1
��
�����

5������
����
-�.
����
����*
���
���
����+1
/�
/+�
��
/�
+43
/��
*�6�
��6��
���4�
��4����
���
����
������1
�1
+���
���
0��
����
���
5��+
G��4���
��13
���
���4
����

�����/�+���
���
�����0
�����
���+1
/�
����
������/+�
�1
����
��
��������0
���
����+�
4�++
4��
��
1��
�������

+��
��
���/+���
4���
���1����
�1

+��
��
�����
����0�
���
����
�6�
��
1�+
4���
�1
�����
���
��
���
+�6������
��1������
5���
���
�����1���3
B���
/�����
����

ED
�������
�+���
�1
�������
���1
�����
�1
����
�/���
���
��������03
���
1������
���
���
�6�
��
���
��������0
��
���

@6�
��
���
����
1���
��
4���6��
���
�6��

8��
1����
�6�
��
���
/�0����
�����
��
������

�������
���
���
��+����+
���/+���
4���
/�0����
�����
�1
���3
���
��
0��
�
���������+
�����
���

�����
������3
/��
����
�
���������+
����
��
�����
+�6������
���1������

*
0����
*��
1���
���
��4�

����������	������
����
I�+����0J

!��/�1�
�+��=

����=
� KLMNOPE
OQROSD
 O



�����������	
���������������������������������
������������������������ �!����"����#���� �$��%� ����&�'��#��%�����'%�$��#&��(�#&����%�������������)��#)�%�#'$�*���������#�����%����#&������&����+ ��*�!����������#���%���'%������ �����)������'���%�#��%�)������"����#'��"��%����,������#���#�"����#'�*�'%��#��#��%��-�(�.���(��#&��#���������"��,�������%�����,�����!�#!��#�$��#&��%�)���� ���&�!�#!��#���#&��%�)�#��&�&����*���&&�����&��/���!���)�)���'����%���'%�����#&������0�#&�)���(#��$��%���%��"�������������&��%����������*���$��%$��%��������%��&�)1�2����)������#1��#&��'�������&,��$�)���(#��$��%���������%����!�#!��#���%���%� �������)�,��������3�&�)����#&����'��������������,������$�*�����������%��!�,"������#����%��%��!�����$���������������!���������&�#���%� ���#)��%��"��%�����4%����%��#���*��#��#)�!�,"������#����%��%��!�������5��!�#�������6�����������!�$��%��%��&��%�#'��*�����%����*�'%��#�������#&�#'��%�,��4%�)�����#�"��!����%����&�#�����#�����'�$��#&�#��!������%��#)���#��������������&���#�����'�����%�����������(�#'�(�#&����"��,���#'$��%�)�,�'%���!�����)�*�������)�!�,"���*���!�,"���&������%���*�'�'�,���#�,�������%�!������'��3�#'��4%����%����%�#'������%����%���!!��#��*����)7��%�����%���!�,�#'��"��������4%��������������!�#!��#��4%����������������!���#��#��%��-�(�.���($��������#�������&������!���#��5��&�&#���!%�#'���#���%�#'$����&�&#���!%�#'������#!�$����&�&#���!%�#'���#)�%�#'�����������0�����%�����(�������(�#�*)��%��&� ����#��4%�����%��"�!�,��&��#����%�"#��,�#����#&�����&��1�8���(#��$��%������%��*���(���5������#���'��#'�����#)�%�#'���������)�!%�#'������'��3�#'�"���!)�����#)�%�#'���(���%������&�����%�������&�&#���&�!�����$��������#���'��#'����&�!�������96��$��������#���'��#'����&���#)�%�#'���(���%����4%������#������%���%�#'���(��"�%����#'7�,�)*���%��&� ����#�,�'%����#������%�#(��*�������,���3�#'��%������������*����#���"��#�����%��������������,����!����$�*�!�������������#&������&�*)�,�$�*����&�#���(#����������!�����)��""����&��#��%��-�(�.���(�"��#��4%����%����%�#'���$��%��,�#�)�&�&��#!��������'�������&,����%�����������������,������(��)��%���������'�����#&�#'�������%� ��"����!����%��������#��������%�����%�������*�'%��#��%��"��#���!�$������(�#&������!�#���!���#�����������,�$���"����#��#'��%������������ �!����(�#&����%�"���%����%��������$��#�����)$�*�!������&�#�����#�����!�,"�������%��#��%����%��"��#������������%��������%�����%� ������"�����%��,�#�)����%��%�,��:���'%�#';��#&�����,���)�#'������'��������%������ �����#��%����/��������&���#����)���!�#��#���������������%�#(��%����%�#��%��-�(�.���(���#���%���'%$���%�#(��������������%������#'��#��%��"��!�������%�&�������,����"��"����#�*���&��#&�&�&#���%� ��<������%�����������/����#)��)$������%������������%���=�>�
�?	@
�	
�0����������"�%�����#&�������#�����%��!�#!��#���#&���#&�����#&��%����%�)���� ���&�!�#!��#�����#&�����#&��%����%��������"��"����%���,�(������ �#'��#�"�*��!���#&��/��������"�*��!���#&���#&�"�� ���0�#&��*�������)�)���!�#�,�(������ �#'��#��%��"�� �����#&��%�����'������#&�A�&�*������,���!��������$��%��������#&�������/����#��%�����,��*���!�"��#!�"����������&�,$��%���������)��%���)������'%�����,�(�0����#!%�������'%�����,�(����&�������#�"�*��!���#&�����#)�*�������%�#���'��&������'%�����,�(����&�������#�"�*��!���#&���#&������''������%��%��$������*�!������%�������,���!�$��#&����������)�BA�&�*�������C��#&�����(�����%����#&���%�#(�B�%������"�*��!���#&��#&��%������,����"���������#&�C��#&��������%�����#&��%�������� ���&�!�#!��#�$��%���)��������!���&������$�*����&�#����%�#(��%����%�)������%�#'����0��,��#��%���%��"��#&�!����&�#���'��3����'��%�����#&�� �#�����%�)�&�&$����������(�#'��*������DE������$��#&������������,�(���,����#&��$���0����%�����#)���%����#�,��������%���0�#&�����������,������%������0��%�����,�����#!�,"���*������%�!��������#&��%�����,)�"��#������%������#����%����#�,����%������,�����#!�,"���*������%�!�����$��#&�!�����,�#�����������"����&��/������!�#�"�����*�'���&��,���)���!���#��#&���)�B���������(���'��%���C��&�#���(#���%���,�!%�,����)���!�#����(���'��%����%�#�&�������%��"��#&�!�����4%�)������%��,�����#!�,"���*����#�,���$��%�#����!�,���������&$������%������#&���������&���(�����������*�������������"�*��!���#&��%���*�#������,����"��"��$��#&���%�#(��%����%��������������0���������"���#�����%��������"��"�����0�����,����"��"�������#��)�"�*��!���#&��-#��,�����%�#'$��,������)�'��&��%����,�#����#����!��&�����!�����#�/�� ���.��#�)���,������'��#'������)��%�����'%��#���*�!������%�������&�*�������*����F���)�4�,,)$��%����������'%��"���)�������#���GHIJKLM�KNOKPQ� K



���������	
��������������������������������������������� �!�"���##����$%$#���������������������%������� ����%��&��"��'����������%��(%�������#"����'����)�$���������"�%������������ �������&������*�����$*���� ���&�����������������������*����������� ������������������������%��%�"��������������*���������)������" �(�%�������������*����������� �+���'�##���%�$�������������,�����������������������������������������������������$#��������" �������&���%��%�����#����%##�����"�����������%*��%#��%"��$�����%�" �������&���%������%�"�������%���������%##�����"����������%�"���%#�������&���%�������"����%�"�����#�*�����&����"�������������� ��������������#"��������%�����%�"��������#%����������)�����*�� ���%������%�%����'�%�����%��������%�������������������%�����������%�������%�"�����"��������*��!-.�� �����%�%����'��%��)��%����������������������%������������%*������"������#� �(����*��"�������/�����%�"�������������������������#� �!�"����)�����%*��%��%���%#)�#�&��0��%���%�")���%�����%��#�%������������*��������%��#��%�����������%��%���%#���������� ������/����������%��� �1�����"����)�"�����"����)�"�����"���� �2�����������%�����%�"�#%���������� ����%*��%��%�"��������%�������������%��%�����������������%�"����������������%��#���''����������%��� �(�%��"��������%����������������%� �2������%#&�%$�������&������������)�$�����������'��#��������"�" �3���#��������%����%�#���#������4���������##�$�������������� �5������%#&����%$����6���%��������'������/���� ����%������&�����7%��#����%��������������%���� 8�(�%����/����"�#%���%����� �(�%����/����%��%���������������%��%�"����������������"��� �9�����$�������� �5��&����������%��������%�������%�� �5���%*�����*�����%�&������"���%��������������������$�������������� ����%""�����������%�)�����%"�%��������%���������������%�������"�%�:;<���##����"�##%��)�%���������=�+%*��$�������������-�%������%$��%�������*�����=�:;<���##����$��&� �������&�����%*��%���%�&������" �9��������������'��������0�%*���>����� �5���%*��%���%�&������" �.�##������'�"�##%���������������"����0�%*���>������'�����������%� �.�##���� �9������%#&�.����%#�.����%���)������'��%##� �?�%���%��)�%�"���������&���"������������7%���%��%����������%���%��"�������������)�$�����%���%������������������$���������#&�"�������������)�������&�����%���������������������%�������������� �9���������������)��#&������"���)��#&�����%"��*������.����%#�)���%�������"������%�#�����"�������%�"���"�����&��������"��%�#���������#����)�$��������%$����'�*����%���%�������%������%�"��%�"�6�������������*����������"����$���#&����.����%#�.����%��� �5���%������������"��'���%�������%�"�����%������&�##��#&��''��'������ 8�@�������%��2A5�����%�����%��%�"��������%������%���=�61���� �B�##����� 8�5����������"��� �5��*���"����'%*�� �(��������%���%�&������"�%�"�������%�#���#������"��'�'��#����#�&���������%�����6#��������&���������8�$�����"�����'��#���%� �������&���%���������%���%*����������%�������%�����##����������&��������� ���C�DE��F��GH��.�&�=��I
GE�J��K�E�H��!�����%*���%�������%�"�#������"����%##�������������)����%���%����%�������������#��%�����������������%��������*���������� �������&���%�������%������%������$%$#����������#����������������������������'�%��%���������'�������%������$%�&��������� �(������%��$��������������%�%��������'#����������%�������������%��*��������%�������%##��� �.%�$��'�������������"����$��#��&����%���� �5������%������%�")�������&��������%��$�������������'�%��%�����������%���")����������������#"�$��%���%$#�����$�����%�������������*���$�"����*�#*�" �������#���%������*����'����������#��������������%����%���"�����%�"���������������������'��%��������������������%��*����'������%�"����%��%"�����������#%��%�"��%*���*���$�"�������"��'' ������#"��������%��15L����#"����#�"���������#���������%�����%���� ����%���%��"�'������������������%�������������������'�##��#�'����� �(�%��������$�����������%���������������"%������������#���������.%�$������$���"%��������"����$��#��&�"�%������%&���������%�������%���7�#�"��������%��%������������������������$#�����#"����%���������������%�#��%�"�$�����������%��*����������������'���%��%�����������������"������������� ����%������"%����������%��M%���������''�$��&������%�"�����#�����������������������"����� �(��������&��&�"����%##���''�����+�##���>%�������"���'���%��'������%�"�%�#����'����%����"�>%��%"��%�"�NOPQRST�RUVR;W� R



�������������	���
������
������������������������������
������������	���
��������������	�����������
�����������������������������������������
�		�������������������
������������������������������
�������������������������
������������������������������������������������	�����������������������������
���	���������������������
�������
�����	����������	��������������������
����
�����	����� !"#$% &'(#�)����*��+ ,,-#." /012(#���
����������	������	�����������	����������������	�����		��������������������
��	�
����������������	��3
���������
	������������������������������������������	��������
��������	���	
��
�	���������	��������������������		����
	���
��	����
����������������������	�	�����������������������
���������
����������������	�����		���������4�������������������������������
���	����������������������
�����������
����		���*������������	���������
�����������5������	����6��	��������������������	�����6��	���������*�7������������
�8�5�	������������
������
�	��������*�7����������
������
�	������������
�������	�*��
�����������	�����*��9 &"#+ -%1/(##)��	��	��������
��8�5������
�	�����������������
���
�������������������
���
��
���������������		�����������������	�����+ ,,-#." /012(#����������������	�����
������������	����	�������
	���������������
�����������������
��������	���
���
��������
�������������	���������	�����������	�����������
���)��	�������������������	�����������
	����������	�����������
���������������������������
����
�����������������������
���
�
�������������������������������������������
	��������3�
����	��������������������	��������
�	�����������������
	��������
�����
����������
�����������������������
	�����
�	���������������
�����������������
��������	�����������������8�	��������
������	������������������������
��������
��	��������
���������
�	���	������
����	���������
�	����������������	�����
�����������������	���
��	�����������	�������������������������������������	����������������������
������������
�����������������	����������������������������������������	�������������������������������	��	���������������	��	�����������
��������	����������������������������������������	���������
���������������	����������
���	�������
��	������������������������������
���		��������	���
���������	�������
�������������
�������		����������
���	����������	���������������������������
������������	�����������������������������5�����
�����������	�������������������������
�������������	���������������4���*����������	���
���������:
����������	�����	����������������
��������������
����������������������������������������������������	�
����
�������;�������	����
�������������������������	��	�����������	���
�����;������������
��	�����������������		�������
����
����	��
�����������	��������������
��	������
��������
�	����
����
��������
�����������������*�<���4�������������
	���������������������
����
����
�*�<���:��������������������
���	�
������
������������������������������������
����	���������������������
���	���������
���������	����������	�	��������������	�����������������������������������������������	������������	��������������	��������	�����������	������
��
����������������
�	���	���������=���	����	����������
���������������	�����������	�����
���	���	�����������	��	�������
��������������������	��������������=���5
���	�������������������	����������������������
�����	������������������������������������	���)���������������
	�
����
�	���������
������	������������������������������	������������	��	�����������������������������		������	��;���������	�������������������������������������������������������	�������
���	�����������
���
	�������
�	�������
�	����
	�����������������������	�������	���		������������	���������������������
�����������	������)�������������������������������������
��	��;��������	��������	������������������������������������	�����������������������������������������������	����������	���
��
���	���������
���	���������	�������������
��������������������������������
��	������
����	������������	��������������	�������
��������	�����
���	��)��	������������	�����������������
�����������������	�����������
������
�����>�����?@ABCDE�CFGCHE� C



����������	
�����	��������
	�	������������������������������	���������	���������������	�����������������	��	���	�����	��������	���������	������	�����	��	��������������	�����	�����	��	�������������	���	�����������	���������������	��	���������������	���������������	���������������������������	���
	�	����	��	���������������������������������������	���������������������������������	���
������������		������		������	�	��	���������	�����	�	���������������	��	��	��������	��	�������������������	�����	���	�����	�
�	���	����������	��	�����	�����	��	��	��������������	��	�����	��	�����	���
����������������	������� !"#$%&!'($)�*����	�������
��+�����������	�������	�������,���%-!./01$23'4501/$)��������������	���������������	�����	�������
	�����������������������	������	������	�����		����	����
��	����������
���	������	��	���	��������������������������������������������	
��	���6�����������������	�������	������������6���	����	������������������������
�����	�	��������	�����������������������
	��������	����������	������������������	����
	���
	��	��������
	���	���������������������	�������������	
��	����	��������	����6�����������������	��������������������������	����������������	��������������������������������	��������������������	�	�����	��	�����������	���������	�������	�����	��	�	���������������������	��	���
������������	�����	�����	������	��	����������	���������+�����������	�	��	���	�����7������	����
��	��	�	����������������������������	����	��������������	���	�	����	��������������������������������	��*���	��������	������	�	�����������������������	�	������	���������	������������������������������8������������������	����
������	�������
���������	����������������	���	�������������
����	����	��	����
����	����	���
�������9
	����������������������		����	���������������������	��	�������������	�����������������	���
�	�������
�	�������	���		���	��	����������������		�����������
�	���7��������������������	���������	��	�����	���������������	���
�	�������
�	�������	���������������������	������������	����	��	��+����	���������	��	�����	����������������	�������:;<��
������������� !"#$%&!'($)�*�����=�����,��>#-&!1/$?31@A$$��������
�����������������	��	��	�������	�	�������
	��	��	����	����+B����������
	���������	�����
����	�����6������,��%-!./01$23'4501/A$�������	�����������	����������������	��������������
�����
	����	�������	����������������		�����	������	���+B������	���������	��	�����������	��	���	�������	���
����	�����������	����������	��	���	���	�	�������	���+B����	����������	������
���������	��	���	����������	��������	������C�������������D��������������������������	�����	����
��	���	���������������������������������7��������
	��	��������������������
��������7��
���������������������������� !"#$%&!'(A$$*������	������������������	�����������	�����$�2EF$/3G'HGG301$!1/$"0I#J��%-!./01$23'4501/A$$����������	����������	����	��	����
����	�	���������������������	�����������	���� !"#$%&!'(A$$*���������������������,�*���������������	������������������������������
�����,�*�����K�,�� LMNOPQR�PSTPUV� P



����������	��
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� !"#$�����������%��������������&�����������������������������������������������������$������������������%�������������������������������$�'��������(��(���������������������������������������((��������������%����������������$�)���������������������������������*����������������$�+�����%�&%�����&%�������,���������������*�������$���-�.���/�01
��2%��,��������*�������������������������������*������&���$�������������������������������������,����&���*��������������,������������,����������������������������������������&������������������������������������$��3��/����45�6�7�)�����������8�����������&������,������������(��������������&������9��-�.���/�01
��:��������&����������������������������������*�����������������&������$���3��/����45�6
����������8������%�,����������&������,�������������������%�����������;�����������(������������������������������������������������������������%������<��������������������������������������������������&�����������������(�������&���������&���������������&�������������������������%����������%���������������(������������8����(������������������������8�����������=�����&%�������*�������$>�+�����&��������������������������������������8����(������,�������������������������������������&���������%���������&������������������������(��(�����������������������$������?����@50A	���
��<�������*����������&���������������������������������������������$�:���������������&�������������9��3��/����45�6
��:������������������B�������$�<�����������������&��������������������������������������������*��������������������������������$�<�����������������������$�����5���C�A�D���7�E�����������������������,���������������,�������%���������������,����������%�������������������� !!��������F������������������������������������(��&�����&���$�������&�����&�������������������$$$��3��/����45�6�7�:��������������������$����5���C�A�D���7�2�������9�2%���������������������������� !!��������F���������������������������������������&���$���3��/����45�6
��E���$����5���C�A�D���7�������&����$$$�����������������������������������$��-�.���/�01
��������%����������������������������$����8�������%���,���������������������������*���$�)����������*�����������������&���$�������������������������*��������������������$������������������������������������������������*�������((������������*����=��>�������������(���������&����*��������������G�����������������������,��������������*��������������������������$�)����������(��(������������*��������������������(��������$�'��������������*��9�������������9�2%��$�'����������((����9�H�*�$�2%��,�������������������$�:������������������������������������$��� IJKLMN �MOPMQ!� M



�����������	
���������������������������������������������������������� ��!���"���������#���������������$�������#!%%���������������$�������#������ �����������#����������#��!���%���!#�������������!%����������"���������#%���$!�&�'�������%�����#�����������������������#����������������#��������������"�������������#��!�&�(����)#�������������������!���%���!#�����!%���������&��������$����#�������������#�����# ��������"������*+,�������# ���)���������%%"����������#���%��!"#������������������������#�������#����������%��������#��������������#��������������������������������$�#�������������#�����#�������������$���$$������%��%���������"�������$�������#��!� ���������������������#���%�##������"&�-!� ������������������"���"�����#��������������������������%!�������������!��#�����%��#��������#����������������#�������� �����!#����)�������������������$��������������&�.�� �����������������*+,���������������#������������%!#��������#������������������$�������������#�$������" ����"�"���#&������#�������#!�%��#�����������#���$�!#���"�������������$����&�(������#��"���������������������� �����!#��������#����������$����#���������������������/!#����011�������$�#���%�����)#��������$����&�(������$���������#�$�������#��%��%�������������������"���"����������������$������!������������������$�%!��������2��� �����������)#�#���%��������#�������������������#�&�(���)#������������##!�#����&���)#���%�������������#���������$����&��3�4�
�5	6
�	
�7�.���"�!����������������������������������������8!��������������������������������%�!��������"�!)��������������!�9��:�;��3<�=>�7�?���������������������� ���)#�����������&�������������	
�7�@"���������#�������$�����������$����������!���������������!���%���!#�������������!%�������#�$!����������������������A,B ����#��#����������#���!��������%��#��������#�$�����������������# ���������#�����%��������# �����������2�����# ������C��!��������������������# ����������D# �$�����!���! �*+, ��������������#%���#���)#����!%#���� ���������������������&���������������$��������#����%�������$��������������$�����������������������#��� ������!�����������#��!�&�(���)#��"�������&��:�;��3<�=>���*��"�!�������#�����"�#�"����������"�!����������������������)���%%���������%���#��������)��%��#�������!��������#������������!%������"�!���#����������������������������#����$����"������������������#��#!#���������#����������������&�.���"�!����"����������9�������������	
���E�#&��:�;��3<�=>���F������������#�����9���" ���"�$!��������#�!##���9��3�4�
�5	6
�	
���F�������������������$��������������������9�������������	
���(������#��������!���������������!������#���������#���������#&���3�4�
�5	6
�	
���,�����������#��������!���������������!������#�������������" �������&�-!� �"�!�������#�������������������#�����)#�/!#������&��)����������������&��)��#���"�����/��������&��:�;��3<�=>���*����������������������������#�����&�.��������������������������������������9��������������	
�7�F������#��!�&��:�;��3<�=>�7�.������#�����$����9�*����&�.������#���%%�#��9�(��&�@������������#&�?��)#��������&�(���)#�GHIJKLM�KNOKP1� K



�������������	
����
	������������������������������� ��!"��#�$ �$%��%����$���&#%'�$�#$ �����%�#$����'%���!"���()��*+,�-'" "'.���/������'%���!"���()��)),�#$ � �#-'$0�#��"'�#%'�$������ !�����!"���()��(���1���2�3�4�����5�67��8�9�:;�<=��>7�	=
�����?�@A>�
�
��=B���?�
�
��=B��C��7��D:��	���EF
�G���9�H�7�B��;��7���?
	��B�=I	��B��7	�C�C=�
�J����K�8���L	=B���CC�M���=���DD�B	����7����B����7��D�B�=��
�	���B�
���C��7��	���=����D=���BB�B�=�D�=�	����C��7�����B�=I��	���D�=
	��D=��=�
��L�=��7�B��M7���=��:�C�
	�	�=�M	�7��7��D=��=�
;��7��M	�?�	C�����=?��DD=�I�B���B
�����
�:����C�D�=
	�B;�����=���9�NO;��������:��	���?��������=����=�I��:�����C:�?�M	�?�	C�����B�=I��	����67��C:�?	���	B�?	I	?�?����M�����7���=���	P��	����CC�=	����7��D�=
	��C�=�B������?��7��?	I	B	���M	�7�QRO��C��7��D=����?B���	���?	=����9�����7��?	I	B	��;�SRO��C��7��D=����?B�������:�	�	P�?��9��7���=���	P��	��������I�=��?
	���TD��B�B���?�URO�=���	��?��9��7���=���	P��	���������BD�������?	I	B	����DD=�I�?�D=�V���B;��B�M�FI��8	�?��C�B����M	�7�H:B�	����?�W�=9���?���C�M��C��7��C�=
�=�D=�B�����	��B����	�7����=��?9��67��M	�?�	C�����=?��B8�?�C�=�M�9B�C�=�:B����=�D�=���7��D�B	�	I��	
D���B��C��7�B��?����=B�	����
�=��B�=�	�7�C�=M�=?�
����=��E��7	�8��7����7���7����B��7���M�F=����	���������8����:�����	�7��
�I��:B���B��D����B�=��������
D�	B7	����7���������X���=��D=�D�B	������B�=	8�������?���?�I��:��B���	����C�=:����7�������M�?��=�:DB����D=�D�B���������=�����M�9����?	B�=	�:������B�=I��	���D�=
	�B��Y:=�	������	B�������=	C9��7����7�9����?	B�=	�:��?�	�	�	���9��7=�:�7��:��	�������7��7	�7��	??�=��X����B��M����������=	C9��7����7�=���������9��������B����M	?�����B�=I��	���D�=
	��D�=�BD��	�B��67	=?;�	C�M��7�I��
�=���7�������=	C���B��B���C�=��7��B�
��BD��	�B;��7�����B�=I��	���D�=
	��7��?�=�
:B��B��������B	�����B��B����67�9�M�:�?�F���:��
��	����9�����
:��	D�����9�M��D����=�=	C���B��B��B��<�I	���C�=M�=?;�M��D=�D�B���7�������	���=�B����=��?�����7��URO��C��7��=���	��?�=�I��:�����=�Z:	=�?�C�=�:B�����D=�V���B��7������B�=I��	���C:�?B���

	���?�����DD=�I��D=�V���B�
:B�����=�
	���?�����7��?	I	B	���M	�7	��UR�?�9B��C���	���	�I�	��?�	�B���?��C�[R��A�?��7	=?;��7���=���	��?�=�I��:��
:B������TD��?�?�����DD=�I�?�D=�V���B�M�=���=��BC�==�?�����7��?	I	B	����9�J�D��
��=�SB�;��M��9��=B�C����M	����������	��;���?��7��FB����	
D�=�����?	B�	���	����X�FI��������=��8	���	���B���

	���?���?�BD�����67	B�M�:�?��7�������?�����M�:B�����=��8�	���B����:���BD����C:�?B��=��=��BC�=�?�C:�?B�����7��?	I	B	����A����7��D=�V���B�M�:�?�����DD=�I�?�:D�C=����M	�7���B	���?���I�=�B7�����X�F���	�I�	���C�=��7��������M�=8������
D������7��D=�V���;����������7��C:�?B�M	�7	���7��UR�?�9B;���?��7����7��M�=8�M	������B�7�?:��?���?���
D����?��X	�7��7	B�D=���BB��7����;��7��	�C�=
��	���M�:�?����D����?�	���7��?	I	B	��B�?�����B����?�����M�:B����B7�M��7�B��C:�?B�C:��9��TD��?�?����7�9��=��67���BB��	���?�D=�V���B�	���:=����:������B�=I��	���=�D�=���7���M��D=�I	?������7�����=?���?�����7��D:��	���67	B�:D?���;����D=���BB;�M�:�?����:���9�=�D������7�����?�C�=��=�:DB����D=�I	?��:B����:��7��C�=�?:�?����	�C�=
��	���	���7�����:���=�D�=���<�I	���������B�
��	���=����D=���BB�:D?���B�M	�7�	BB:	�����?�=�?��
	���I�:�7�=B��X�F=��?�I���D	���B�
�����7�����9����7��D�:B������=��=��8���?�	BB:��I�:�7�=B������=��	����9��67	B�M	���D=�I����D�D�=�I�:�7�=B�C=�
���	���
	BD����?;�?���9�?;��=����?	���������=�D=	���?��W=�:DB�
:B��D=�I	?���7����
���C��7��B:���BBC:���	??�=;��7��M	��	����	?��
�:��;���?��7��?�����C��7���I����M7�=���7��D�=
	��M�B��:��	���?�M	�7	��SR�?�9B��C��7��C:�?	����I�����EC��7��B:���BBC:���	??�=������B��������:B����D�=
	���DD�=�:�	�9;��7�9�����?�B	������	���������7�=�D�=B����B�������B��7�����B�=I��	����=�:D�	B����	C	�?��67��M	��	����	?��
�:���7�B�F��?��=��B�?���?�����CC	?�I	��	B�B	���?��7����7�9�I�=	C9��7����7�9��=������D=�C	�	���C=�
��7���BB	��
�����EC��BB	���?��������7�=�D�=B��;��7���=�:D�7�B�SR�?�9����B:�
	������
D�����I�:�7�=�=���	D������7��?	I	B	���M	�7��7��:D?���?�	�C�=
��	����\�T�;�M��D=�D�B��������=	C9��:=��:==����D=���	����7����7��?	I	B	���M	�������	BB:�������B�=I��	���D�=
	��:��	���7��I�:�7�=�	�C�=
��	���	B�=���	I�?����	=��9;��7��]̂ _̀aNb�acdaUR� a



������������		�		�
��
��������������������
����������	��
����
������������������	����������
��	������������������������������	�
����������	���
��������������	����
������������������		�		����������������������	���	���������������	�	����
�������������	�	���	������
�	��
������������	����
�����	���
�����
��������������	�
	��������������
������	�������	���
�����������	����
�����	�
	���
��	������
������	������������������������	���������
��
����	���
������������������������	������
�������������������
������������������
��	�
	������������		�����������
���
������
�����	�
	�
�������������������������	������
�������������	���
�������	����������	�
	��������������	���	������
��
��� �	�����
���	�!�	�����������	�	������������������������
������������	����������������"�#�������
��������#���������������
�������	��$������	�������
����
������������#���������������
������	�
������
���
�
�������������
�����������	������
������
���������
������������
�	��������
�����������
��������	�	��������	���������������
�����������������������������	���
��������%�
��
�������
�������������
�����������
�����������#������%�
����	��
���������������
����������������
��
������&�	�������'((�������	�
���
�����������
����
��)����������	)���������
��
���������
�������#�������
�����
������
�������������*����
�	�����
�����
������	������������������#������
��&���� (+�������	�����	�
�����������������	��������,���	����
����������!���	���������
������-(+��
������	������
����	��
�������	�	�������������������#�����������������#������
��&����
	������������������������	���������
�	�����!���	��
�����	��
����
��	����������	���
����������
����	����%�
��������
!�������������������
�������	��������.)*-)**��
���
���������������
	����������
�
������������
�����	��������	������������#������������	���	��	�������������������
���#����������������	���
�����!�	���
����
������������	���
������/�����	�����
����
�������
	����	���
����������	�
�
��&����������
������������������	������
	�������0�������
���	�
���
������	���������������
�����������	����������	�����	������	�����
���������������������	�
��������
	���������/���������
	�������
����
	�
�������������������
�����	�
����
��������������������������������
�����������������
��������������������
�	����������������	�
������������������������������
��������	������������
����������������
����
��������������������������������1$2������		�
	����������������	�
��������
	������������	�����������	���	�������
�����&�������#��������
���
�����
����������
�������		����������	�	��������������	�
�����������������������	��������	������
��
���������	���
����
�����������	��������������������		���������
��
������	�������������
�	�
�
�������
�������������������		��"�#�����������������
�������
���������	�����
	�
������������������
������������
������������	����������������	���
�������
�
��������		��	����������
��������������
�������������������������	�������	���
���3
�����
���������
��
�������������
���	���
��	����������������
�	������������
�������#����������
�������	������������������
�����!�	���
������	���������
�������������������
���3#���
�����
��	���������
�������������������������#�����������
�����
���	��������������������	�
����
���������������������	������
��
���������������������
�����������
�	����������������������������	�������������	����
��������������	�������		��	���
���������
	��������	��		���������	���������������	���������������
������������	���������
�����
������
��������������	��������������������
���������!���	���������	���������!���	����
����	����
��
�����
������
������������������������������
����������!���	���	�����������������������	�����������.(�
�	���	��
����4(�
��������������������5�����������������
�����
�����
������
�������������������������!���	���	������#�������������
�	���������������	�����������	���	���0�������������
���
��������
����������������
����������
���������
���������������
������	�
	����������
��	������!�	��
���
����	����������
�	���������������	�����
����
�������
������	����&�������	�����	�����
���
����
	�������6����������������	��
����������!���	���������
��������������#��������	��������
�
�
	������
��������������������#��������
��������������������
����#�����
��	�����	�
���������	�������������������������������	���
����������
���
��
������
��������	���������������������
��
�����������������$��
�����
����������������	����
���	���������
��
�����
�����������������������	��
����
�����������
������������
�����������/����������	������������������������������������������	��
�����������	���������#�������������.)*-)**������������	��
������
�����
�������������	�������0������	��	���������������
��������
���	�789:;**�;<=;.(� ;



�����������	��
�������	������������������	������������������
�����������������	��������	�����������������������
�������������������������	��������		��������������������������
�������	��	������������������������������
����������������
��������
���
��������������������������������������������������������������������	�������������������������
�� ����������
������������������		����������������
����������	�����������������������������������������	��������!���������	��		��
�������
��������������������������������
��������������������
�������	��
�������	�����������
���������������������������������
����������	������������������������������������"�������������������		�����������	���������������������������
������������������������� ������
���
������������	�������#�����������!��������$%&'()*%+,(-�.��������������������������/�01�0����1��23'456784(9:7;(5<'(=>?@��?:%6A(B%3CD(�.�����!�������
������E������������������������������������������	�����������
�������������1�!�������!���� ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��������������������������������������������� �
����� ���������������������� ������������������������������F'88G(H7<8478D(�I������ ���������#������������ ����JKL�0-M���
��������������������������������������������
�������������������������������������
���������������������#���������� ���
�������
�������������������$%&'()*%+,(-�N���1��O'8'()7%:P;%8D((�����������������������������������������	����������������/�0�� �������������������
������������	�������	����������������/�0��!�����������������������F'88G(H7<8478(-�I������������������������ �������������������1��O'8'()7%:P;%8(-�I��������������
������������	���������������������������������������������������
��������F'88G(H7<8478D(�#��������������������������������������������� ����������������������� ��������		������������Q��������������
���������������������������������������/�0������������O'8'()7%:P;%8(-����������������������������������������		�������������������/�0��������		���������������������������� �������������������������������
������������H34568(R<%8878(-�#���/�0���������������������������
������������	��������������������������������	������������������	�������������������� ������
������������������������������������������������������������� ������!���������
���������������������������������������
������ �������LL�����MK�	��������#��������������������������������������	���������������������������������� ������������������#���/�0����������	���������������
������������������������������������������������������������������� ������!����������	�����$%&'()*%+,(-�.������������������������1��� STUVWJX�WYZWXK� W



����������	��
�������������������������������������������������� �������������������������������!�����!�"����#$���� ��������%����&'''�(���(���)���� ������������������������(�����#$�����"��(���������� ������������(��*����+��"��������,�-���*��.#���)�������(��/���������0*�����������*������)�������(���*��.#���������,�1�*���������������2�,�/��*����������������#����0)�����*����#(�����#��������� ��#��� ��$�����������*�����������������������0*��.#������������������������3�45��6�78�9�:�� ����+������;#����������������#����(�,�1�������+��� ��(�������(������1����+��:������1����)���� ���"��-�����#�����������<=5	>���	�?��@�>�5�A=B6�7C���D�@@5�>	�?��@�>�5�A=B6�7C��3���5��E5	>
��/���������������������)�����FGH��0����:������1�����0��������I����H�����+������J��.�(��H����������� ��������K#���:����L�#���������0�(��������������$��.�(����(����������������0� �#���.#��������������� ������+������$$�����"���"������#���������(�����+������$�����������#����(���"��;#����)����#(�������� ������������M$���1�*+��"�����"�������������������������)���������)���(�����+������$��.�(�������#���#�������������-����������������������������I���� �������������)����I�������������I��������������#���)����������$�(�����0����#������I������������������������������#������+������������������������)����������$������������� ����+��$#��NO'����#�������������"�(��������"����������(����������������������G����K#���:����L�#��������� �������������(��������������#��$$��+��������(�������������$#��)�����"������:�+�������-������#���3�45��6�78�9�-������#����P��Q��=	>5�	5��9�-�����#��������0���$������������$����������+�������)� �����)���!�)����0�(����������������0�.#��� ����������������FGH�)�����������������������#����"+��#������������*��������� ��������0�������$����"#��0����$�(������$��(�����-������#�)�����������������������������������������������H��(�����������(�����+������$�������#������������M$���#���� ���#$$����������+�����*����(��������������0�������������������$��������������#�#���������������FGH��������#�����+����������((�$������(�����������������+�������(�������������������#������������������������$��������������� ��������������$���������$����"����G���#������������"�#����������������� ����������$�������������������������+��#���������#��;#�����I��������������������I�����"#����*��#��;#��������� ������0������������������������������$#��"�(�����������#������"���)��� �����)��������+����(����������������$��(���������0����� �����)��0�*�����#���"��������I���������#�� �����)��������+����(��1���#$$������������(����������������� �*��������)#��)��������$$���#��������"���$�����)�����1���$$��(�������#�����������������������#���3�45��6�78�9�-������#��-���*����������(�������(������:�� ����+������(��������)��������FGH,�RM(�$��)���!������S���,��D�@@5�>	�?��@�>�5�TUDC��V5�5�����W@���9�1��������$��"���� ���������$������$������������0�*���#$$�������������#���+��������XY��0*+�����������#��#$���������#����� �����$���������+��"����(#����� ���������*���������%Z�XY������)���#����� ������(�#$����)������ ����$��������O'Y��)�����������������������$������$�����-����M$��������������[\]̂_X̀�_ab_Z'� _



����������������	
�������
���������
����������������
��������	���������������
���������������������
����������������������
���	����	
����	�������	�����������������	����	
��	����������������������������������	��������	��������������������������������������	���������������������������������
����
��	�����������	���������������
���������	
���������������	��������������������	
����
�����������	����
��������������������
�����	
�����	��������������
����������������������	�����	����������������������	�������	��������������	��������������	��������	������������������
��������
����	����������������������������������������� ����	������	
��	������������	������	��	���
��������!"#$%&'()%*(%+&�,����������������������� ����	���������	�������������	������������	
�������-����	��	��
�������
��������������������������	��������������������
�����.���	
�������������������������������	���	������������	������	�/���������������	������	���	��������������������������������	� �������������������	����0	��������������������������������	���������	����
�������� ������	��������������	���������������		��������� ���������������������	�������12%2&!($"34$%&/�������	������������	���������������5�6���!"#$%&'()%*(%+&�7	�����������	���	���	������������ �����/�������	��5�6���
����������������������
����	���	�������/���	��	���� ������	������������,����8	�����������8�����9	���	���:2";$%3&<#%=+&�>�������	�����������������������,���������������������������
���	���������	��������	���������/�� ���������	���������������
�����������������	���	���������	���	���	�����
�������������������,������������?$@2&!;$AB+&�>�����������	��� �����	��	��������� ����12%2&!($"34$%&/�C������������������������� �����	��	����������������������������������?$@2&!;$AB+&�������	���������	�D�E�����	
���F ����������
�����GG��H������8
��������	
����
����IJK&3#*AL**#(%&$%3&@(M2N��OIPOPQR?&ISTR&JURV?URVWQ&IRORJTXV1&WYR&KRIWXZXKJWXPV&IR:XR[&KPUUXWWRR&SV?RI&I\]̂+_&JV?&I\]̂+]_̀&RIIPI&KPUUXWWRR&SV?RI&I\]̂+]à&[JT<+XV&JKKRQQ&J?:XQPIb&KPUUXWWRR&SV?RI&I\]̂+]\&JV?&WYR&:JIXJVKR&KPUUXWWRR&SV?RI&I\]̂+]̂��U$"M#%&!L*)4$%&/�������������������������������������������	�����	�������������	�������������������������	�������	�����	������	��	������	
������c
� ����9
����������
��	���
������������������������	�	�����������	������������	���	�����������������������������������
���������������������������������������������		 ����������������������������	�����
�������	
����������������������������	��	��������������	����������
��������������������������	�����������������	���������
���������������������		���������������������������	
�����������	
�������
���������0	���	��	
�������������������	���	�����������
����
���	��� �����	�����		 ������������	
��������	��	��������������	� ������	
�������	�������������������������������	��	��������������	
���������
�����������������������������	��� ���������������	�������������������������	�����������
������	�����	���������
��������������������������	�������������������������������defgh�i�hjkhl�� h



������������	
���
�����	��������������������
���������	
�����������������	���������������������������������	��	
�������������	������������������������������������	�����	��	
�
�������������������������
�	��	�����������������������������������������������	���	��	
���
������������	�������������������������������	����������	������� ���������������	�����������	����	��������	���	
����������	�����	�������������������������������	�������������������������	���
������������������������
�����������������
���������������������������	���������������	!����������������	�����������	����	��������	���	
����������	����������������	���������������������������������	���
�������������	���������������������	
����������������������	�����������������������������������	
�����
������	�����	�������������������������������
��	�����������������	��������������������������	
������
�����	������"������������������	
����������	�����������
����	�����������������	�������#����������
������������������	�����������$%&��
������	�����������������	
�
������	���������������������������������������	
����	������������
��������
��	��������	��������������������	��������������	����'�����������������
�����������	
������������()&�
�	������%���������������	���������������������������������	���
����������	���������������
����������
��������
������	��	
��*�����
��	���	��������	����������
������	����������������	
����
��	
�����
������	�������������#������
�������������������������������������������������������
	������������������	�+�
��	��������������������������������	
����������,�����������
�����������#����������
�����������$%&������	����������������������������������	
����	���������
������	�
�������	��������	��������	������������
������	������	������������	���	
���	
��	��������������
�����
�����	������������������������
����������������������	
���
�����������������	��	������������������������������������	���	
����������	���
�����	���������	
��
����������	���������������
����������
��������
������	��%����	����������������������������	
�������������#�����������
�����������	��	�������������������	���������	
�������
�������������������������������������	
����	���������
������	�
�������	��������	�����	��	�	�����������	
��'��������������	����������������������	���	�����������	���������������)��	���������������������	������������������	�������	�+�
��������������������������������������������	���%����������������	����������������	��������������������
��������
������	��-���	���������������������� ��������
��	������$%&��	
���������������������������	
����	���������
������	�
�������	����
�����������������������������������������	������������
�
���������������	���	�����	��	������������������	�	�������
�����
�����	���������������������	������	
����	�������������	
������	�����.��������������������
������	�����
������������������	������������	
�������������������������	
��	��������������	��������
���/01234506783����	�������9	��'������	�:�%��
�	���������	�������	����
���#�����	�����	��������	���;<2=>?@A=3BC@D3>E23FGHI���;<2=>?@A=3BC@D3>E23J<K5?6I���H@DD2A>=3BC@D3>E23J<K5?6I���H@DD2A>=3BC@D3>E23FGHI���FGH3L?=6<==?@A30AL31@>2I� MNOPQ�R�QSTQ�,� Q



���������	
���������������������������������������������������� �!"��#��$�%�&��'��(�)����������*�+����(�������,�)��*�-������.������/0�"���12
�"22�� �!"��#��$3�4��
������ 5""0
�6���7�1��"���0�889:;�<==�� >?@ABCD�BEFBCD� B



 
 

 
 
 
 

Southeast Regional Advisory Council 
John Wesley Powell River History Museum 

1765 E. Main 
Green River, Utah 

 
     May 9, 2018 

 
 

Motion Summary 
 
 
Approval of agenda and minutes 
MOTION: To accept the agenda and minutes as written 
 Passed unanimously 
 
 
Wild Turkey Recommendations and Rule Amendments 
MOTION: To ask the Wildlife Board, as an action log item, to evaluate the 
timing of the spring limited-entry turkey season so that it straddles the strutting 
seasons for Merriam’s and Rio Grande turkeys, providing equal opportunity to 
hunt both sub species 
 Passed 10-0 (1 abstention) 
 
MOTION: To accept the remaining Wild Turkey Recommendations and Rule 
Amendments as presented, with the exception of adding a rimfire rifle option for the 
fall turkey hunting season 
 Passed 8-3 
 
 
Coyote Bounty Program Amendments - Rule R657-64 
MOTION: To recommend that the Wildlife Board ask the Utah State Legislature 
to amend the Mule Deer Protection Act by removing the bounty on coyotes in the 
general predator control program, but leaving the targeted predator control 
program in place to better control coyotes where doe-to-fawn ratios are below target 
goals due to coyotes 
 Failed 2-8 (1 abstention) 
 
MOTION: To accept the Coyote Bounty Program Amendments as presented 
 Passed 9-2 
 
 
Mineral Mountain Bighorn Sheep Management Plan 
MOTION: To table consideration of the Mineral Mountain Bighorn Sheep 
Management Plan 
 Failed 5-6 (1 abstention) 
 



 
 

 
 
 
 

MOTION: To accept the Mineral Mountain Bighorn Sheep Management Plan as 
presented 
 Passed 6-5 (1 abstention) 
 
 
Proposed Rule Amendments to Conservation and Sportsman Permits - Rule R657-
41, Wildlife Expo Permits Rule R657-55, and Drawing Application Procedures Rule 
R657-62 
MOTION: To accept the Proposed Rule Amendments to Conservation and 
Sportsman Permits as presented 
 Passed unanimously 
 
 
Proposed Rule Amendments Repealing the Certification Review Committee under 
R657-3 and R657-53, Error Committee under R657-50, Walk-in Access Advisory 
Committee under R657-56 and the Variance Committee under R657-57 
MOTION: To accept the Proposed Rule Amendments Repealing the Certification 
Review Committee under R657-3 and R657-53, Error Committee under R657-50, 
Walk-in Access Advisory Committee under R657-56 and the Variance Committee 
under R657-57 as presented 
 Passed unanimously 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 
 
 

Southeast Regional Advisory Council 
John Wesley Powell River History Museum 

1765 E. Main 
Green River, Utah 

 
May 9, 2018  6:30 p.m. 

 
 

Members Present               Members Absent 
Trisha Hedin, Chairwoman · Sportsmen 
Kent Johnson, Vice Chairman · Public at large 
Sue Bellagamba · Non-consumptive 
Lynn Siterud · Elected official 
Jeff Christensen · Agriculture 
Jace Guymon · Public at large 
Eric Luke · Sportsmen 

Darrel Mecham · Sportsmen 
Darren Olsen · USFS 

Kirk Player · Public at large 
Helene Taylor · Agriculture 
Todd Thorne · Public at large 
Dana Truman · BLM 
Gerrish Willis · Non-consumptive 
Chris Wood, DWR Regional Supervisor 
 
 
Total public attendance 
7 
 
Others in attendance 
DWR personnel: 15 
Kevin Albrecht, Wildlife Board Member 
 
 

 
 
1) Welcome, RAC Introductions and RAC Procedure 
  -  Trisha Hedin, RAC chairwoman 
 
Trisha Hedin: OK, we’re going to get started. We’re a few minutes over, so we’re going 
to get going. Thank you for coming. If you’re new to the RAC procedure, please make 
sure that if you have a comment on an agenda item, there are some comment cards in 
back, and you would fill those out regarding the agenda item that you want to speak to 
and bring them up to either Chris or Morgan. So thank you for coming.  
 
 



 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
2) Approval of Agenda and Minutes 
 
Trisha Hedin: We will begin tonight by doing approval of the agenda and the minutes 
from the last meeting. Do I have a motion on that? Or questions or comments? 
 
Eric Luke: I make a motion that we approve the agenda and minutes.  
 
Trisha Hedin: We have a motion by Eric Luke to approve the agenda and the minutes. Do 
I have a second on that?  
 
Kent Johnson: I’ll second it.  
 
Trisha Hedin: And a second by Kent. All in favor. Looks unanimous and it passed.  
 
 
VOTING 
Eric Luke made a motion to approve the agenda and minutes as written 
 Seconded by Kent Johnson 
 Motion passed unanimously 
 
 
 
3) Wildlife Board Update 
  - Trisha Hedin, RAC Chairwoman  
 
Trisha Hedin: So next we have an update and that is by me. So I’m going to try to 
concentrate just on the items that we were somewhat concerned about, so this is from the 
last meeting. We were somewhat concerned about the numbers on the Central 
Mountains/Manti, and those numbers were reduced by 200, so that passed. We also were 
concerned about keeping the Pine Valley unit at the 2017 numbers, and that passed 
unanimously. One of our big concerns, and I went to the meeting with quite a bit of 
information and tried to really put that to task, was the Division recommended and 
increase on the limited-entry Book Cliffs mule deer tags, increasing them by 35. They did 
go up by 15 in the end, and that passed. Kevin came in and proposed a motion to reduce 
the Division’s recommendation, and it did come down by quite a bit.  
 I’m trying to think of anything else that was of interest to us. We retained the elk 
permits on the Manti at 2017 numbers, and then the other was the sheep permits. There 
was a move to decrease them from three to two, and that passed unanimously. I think that 
was the major concerns. Are there any questions on that? So we pretty much got what we 
wanted, except for the Book Cliffs tags. And I think we made a compromise there. So at 
this point, we’ll have the regional update.  
 
 
 



 
 

 
 
 
 

4) Regional Update 
  - Chris Wood, Regional Supervisor 
 
Chris Wood: Good evening. Just to give you an update on what we’re doing as an agency 
the last few months and in the next couple of weeks. These are some great pictures, by 
the way, that Morgan took. So if nothing else, you’ll be looking at some great new 
pictures, too. They’re not just stock photos that we sometimes use. These are great new 
photos. So our Aquatics Section has a big project going on starting next week. It’s been 
going on for a year or two now, but in Range Creek, we’ve treated that creek with 
rotenone, and we’re stocking that creek with native trout. So we’ll be on two different 
properties in the next two weeks, working with the Preston Nutter Ranch and also Butch 
and Jeanie Jensen and stocking these cutthroats on their stretches of creek on those lands, 
and also there will be some public land where these native cutthroats get stocked. So 
that’s a really exciting, kind of high-profile project that we’re working on with these 
private landowners and with the BLM, too. We also have something called Conservation 
Days happening with the U.S. Forest Service in the upcoming weeks. It’s a day where the 
middle schoolers in Emery County go up to Huntington Canyon and learn about wildlife 
biology and the creek ecology and do some fun, interactive, hands-on experiences with 
our biologists. And then it’s that time of year, we do this twice a year. It’s our gill net 
surveys. Tomorrow, I believe is the 10th, right, we’ll be at Scofield, and next week we’ll 
be at Joes Valley, and if anyone would like to attend either one of those, you’re more 
than welcome to come. So we put out gill nets the day before, on the 10th and the 16th, 
we’ll pull those gill nets, and it’s kind of a snapshot of what’s happening in the reservoir. 
So species composition, size of fish, and from that we can see whether our management 
strategies are working or not. As you remember, Scofield has a new management plan. 
We’ve invited those who were on the management team to that event, so that will be kind 
of fun for them to see whether—and the answer is, it is—whether the management plan is 
working or not.  
 Our Habitat folks have been busy. Restoration  used to be more of a fall activity, 
but anymore, it happens year-round. I believe this is a planting project that happened at 
our Huntington Game Farm last month. We planted a whole bunch of shrubs, 
cottonwoods and willows for upland game and other species that are there. Also in our 
Habitat Section, we have a new manager: Makeda. You’ll hear from her today. 
Congratulations, Makeda. She’s worked for us for seven or eight years, but she’s 
fantastic. She’ll do a great job at leading the Habitat team. Daniel Eddington was the 
Habitat manager before, but he’s been on a career mobility for over a year now. So he 
still works for us, he’s just in the Salt Lake Office overseeing the Watershed Restoration 
Initiative funding end of things. It’s that time of year we’re hiring a whole bunch of 
seasonals in all of our sections, but our Habitat seasonals work on our Division lands. 
They spray weeds, they fix guzzlers, they help out on lots of different things. We have a 
planting at Nash Wash, which is our Wildlife Management Area in the South Book Cliffs 
coming up. And currently, I was up there today actually, there’s some brush treatments 
on the north end of the La Sals with the Forest Service, cleaning up some oak brush and 
understory. It looks really good, actually.  
 And Law Enforcement. They’re busy, too. Our AIS program, our aquatic invasive 
species program, is in full swing. We have a checkpoint coming up. Boaters coming out 



 
 

 
 
 
 

of Lake Powell will be stopped, and we’ll make sure they understand and are complying 
with the regulations with draining their boats and understanding where they’re going next 
and how long they have to dry, or whether they have to decontaminate or not. They have 
several cases going through the courts, and our Cops & Bobbers event, it’s our big 
community event in Carbon County where we invite families to come to the fairgrounds 
and participate in an archery shoot and the community pond, the fishing event. We supply 
all the things you need to have a nice fishing experience. That will happen on June 9.  
 Our Outreach Section has also been really busy. They have a few more events 
coming up in the next 10 days. Coming up this Saturday, we’re teaming up with The 
Nature Conservancy and we’re hosting a Migratory Bird Day on the Matheson Preserve 
in Moab. Beginning at 8:00, we’ll have guided bird tours, and at 9:00, we’ll have 
different stations people can walk around and do some birding. So that should be a great 
event. And then on the 19th, here in Green River, we have a ladies trap shooting clinic. I 
think we’re capping the attendance at some point. So if you’re interested in that, let’s 
talk, we’ll get you RSVPed for the event. It’s been a great turnout in the past. We’ve 
gotten a lot of good reviews from people who attend that and all of our events. We’re 
always trying to improve and offer opportunities for people with different interests and 
we hold events every month or so.  
 Our Wildlife Section, they’ve been teaming up with our Habitat folks. That 
picture there is kind of what I’ve been doing the last two days. Teaming up with our 
Wildlife guys and our Habitat folks and agency personnel from Forest Service and BLM, 
and visiting our winter ranges and assessing what the brush conditions look like, what 
kind of browsing pressures we’ve received over the winter, look at utilization and talk 
about the range conditions. It’s a good time to get out and see what’s happened over the 
winter. We’ll also be working on pronghorn unit plans, coming up. Our sensitive species 
biologist, Scott, will be doing some bird surveys and some white nose syndrome bat 
surveys. And with that, I’ll answer any questions. 
 
Trisha Hedin: Thank you. Next, we’ll have Justin Shannon giving us a wildlife project 
update.  
 
 
 
5) Wildlife Projects Update 

- Justin Shannon, Wildlife Section Chief 
 
 
Questions from the RAC 
 
No questions.  
 
 
 
6) Wildlife Implications of New State and County Resource Management Plans 

- Martin Bushman, Assistant Attorney General 
 



 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Questions from the RAC 
 
Gerrish Willis: So I was involved with one of the county plans, and the takeaway that I’m 
getting from you is that it’s nice to have the plan in place, it was mandated by the 
Legislature and all the counties did it. But it seems like what you’re saying is that even 
though those plans exist, they’re advisory to the Wildlife Board, and they really don’t 
have any importance as far as decisions that the Division would make on a particular 
issue.  
 
Martin Bushman: The Legislature didn’t direct the counties to make these plans as a 
vehicle for counties to manage wildlife. That was not the intent. The intent was the state 
still manages the wildlife. But among the many interests and different matters they 
address in these plans, there were some wildlife issues. It becomes an important 
document for the Division and those that make decisions through the RAC and Board 
process to understand what those county objectives are, and to seriously consider them. 
But again, under our government, the state is the primary form of government. Counties 
are political subdivisions, and it was not the Legislature’s intent that resource 
management plans become a de facto tool for managing wildlife.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Thank you. Next we have Wild Turkey Recommendations and Rule 
Amendments. Jason.  
 
 
7) Wild Turkey Recommendations and Rule Amendments 

- Jason Robinson, Upland Game Coordinator  
- Avery Cook, Upland Game Project Leader, filling in for Jason Robinson 

 
 
Questions from the RAC 
 
Eric Luke: The limited-entry areas, is this to be implemented statewide, the three tags? 
 
Avery Cook: Three fall tags? 
 
Eric Luke: Yeah.  
 
Avery Cook: Yes. Each region does not necessarily have a fall hunt. This would just 
allow a hunter three fall tags. Each region can, at their discretion, assign fall hunt units in 
those fall hunt boundaries with a quota per region.  
 
Eric Luke: So the Southeast Region, that’s a pretty big region.  
 
Kirk Player: Right now we only have a little farm in Hanksville, the only place you can 
hunt fall turkeys in the Southeast. Correct? 
 



 
 

 
 
 
 

Avery Cook: Yeah, there’s just that one unit.  
 
Kirk Player: I mean, the vast majority of the Southeastern Region, it wouldn’t affect at 
all.  
 
Avery Cook: Correct.  
 
Eric Luke: That helps clarify. I wasn’t sure if it was going to be broken down into smaller 
units within the Southeastern Region or just the entire Southeastern Region. 
 
Avery Cook: All of the fall units are small targeted units in areas where we’re having 
nuisance or depredation problems, and we’ve tried other methods to alleviate those 
problems before going to the lethal control.  
 
Eric Luke: On the shot size, how come you limit it to BB and not buck shot? Is there a 
reason for that? 
 
Avery Cook: I guess typically, you are shooting a turkey in the head, not a body shot. 
Basically we changed one end of the spectrum. We didn’t change the BB end. So we’ve 
changed the small end for the tungsten super shot.  
 
Eric Luke: If you’re going to open it up to rimfire, why put the restriction on the shot 
size?  
 
Avery Cook: That’s a valid point. Basically, we were just addressing one half of that shot 
size restriction.  
 
Eric Luke: The last question is concerning safety with the rimfire. I know we hunt small 
game and rabbits with rimfire all the time, but in certain areas, I could see a high 
potential for safety considerations using a rimfire. They’re prone for ricochet. Does the 
Division have any concerns with that?  
 
Avery Cook: I think there are concerns for safety for basically any firearm you’re using 
during that time of the year. There are other center-fire big game hunts going on, small 
game hunts, different bird hunts, shotgun hunts. So we don’t see this as particularly more 
dangerous than any of the other hunts. It really goes back to the responsibility of the 
hunter, knowing their target and what’s beyond.  
 
Eric Luke: OK, that’s all I have.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Are there any other questions from the RAC? 
 
Todd Thorne: I just had one question. In your rule change with control permits for 
turkeys, it mentions the rimfires may be used for control permits. So is that any season if 
you have a turkey control permit, you can use a rimfire any time? 
 



 
 

 
 
 
 

Avery Cook: Yeah, so part of that is basically for fall hunts, and we’ve defined fall hunts 
as a calendar period. So any hunts in that fall period, you’d be able to use a rimfire, 
including a control permit tag.  
 
Todd Thorne: I guess it was more of a technical question, because it specifically relates to 
control permits. So the way I read that part of the code, is if you have a control permit, 
you could use a rimfire any time.  
 
Avery Cook: That’s correct, yeah.  
 
Todd Thorne: OK, on a control permit.  
 
Avery Cook: Sorry, that part’s in the depredation rule on taking turkey. So taking wild 
turkey rule is defined as a fall hunt, and the depredation rule you can use it for the control 
permit.  
 
Dana Truman: I just had a question. Can you clarify the dates? Because you see August 1 
to March 14, and then you also see the October to February. I was just curious.  
 
Avery Cook: So the fall general season would be proposed to be October 1 to February 
28 within the larger guidelines. Control permit vouchers can be issued from August 1 to 
March 14. A depredation hunt can also be implemented any time August 1 to March 14.  
 
Trisha Hedin: If there’s no more questions from the RAC, we’ll take questions from the 
audience. Are there any questions? 
 
 
Questions from the Public 
 
No questions.  
 
 
Comments from the Public 
 
Kevin Norman, SFW: We support the Division’s recommendations as presented. We just 
ask that we keep in mind the option of transplanting turkeys in these problem areas. Keep 
that in mind that we don’t need to wipe them out. There’s other options. Also why I’m 
here, I’d like to speak of a nine-year-old princess at home. I think the rimfire option is a 
wonderful option for kids. There’s no way I’d put her behind a 12-gauge shotgun, or any 
shotgun for that matter, and let her get punished by shooting a turkey. She’s not as tough 
as you, Eric. I think it provides tremendous opportunity for youth to have a good 
experience on a turkey hunt at a young age. Thanks.  
 
 
RAC Discussion 
 



 
 

 
 
 
 

Trisha Hedin: So at this point, let’s take comments from the RAC.  
 
Kent Johnson: I’ll start. With regard to the rule change to allow rimfires for turkeys, I had 
exactly two people contact me that opposed it. And I talked to a whole bunch of people 
that were in favor of it. So I went ahead and contacted some folks in Colorado and 
Wyoming. Wyoming is pretty lax about what guns they allow to be used. You can use 
pretty much any firearm you want to use to hunt any game you want to hunt in Wyoming. 
This includes upland birds and everything. If you want to use a .30-06 to shoot pine hens, 
knock yourself out. I wouldn’t advocate for that. Colorado’s rule is kind of similar to 
what the Division is proposing. Within certain areas and certain situations, their fall 
season, they allow rimfires. And they haven’t had any problems. And the people I talk to 
like it a lot, especially with regard to youth hunters. There’s a lot of kids that want to go 
out and hunt, but like the gentleman said, you’ve got nine-, 10-year-old kids that if you 
want to chase them away from hunting, set them down on the ground, with a 12-gauge 
shotgun with a 3-inch shell in it. I can promise you that kid will never hunt again. They’ll 
hate it. It’s going to hurt them and scare them. So the idea of allowing them another 
opportunity to hunt turkeys with a gun that they can manage is probably a good one. And 
they haven’t had any safety problems outside normal issues with people hunting and 
using guns anyway. And like the Division mentioned, you have the ultimate safety 
responsibility is up to the individual.  
 And then I had, I don’t know how we want to handle this, I got a letter from an 
individual requesting some changes and for the Division to look at the timing of the draw 
hunts in the spring, with regard to the turkeys. Basically, we have two varieties: We have 
Merriam’s and Rios both in Utah. And the Merriam’s tend to be more of a mountain, 
higher elevation bird, and the Rios live in the riparian areas primarily along rivers and 
streams and in farmland. And this brought up something, and I had to look into it and 
find out that it is actually the case, that birds living in the higher elevations strut later, and 
the birds living down lower in the valleys, it warms up sooner, they strut earlier. And the 
concern with this individual was having—the hunt was moved back, it’s later now. And 
trying to hunt the Rios, they’re pretty much done strutting by the time the hunt starts, and 
it’s a limited-entry hunt. There was concern about that. And the request, my takeaway 
from the letter was to try to move the hunt so it straddles both, so you have an 
opportunity to hunt strutting birds if you’re down low. This year there was no snow or 
anything, so access to the high country where the Merriam’s were at was probably not an 
issue. But there could be years where you couldn’t access them very easily. And I don’t 
know how you want to handle that. Do we make that a motion? Do we ask the Wildlife 
Board to put it on an action log? 
 
Chris Wood: Do you want to respond to that, Avery? 
 
Avery Cook: As far as the Board process, I’ll leave that up to the Board Chair.  
 
Chris Wood: As far as whether that observation is correct or not about timing and Rios.  
 
Avery Cook: Generally, yeah, that is accurate. Specifically the dates and individual areas, 
I don’t have good information on that. But typically, the Rios will be earlier than the 



 
 

 
 
 
 

Merriam’s.  
 
Chris Wood: And the limited-entry hunt is missing that opportunity?  
 
Avery Cook: Again, I don’t have exact dates, but it’s certainly plausible.  
 
Kent Johnson: I can bring that up as we get motions. We can look at it then.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Let’s take other comments.  
 
Eric Luke: I have one. Just the wording. As I read through the way it was worded, it was 
concerning to me because it sounded like it’s pretty much, and I think there was some 
clarification, that they’re not doing it statewide. It is broken down. But does there need to 
be some wording in there that discusses that, that it’s not opened up statewide? I don’t 
know if that’s necessary or not, but that is a concern for me because here in the Southeast 
Region, there are certain areas in the Southeast Region that are thriving, but they’re very 
small areas. The biggest part of this region is the birds are just barely starting to gain 
some momentum. So I see some potential with the fall hunt and the rimfire rifles, you 
could wipe out one of these flocks in small areas in a real short time. So I guess, I don’t 
know that I have a motion or anything, but I would like that to be considered, whether it 
be by the Division or the Wildlife Board, if there needs to be wording to that effect.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Is that verbiage already in the guidebook? 
 
Avery Cook: Yeah, so the regulation is statewide, but it gives the region discretion for the 
fall hunts. So there won’t be any fall hunts in a region or an area unless there is an over 
population concern. So there wouldn’t be an opportunity for a fall hunt or a rimfire in an 
area where the populations weren’t having issues with overabundance.  
 
Trisha Hedin: I guess my comment is, I’m glad you brought that information about the 
rimfire from other states. That helps me because I was fairly opposed to it, even though I 
will state, the first time I killed a turkey, it did flip me over backwards. Even as an adult, 
I had that pain. But I guess what I appreciate about hunting a turkey with a shotgun is it 
really promotes that fair chase and having to really get close to a bird. And I actually 
think that’s a great way to introduce youth to hunting. Turkeys are hard to hunt, so I 
appreciate that. I’m not opposed to the rimfire idea with that information. What concerns 
me is if we have a 20 percent hunt success and we’re all happy with that, we’re meeting 
those objectives, can we tip-toe into this idea of rimfire by allowing that, but maybe we 
stay at one fall turkey and giving rimfire? For me, to go rimfire and three turkeys, that’s a 
little concerning to me because your hunt success is going to be way higher, and all of a 
sudden, you’ve tripled at a person’s ability to kill a turkey. I just want to throw that idea 
out there.  
 
Eric Luke: I agree with you. And if you go back to the slides, correct me if I’m wrong, 
but the fall hunt was about a 75 percent success. The spring hunt was 20 percent. Is that 
correct? So you add the rimfire and you could potentially decimate a population. Now I 



 
 

 
 
 
 

really like what Kevin suggested, and I hope the Division remains open to that, because 
there are a lot of areas, right here is one of them in the Southeast Region, we would love 
to see some of the turkeys brought from these overpopulated areas and help our flocks 
out. There’s other opportunities there other than just wiping them out.  
 
Kent Johnson: I think part of it was, correct me if I’m wrong, because some of the 
wording was vague, I agree with Eric, but it was to target small populations that have 
become a nuisance. Is that what the intent was, the three permits allowing people to take 
three birds, either sex? To target localized populations that are becoming a problem 
because there are way too many? 
 
Avery Cook: That’s correct. We’ve got a lot of other tools in our toolbox as far as hazing 
and moving birds, and we’ve basically just put these fall hunts in places where we’ve 
kind of reached our trapping capacity. Last year we moved over 2,000 turkeys from some 
of these overpopulated areas.  
 
Kent Johnson: So we are moving them. One other comment I would make pursuant to 
moving turkeys, I can’t speak to everywhere in the Southeast Region, but I can speak to 
the Colorado and Green River corridors, and moving turkeys here ain’t going to do you 
any good. We’re overrun with raccoons, skunks, foxes and they get the nests. I don’t see 
quail anymore.  
 
Avery Cook: So we’ve got habitat problems.  
 
Kent Johnson: Where I live along the river and stuff, I used to hunt turkeys, quail, 
occasionally a pheasant. But pheasants are their own issue. But my garden is raided 
constantly all summer by raccoons. At 2:00 in the afternoon the other day, I had a red fox 
in the corral with my horses, and I didn’t used to see foxes in the daylight. So I like the 
idea of moving the turkeys and building populations, but I guess my comment is I would 
encourage the Division to look at predator control programs and some kind of scorched 
earth policy with raccoons in riparian areas before we spend money putting turkeys there 
that are just going to get their eggs destroyed.  
 
Kirk Player: I just want to second what Trish said. I mean that’s what I think, too. I 
understand it’s just for targeted areas, but we’re saying you can kill triple, and you can do 
it a lot easier. Let’s maybe do one or the other first and see how it goes, an then go from 
there. The next one’s the coyote bounty, so maybe you can lump raccoons in there.  
 
Trisha Hedin: So at this point, do we want to entertain a motion? Accept the proposal as 
is? 
 
Kent Johnson: I would like to, I guess, make a motion about the season dates. I’ll try to 
get this right. I’d like to make a motion that we ask the Wildlife Board to look at the 
timing of the spring limited-entry turkey seasons to maybe move it to where it expands 
the strut for both Merriam’s and Rios and gives an equal opportunity on both subspecies.  
 



 
 

 
 
 
 

Trisha Hedin: So we have a motion by Kent for the Wildlife Board to consider an action 
log item in which they’ll look at the timing of limited-entry turkey seasons to straddle 
both subspecies. Do I have a second on that? I have a second by Kirk. All in favor. All 
opposed. And then you’re abstaining, is that right, Gerrish? So other than Gerrish, it was 
unanimous. So do I have another motion? 
 
Kent Johnson: Want me to take a stab at it? 
 
Eric Luke: Go ahead.  
 
Kent Johnson: I make a motion to accept the remainder of the Division’s proposals, with 
the exception that we remain at one turkey per hunter on the fall hunts. Does that work 
for anybody? Do an either-or on that?  
 
Jace Guymon: I’d rather see the three tags, because where it’s either sex. Because you 
can use a .410 shooting No. 9 shot with that denser load, any kid can handle that. So I’d 
rather see the additional tags and not the rimfire, if that’s OK with you.  
 
Kent Johnson: Motion withdrawn. Go ahead. 
 
Jace Guymon: I make a motion to accept the remainder of the Division’s proposals, with 
the exception of the addition of a rimfire rifle. Hold off on that and see how we go with 
the additional.  
 
Trisha Hedin: So I have a motion by Jace to accept the Division’s proposal as presented, 
with the exception of the use of rimfire weapons in fall turkey hunts. Is that correct? Do I 
have a second on that? 
 
Helene Taylor: I’ll second it.  
 
Trisha Hedin: I have a second by Helene. All in favor. I think I have eight in favor. 
Opposed. Three opposed. I think we’re good.  
 
 
VOTING 
Kent Johnson made a motion to ask the Wildlife Board, as an action log item, to 
evaluate the timing of the spring limited-entry turkey season so that it straddles the 
strutting seasons for Merriam’s and Rio Grande turkeys, providing equal 
opportunity to hunt both sub species 
 Seconded by Kirk Player 
 Motion passed 10-0 (1 abstention: Gerrish Willis) 
 
Jace Guymon made a motion to accept the remaining Wild Turkey 
Recommendations and Rule Amendments as presented, with the exception of 
adding a rimfire rifle option for the fall turkey hunting season 
 Seconded by Helene Taylor 



 
 

 
 
 
 

 Motion passed 8-3 (opposed: Kent Johnson, Eric Luke, Lynn Sitterud) 
 
 
 
8) Coyote Bounty Program Amendments - Rule R657-64 

- Xaela Walden, Predator Management Specialist 
 
 
Questions from the RAC 
 
Trisha Hedin: Let’s take questions from the RAC. 
 
Kent Johnson: I have a question pursuant to taking a picture and providing accurate data 
that way. This may be a question, it may be a comment. Has the Division given thought 
to the fact that a lot of areas where people are going to be hunting, there is no cell 
coverage?  
 
Xaela Walden: Yes, and so the way the app works is it’ll enter in all the data and it’ll 
hold the data there. Your phone can georeference regardless of whether you have service 
or not, and it’ll save it, and when you go back to your house and you do have service, 
then you can submit it then. So it saves all that info.  
 
Kent Johnson: The app does all that? 
 
Xaela Walden: Yes, it does.  
 
Kent Johnson: I’ve taken pictures with my phone, and the reason I ask this question, I’ve 
taken pictures in the roadless part of the Book Cliffs, and it said I was in Moab.  
 
Xaela Walden: Oh no. That’s pretty bad.  
 
Kent Johnson: I’m over 90 miles from Moab when I took the pictures. I’m questioning 
whether this has been looked into, if it’s going to be accurate.  
 
Xaela Walden: It should be accurate. One of the requirements will be that participants 
have their GPS location data turned on. And the app will notify them when they open it 
up that they need to have it turned on.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Other questions from the RAC? 
 
Jace Guymon: So obviously everyone kind of assumes people have smartphones these 
days. Pretty much everyone does. But I know a lot of hunters that don’t. They still use the 
flip phone. Will that exclude them, even though they’re active participants now? There 
will be no option to individually subscribe to a paper version? 
 
Xaela Walden: So we are going to open it up to a trial run for a year where it’ll be 



 
 

 
 
 
 

optional, then in July 2019, we’re recommending to make it a requirement, which would 
then exclude those that do not wish to use a smartphone. But I want to clarify that we’re 
not preventing them from hunting coyotes. We’re just preventing them from receiving a 
financial gain from hunting them.  
 
Gerrish Willis: I have a question, too. My question is has the Division, I realize that the 
purpose for the act that allows the bounty to be paid was particularly to increase the 
doe:fawn ratio. Does the Division have good data that it’s effective in meeting the 
objectives of what the act specified? 
 
Xaela Walden: So currently we don’t have an answer to that. I’m actually working on a 
thesis project to determine how effective it is, or if it is effective, by looking at how much 
spaciotemporal overlap there is between fawning and coyote removals. One of the 
reasons we haven’t looked at it until now is because it takes a long time to collect the 
data, and also we haven’t had a due date for how long guys can store up coyotes. So 
there’s been a lot of missing information up until now.  
 
Eric Luke: Maybe something that would answer your question, if you look at the slides 
they were showing during Guy’s presentation, there’s a tremendous amount of predation 
by coyotes. So any coyotes that are taken are helping that population, particularly the 
fawns.  
 
Jeff Christensen: So is this program shifting more people that direction, or are we just 
hunting aimless sage brush flats with lots of rabbits?  
 
Xaela Walden: So the majority of the coyotes are coming out of Box Elder County and 
Beaver County. And the vast majority, I can show you, those hot spots where it’s yellow 
is where the most coyotes are coming out of.  
 
Jeff Christensen: It wouldn’t happen to be the thoroughfare to Idaho and Nevada, would 
it?  
 
Xaela Walden: We hope not.  
 
Jeff Christensen: That’s my fear.  
 
Dana Truman: What are the other states doing? Are there any bounties in other states? 
 
Xaela Walden: Currently, we’re the only state that has a bounty on coyotes.  
 
Dana Truman: Do you know how the level of $50 was determined? 
 
Xaela Walden: I don’t know. I don’t know if maybe Darren knows.  
 
Darren DeBloois: That was the language in the original bill, and that was a cap, so it can 
be up to $50, and it can fluctuate under that. We began the program at that level. So that’s 



 
 

 
 
 
 

why.  
 
Dana Truman: So then what currently happens when you run out of funding? Does it just 
stop? 
 
Darren DeBloois: Right. We haven’t run out yet, but the funding would roll over. So the 
years when we didn’t spend the $500,000, that money would carry forward. We’re 
getting to the point now where we’re spending that bank and we’re getting to the point 
where we’re looking at running out. So in that case, we’d stop payments that year until 
we got funding the following year, if we got funding.  
 
Trisha Hedin: But you’re still asking for donations to that fund when people put in for 
draws. 
 
Darren DeBloois: This fund is appropriated by the Legislature. So that amount can 
change if the Legislature wants it to change.  
 
Todd Thorne: And what is that appropriation amount? 
 
Xaela Walden: So every previous year, it’s been $500,000 for payouts to coyote 
removals.  
 
Jeff Christensen: And that’s all coming from the Legislature? 
 
Xaela Walden: Yes.  
 
Jeff Chrisensen: So the $5 coming out of the big game tags, where is that going? 
 
Xaela Walden: That’s going to the administrative costs of paying our technicians, paying 
for supplies, running the actual program.  
 
Kirk Player: Is this data that eventually the Division might think about using, or would a 
goal be to kind of prioritize where maybe eventually you’re paying a bounty during 
fawning in fawning areas, and that’s it? Because that’s where we need it. We don’t 
necessarily need to pay a guy to hunt out where there’s no deer, which we’re doing right 
now.  
 
Xaela Walden: So it’s been discussed, and part of the reason is we don’t have enough 
data to back up any changes currently. And on top of that, we are already addressing 
fraud problems. So trying to make it to specific locations like fawning grounds may be 
too much of a constrain to be able to actually regulate with the manpower that we have.  
 
Kirk Player: And with how it’s set up right now. I mean that would be easier with the 
app, right? 
 
Xaela Walden: Potentially, yes.  



 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Trisha Hedin: Any more questions from the RAC? So do we have questions from the 
audience? Comments from the audience? 
 
 
Questions from the Public 
 
No questions.  
 
 
Comments from the Public 
 
Kevin Norman, SFW: We support the Division’s proposal on this action.  
 
 
RAC Discussion 
 
Trisha Hedin: At this point, comments and/or motions from the RAC.  
 
Kent Johnson: I have one comment. Personally, I’d like to applaud the Division’s efforts. 
I can see a lot of thought’s been put into this, trying to come up with ways to reduce the 
fraud in the system. I know there is a lot of fraud in the system, and I’ve personally 
watched a lot of guys gathering up roadkill. That, if you ask me, is sharpshooting the 
system. And I applaud the Division’s effort to try and reduce that fraud, because it is our 
tax dollars at work, and we’d like it to be put to work for what it was intended and not 
somebody defrauding and sharp shooting. So I’m appreciative of that effort. I do, 
however, I have concerns with how it’s going to be implemented. I like the idea of using 
an app and being able to accurately pinpoint the location, but I wonder how well that’s 
going to work.  
 
Gerrish Willis: I have a comment. What I’ve noticed since the bounty was first enacted in 
2012 was that other prey species have increased significantly, and I’m surprised that the 
Farm Bureau and ranchers haven’t voiced objection to the bounty program. Because the 
number of rodents, lagomorphs has increased so much that, in places, there’s no grazing 
but it looks like an area that has been totally overgrazed because of the number of prey 
species that are not being taken by coyotes now. And I wish that the Division would look 
more holistically at the issue of targeting one predator species with one prey species in 
mind to protect, and not looking at the effects of the increase in other prey species. So it’s 
going to be difficult to shift gears, but part of the problem is, you know, in areas where 
there’s not a problem with doe:fawn ratios, there’s no deer, still people are out there 
killing coyotes just to get a bounty. It just seems like it’s not so sophisticated enough 
program to really target and meet the objectives it was set up to do.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Any other comments from the RAC? 
 
Dana Truman: I guess I’ll be very interested in the results of analyzing this and maybe 



 
 

 
 
 
 

looking into literature review from other states if there were other bounty programs in the 
past, to find out the success or if they were not successful. Stay tuned.  
 
Kirk Player: One comment I do have, too, is I think there was one out of Idaho, what can 
happen with coyotes. And I’m sure this isn’t news to the biologists, but the more you kill 
them, the more they have. So are we just spinning our wheels and spending half a million 
dollars for nothing? I think going this direction will help us answer that question a little 
bit easier. Because that’s a legitimate concern, it could absolutely be the truth that we’ve 
thrown away millions of dollars, and there’s just as many coyotes out there. We’ve been 
trying to kill coyotes for hundreds of years. They’re not easy.  
 
Eric Luke: The government’s been at war with the coyote since day 1. And when the last 
man on earth is dead and gone, there will be a coyote there to take a leak on him. So we’ll 
never win the war with coyotes, but this is a proven method to help reduce the number of 
coyotes. It is effective, and there is data that shows that.  
 
Gerrish Willis: Yet there’s also data that shows that it’s not effective in that you’ll 
actually increase the population of coyotes in an area where they’ve been removed. So it 
has to do with the fecundity of the species, as the populations seem to drop, they have 
more pups, and transient coyotes will come and take the place of a dominant coyote in an 
area. So I would say the data isn’t real clear to support what you said.  
 I’d like to make a motion. I move that the Southeast RAC recommend to the 
Wildlife Board that a recommendation be sent to the Legislature to amend the Mule Deer 
Protection Act to remove the bounty on coyotes from the general predator control 
program, and leave the targeted predator control program as is to better control coyotes 
where doe:fawn ratios are below target goals, and the reason is determined by a study or 
studies be conducted that the problem with the doe:fawn ratio is due to coyote predation 
and not other factors.  
 
Chris Wood: So was that a motion to send a letter? I missed that first part.  
 
Gerrish Willis: A recommendation to the Wildlife Board to recommend that the 
Legislature get rid of the program, the bounty portion of the program. I can read it again 
if you want.  
 
Chris Wood: At some point maybe just give us your paper, too.  
 
Gerrish Willis: Not sure if you’ll be able to read my writing.  
 
Chris Wood: OK. Say it again then.  
 
Gerrish Willis: I move that the Southeast RAC recommend to the Wildlife Board that a 
recommendation be sent to the Legislature to amend the Mule Deer Protection Act to 
remove the bounty on coyotes from the general predator control program, and leave the 
targeted predator control program as it is to better control coyotes where the doe:fawn 
ratios are below target goals. And the reason is determined by study due to coyote 



 
 

 
 
 
 

predation.  
 
Jeff Christensen: What are your other methods? 
 
Gerrish Willis: Excuse me? 
 
Jeff Christensen: What are your other methods?  
 
Gerrish Willis: Well part of the program is that the federal government and the state have 
hunters that go out where there are problems.  
 
Jeff Christensen: I’m fairly well aware of that. But is that what you’re talking about is 
UDAF taking back over complete control.  
 
Gerrish Willis: Yeah. I think it’s more effective to have targeted hunters going out into 
areas where it’s been determined there’s a problem and taking care of that problem than 
going out into the West Desert where there’s no mule deer at all and just killing coyotes 
to kill coyotes for a bounty.  
 
Jeff Christensen: I agree with you.  
 
Gerrish Willis: Anyway, that’s my recommendation.  
 
Chris Wood: Your motion doesn’t mention UDAF taking over the program or anything. 
Am I correct? 
 
Gerrish Willis: The targeted predator control program remain in place.  
 
Xaela Walden: I don’t know if I can clarify on that, but there’s a portion in the rule that 
we have a contracted portion where we can pay contractors and specifically target in 
certain areas that we specify. And we also have the bounty program where any member 
of the public can go anywhere in the state. And I think he’s excluding the bounty and 
wants to get rid of that, but wants to keep the ability to have targeted removals.  
 
Gerrish Willis: Exactly.  
 
Trisha Hedin: OK. I’m not going to repeat that. Is that OK? 
 
Chris Wood: It’s good.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Do we have a second on that? So we have a motion by Gerrish. Do we 
have a second? 
 
Sue Bellagamba: I’ll second Gerrish’s motion.  
 
Trisha Hedin: OK, so we have a second by Sue. All in favor. So we have two. All 



 
 

 
 
 
 

opposed. [Eight] opposed.  
 
Chris Wood: And one abstention.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Do we have another motion? 
 
Eric Luke: I’ll make a motion that we go ahead and accept the Division’s 
recommendations as presented. 
 
Trisha Hedin: So I have Eric Luke making a motion to accept the recommendations as 
presented. Do I have a second on that?  
 
Todd Thorne: I’ll second it.  
 
Trisha Hedin: We’ve got Todd Thorne seconding. All in favor. Nine. All opposed. Two, 
Gerrish and Sue.  
 I will take that to the Wildlife Board.  
 
 
VOTING 
Gerrish Willis made a motion to recommend that the Wildlife Board ask the Utah 
State Legislature to amend the Mule Deer Protection Act by removing the bounty 
on coyotes in the general predator control program, but leaving the targeted 
predator control program in place to better control coyotes where doe-to-fawn 
ratios are below target goals due to coyotes  
 Seconded by Sue Bellagamba 
 Motion failed 8-2 (1 abstention) 
 
Eric Luke made a motion to accept the Coyote Bounty Program Amendments as 
presented 
 Seconded by Todd Thorne 
 Motion passed 9-2 
 
 
 
9) Mineral Mountain Bighorn Sheep Management Plan 

- David Smedley, Wildlife Biologist  
 
 
Questions from the RAC 
 
Trisha Hedin: Do we have questions from the RAC? And I have some. Go ahead, 
Gerrish.  
 
Gerrish Willis: So we received a couple of emails, one from Beaver County today, that 
my read of it is that they’re lukewarm to the idea, they’re not really that supportive 



 
 

 
 
 
 

because of the potential conflicts with, I guess it’s primarily some sheep allotments. How 
much of the suitable habitat that you’ve mapped is within active sheep allotments? 
 
David Smedley: Let me show you this. Out of the suitable habitat here, there’s no sheep 
allotments within that habitat. There’s, on the very north end, there’s a sheep allotment 
that it’s a cattle and sheep allotment. It kind of comes into that. Very north end, just a 
little bit, and it’s kind of on the grass and on the east side. But that allotment they’re 
phasing sheep out and they’re trying to put an application to convert to cattle. And the 
BLM is aware of that, but they’re working through that application process right now, so 
in the next few years, that sheep allotment will no longer exist.  
 
Trisha Hedin: One of the letters we received stated that they were not historically native.  
 
David Smedley: Right. So there’s records in Beaver County, there’s record on several 
mountain ranges in Beaver County that they are native.  
 
Jeff Christensen: Are they native there? 
 
Trisha Hedin: Are they native there? 
 
Jeff Christensen: On that chunk of ground.  
 
David Smedley: Do you want to answer that, Jace? 
 
Jace Taylor: No problem. Thanks, Dave. My name’s Jace Taylor, Division of Wildlife, 
working with bighorn sheep biologist. Probably the most comprehensive study that was 
done in Utah was 1971. The scientists were Dalton and Spillett. They did a good study 
going across the state, looking at skeletal remains, looking at pictographs and 
petroglyphs, and also looking at historical records of sightings of bighorn sheep. And 
basically what they concluded was that bighorn sheep were found in every major 
mountain range and every major river drainage in the state, and that they’re ubiquitous to 
the state. We have very specific records near this. It’s in habitat that is less suitable. This 
is great habitat. There’s no reason to doubt that bighorn sheep were there. And that’s 
where we stand. Does that answer your question? 
 
Trisha Hedin: That helps. So David, you talked about moving 40 bighorns. Can you give 
us a cost on that, a general cost, so that we understand if we put those sheep in there and 
they don’t make it? 
 
David Smedley: I’m going to let Jace answer those.  
 
Jace Taylor: There’s some variation there. It depends on where we get them from, exactly 
how many. But if we’re talking about 40 bighorn sheep, usually that ends up being about 
$1,000 an animal, and then we also have collar costs. It’s $1,000 to capture the animal 
and to transport it. We also have collar costs as well. And then you can also factor in how 
much we spend on habitat work. We plan to do a lot of habitat work, water 



 
 

 
 
 
 

improvements, to improve the range for current cattle grazers, as well as the bighorn 
sheep. We’re committed to investing what it takes to keep those animals there.  
 
Kirk Player: One question that I have had brought up to me, and I don’t know if there’s a 
precedent for it, but is that the adjacent permitees that do have sheep allotments might 
someday be held liable, whether it’s from the Division or some other environmental 
group or even just nongovernmental organization, if this goes south. If we put 40 in there, 
we were wrong, they’re too close, they get disease and they all die. Is there any legal 
protection, or can somebody go after those domestic permitees and try to hold them 
liable.  
 
David Smedley: We haven’t had that in Utah. We’ve been very supportive of those cases. 
I think Justin, you’re more familiar with that, or Jace. But currently, we haven’t had any 
of those issues and had any sheep taken away from that.  
 
Justin Shannon: This has happened in the past. There’s countless times where we’ve had 
domestic sheep and bighorn sheep comingling. And we’ve had disease events throughout 
the state, and we don’t have a time when we’ve gone back and tried to hold somebody 
liable. What we’re trying to do is, if you look at bighorn sheep and back way up, when 
Utah was first settled, bighorn sheep were the most abundant big game animal on the 
landscape. And most of the populations were extirpated. All the Rocky Mountain bighorn 
sheep were gone by about the 1930s, 40s, and most of our desert bighorn populations, 
except Canyonlands. So we’re trying to restore these populations. And we recognize that 
in so doing, sometimes there’s risk. But as we’ve had comingling events and we’ve had 
die-offs, we haven’t sought out and said, “We’re holding them liable.” That hasn’t been 
our interest. We’ve done restoration work since 1966 in Utah, and we just don’t have a 
history of that.  
 
Kirk Player: And there’s no precedent of another, because I don’t think the Division 
would ever do that. It just is what it is. But there’s no precedent of some other NGO 
coming in and saying, “Oh, this is your fault.” 
 
Justin Shannon: They might try to place blame, but the Division of Wildlife manages that 
resource, so no repercussions that way.  
 
Kirk Player: Thank you.  
 
Helene Taylor: I have a question. From an ecological standpoint, just to use kind of an 
example, like the mountain goats that were transplanted on the La Sals, kind of what you 
were touching on, setting it up for another lawsuit because some other resource has been 
demised because of this transplant. Or something that’s questionably native to the area.  
 
David Smedley: So are you asking if there’s something similar like that on the Minerals? 
 
Helene Taylor: Not that we’re aware of. And the BLM, I’ve discussed this, it’s all on 
BLM property. But it’s a very diverse, healthy, robust ecosystem. Lots of grasses, forbs 



 
 

 
 
 
 

and shrubs, and there hasn’t been anything that we’re aware of that would be of concern 
there.  
 
Dana Truman: Along those lines, is there any habitat monitoring protocols set up now? 
 
David Smedley: There are some range trend sites there, and currently, when we go 
through and monitor habitat, one of the nice things with the GPS collars is we can see 
where those sheep are using, and then we can go out and look at where we need to set up 
new monitoring sites.  
 
Eric Luke: I have a question. It goes back to the cost that Trish brought up. Correct me if 
I’m wrong, but this cost is being covered by sportsmen groups and the Conservation 
Permit Program. Correct? 
 
David Smedley: Correct.  
 
Jeff Christensen: So the woolgrowers have asked for an MOU. I’m sure you’re aware of 
this. Are you guys willing to sign that MOU with the woolgrowers? 
 
David Smedley: Justin, do you want to take that? 
 
Justin Shannon: Depends on what the details of the MOU are. We’re willing to sit down 
and discuss any of that stuff. But to give a blanket, “Yeah, we’re willing to sign any—“  
 
Jeff Christensen: And I understand that. But if you’re willing to sit down and entertain 
the deal before, it’s pretty hard to say, “We’re willing to entertain it,” and then make a 
decision here tonight on whether we agree with that.  
 
Justin Shannon: Well if you look at our statewide plan, it’s pretty clear. We wrote it this 
way by design. We’re the Division of Wildlife, and we want to restore bighorn 
populations where we can on the landscape. And one of the phrases that we use in our 
statewide plan is that we want to manage for healthy, robust populations of bighorn 
sheep, but not at the expense of the domestic sheep industry. That’s not what we’re 
interested in. If you look at our track record in bighorn sheep restoration, we’re looking 
for units like this that don’t currently have domestic sheep grazing. We’re not coming 
and proposing to put bighorns on the Manti.  
 
Jeff Christensen: But in all reality, if you look for track record, use the Elliot for an 
example, once you guys wanted to transplant sheep there, the domestic sheep were gone 
not too long after.  
 
Justin Shannon: In which unit? I’m sorry. Where at?  
 
Jeff Christensen: The Elliot here.  
 
Justin Shannon: In situations like that, there have been situations where we’ve had 



 
 

 
 
 
 

willing permitees work with conservation groups and say, “I want to convert to cattle, or 
I want to do this,” and there’s financial gain to be had there. But that’s a willing permitee 
situation. I can’t think of a scenario where bighorn sheep have caused domestic sheep to 
be forced off the landscape in Utah.  
 
Jeff Christensen: I’m just saying, as a track record, as soon as the wild sheep have moved 
out, the domestic sheep within not too long are gone.  
 
Justin Shannon: Well the domestic sheep were moved ahead of time, before bighorn 
sheep were placed there. But again, that was a willing permitee saying, “Yes, I want to 
work with a group like FNAWS,” or something, and financially get compensated to 
convert from domestic sheep to cattle. So it’s a willing situation.  
 
Jeff Christensen: And I understand that. I’m just saying, as a track record, that’s how it’s 
happened.  
 
Justin Shannon: OK. We’re saying the same thing. Yes.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Any other questions from the RAC? So do we have questions from the 
audience? Troy.  
 
 
Questions from the Public 
 
Troy Justensen, SFW: Can you elaborate on where that come from? You said Beaver 
County. Can you tell me who it came from? 
 
Todd Thorne: It came from the public lands director.  
 
Troy Justensen: Public lands director speaking under what authority? 
 
Jeff Christensen: Kevin Whitacre.  
 
Troy Justensen: Kevin Whitacre. Not county commissioners? Just public lands director? 
 
Trisha Hedin: Does it say, Eric? Does he have a specific— 
 
Lynn Sitterud: I did receive a phone call from their county commissioner just before the 
meeting started, telling me that they opposed it last night, so it was tabled and wasn’t 
acted on last night in the Southern RAC.  
 
Troy Justensen: Which county commissioner called?  
 
Lynn Sitterud: Tammy.  
 
Troy Justensen: Tammy? We’ll address that a little later. Next question. We’re talking 



 
 

 
 
 
 

about when they were there. Native species. Are domestic sheep and cattle native to that 
country? Don’t think so.  
 
Jeff Christensen: I don’t know that we’re real native, either.  
 
Gerrish Willis: I think we can all agree, that’s a true statement.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Are there any more questions from the audience? So we’re going to take 
comments. And we have Brett Behling from Utah Farm Bureau.  
 
 
Comments from the Public 
 
Brett Behling: I’ll just pass on some of the comments that were made last night at the 
Southern meeting. Farm Bureau has not been in the negotiations that the permitees and 
the cattlemen and the county commissioners down there have had. So we won’t comment 
on what went on. But there were significant concerns raised about negative impacts to 
grazing. We think that it was probably pretty close to them agreeing to it at one time, and 
at some point during the negotiations, it probably fell through. So based on that, just 
because of the concerns to the negative impacts, the Farm Bureau’s policy is that we 
would oppose it until the permitees would be agreeable to it. As has been said in other 
areas, bighorn sheep and desert bighorns and others that have come into the area, it’s 
been under willing circumstances. If the conditions were met, the Farm Bureau would be 
in support of that, as long as it wasn’t negatively impacting grazing. So in other areas 
with other wildlife species, Farm Bureau has been actively involved in trying to help 
negotiate, especially with the buffalo on the Henry Mountains and other areas to try to 
facilitate AUM transfers to help make livestockmen whole down there. And we’d be 
willing to do the same thing here. But as far as this RAC is concerned, the Farm Bureau 
would officially oppose it today. But if the livestock permitees and the county 
commission and others were negotiated with at some time, we would like to help 
facilitate that discussion. Because we think we have much more in common on this than 
we’re actually divided. I think the sportsmen and the livestock grazers can actually work 
together and make something happen that is beneficial to all.  

Some of the comments that were brought up, I’ll just point these out, a lot of the 
AUMs have been suspended in that area. Some of the ranchers have said as much as 38 
percent of their AUMs have been suspended. And they’re saying, if there’s not some 
cattle reintroduced because there’s more feed, how can we introduce more sheep? That 
was one of the concerns that was brought up. Another one is there’s concerns about the 
bighorn sheep not staying in the area. Not sure that that’s legitimate for this species, but 
the ranchers were pretty concerned about that. Third concern was private land. There’s 
about 25 percent of the area, and I’m not familiar with it, but it is owned by private 
landowners, and there’s concerns about the sheep grazing on the private land and 
affecting that as well. So in addition to that, there’s other concerns, but those were the 
major ones. Officially, Farm Bureau opposes it at this point, but we would love to help 
facilitate and see if we can come to some agreement.  

 



 
 

 
 
 
 

Trisha Hedin: Thank you, Brett. Next we have Julie from the Utah Woolgrowers.  
 
Julie Hansmier: Hi everyone. I’m Julie Hansmier. You probably don’t know me too well, 
but I’m north of the Danish Flat exit and I winter there and kind of hibernate out there 
and have my sheep camp out there. We’re lambing right now. And then I summer in 
Colorado. So I often don’t get this direction. I end up going that way, and I’m truly 
vested in Grand County, Utah, and the sheep industry. We raise merino ewes. We also 
run some cattle, so I do represent myself, and I’ve been asked to represent the Utah 
Woolgrowers tonight.  
 We all know, if you read the news at all, there’s been a lot of discussion about 
bighorn and domestics. And there’s folks who have lost their permits, there’s a lot of 
repercussions. Don’t ever think that there won’t be repercussions from something like 
this. And that’s where we already have both species, but this is an area where you don’t 
have the bighorns right now, but you do have domestic sheep. And the bighorns may 
move. Did you get a letter from the Utah Woolgrowers? OK. Twenty-four thousand head 
of sheep and seven grazing permits in that area. That would be within 20 to 30 miles, and 
that’s serious. It makes my knees shake. I’m not sure, I’ve got about five calls today, 
saying, “Julie, can you take a break from what you’re doing lambing,” we docked lambs 
this morning at 6:00, and I said yes, I can come down and visit. And I’m not a stranger to 
this issue, I don’t think we have to go through all the details. I summer in Vale, Colorado, 
and I’ve been on a variety of boards. We do have a good, although occasionally, we butt 
heads, working group with the Colorado Division of Wildlife, now the Parks and 
Wildlife, and the bighorn sheep groups, and the forest and the Department of Agriculture. 
So we have been working through some issues in Colorado.  

But I did hear a comment that none of our permits have been affected by bighorn 
sheep, and they have. And my personal one, my husband before he passed, changed some 
of our sheep AUMs to cows. We run 200 cows now. And when I asked, because I’m 
more comfortable with sheep, if I could change back to sheep, and they said no. The 
BLM said, “No, you cannot do that,” because of the bighorn sheep, the potential problem. 
So I have been affected by them, by this issue, even though the majority of our neighbors 
are sheep. It’s definitely unreasonable to think that nothing’s going to happen out of this 
situation. I think there’s so many issues in this state and in the country that we have to 
work through, and I think we’re going to. And I hope, if you don’t actually vote no on 
this, I hope you’ll do what the Southern RAC did and recommend to table it or to really 
work with those affected stakeholder groups and come to some kind of agreement and 
some kind of understanding. The woolgrowers definitely don’t feel like they’ve been 
informed on this proposal.  

 
Trisha Hedin: Thank you. Next we have Jeremy. 
 
Jeremy Anderson: On this topic, I’m just representing myself. I do support the Division’s 
proposal as they’ve given it. I also think it’s hunting opportunity. It’s conservation permit 
money put to work. I think it’s a great thing for hunting opportunity.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Thank you, Jeremy. Next we have Kevin Norman.  
 



 
 

 
 
 
 

Kevin Norman: Kevin Norman, representing myself. I found it very interesting last night 
in the Southern RAC, the Forest Service gentleman spoke of the Oak Creeks, which there 
was sheep reintroduced there about five years ago. And a lot of these same concerns were 
brought up at that time, and he said none of those concerns have come to fruition. There’s 
been significant financial gain from federal funding and other funds. Sheep are a very 
valued resource and get a lot of attention. And there’s a lot of money that can come in to 
improve the ground, the habitat. Also, as far as the sheep movement, they’ve collared a 
bunch of those and it basically all stayed within a three-mile radius of where they were 
transplanted. And also as a sportsman, I think this opportunity is awesome to expand the 
opportunity to hunt sheep in our state. It’s kind of a rich man’s game, but this allows 
opportunity for the average Joe, like myself. So I definitely support the Division in this. 
Thanks. 
 
Trisha Hedin: Thanks, Kevin. Next we have Greg Bird from Utah Wild Sheep.  
 
Greg Bird: Good evening, RAC members. I appreciate the time to be able to speak. Utah 
Wild Sheep Foundation is in full support of the Division’s recommendation. This has 
been a long time in the works. It’s not just in the last year-and-a-half. It’s been several 
years. And we think it’s time to do it. There’s a window of opportunity where we have a 
source herd. We lost 75 desert bighorn sheep out of Nevada last year because we couldn’t 
get this through before. So it’s the time to do it. We heard about risk assessment and 
special separation issues and, I mean, this Green River/Rattlesnake sheep herd is a good 
example of it. We have domestic sheep to the east, and these sheep wander into it, they 
get removed. This would be no different than right here. There are no active sheep 
allotments on this mountain. And we talk about a lot of it, 25 percent of it, is private. 
Actually, it’s less than 5 percent of it is private on the mountain itself, where the sheep 
habitat is. The rest of it’s out in these desert flats. Yes, occasionally we’ll have a ram that 
will wander. That’s just their nature. But when they leave that black boundary, they die. 
We assume the risk, we know we’re going to lose some. If they leave that boundary, we 
want them dead. We don’t want them to bring the pathogens back in. We know there are 
allotments out there, but there are none on this mountain. This is the perfect place to do it. 
And we’re naïve to think that we have sheep all the way around this and they didn’t walk 
on this piece of dirt. So we’re in full support of this.  

It was brought up the cost to get them here. FNAWS is ready to step up to take 
the lead in this and pay for this. And I know other sportsmen groups are in the same boat 
with us on that. We’ve also committed over $100,000 to habitat improvement projects on 
this mountain, water, and land on the private and the public. We need to remember, this is 
over 95 percent public ground. We keep hearing issues about the cattlemen and the 
woolgrowers. There’s guides and outfitters that make a living on this mountain too that 
never get mentioned on this. So it’s multiple use. We just need to remember that. Thank 
you for your time.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Thank you, Greg. And then Troy.  
 
Troy Justensen, SFW: Greg brings up a great point. You all have sheep right in your 
backyard. And quite frankly, you have domestics closer than what you’re going to have 



 
 

 
 
 
 

down there. To say that this is a huge problem, it’s too close to domestics, almost every 
wild sheep herd in this state has some sort of risk factor with domestic sheep. Quite 
honestly, we’ve worked real well with them in the past in realizing that once these sheep 
move, if they move, we remove them. I was just here a couple years ago as these sheep 
move toward Cottonwood and Diamond, I believe it was six, eight, 10 sheep that we 
removed because they were getting too close to that allotment. The other thing, too, is I 
would encourage you to call the other two county commissioners. Tammy’s speaking out 
of line. They have not had a vote among the three county commissioners. Quite honestly, 
there is some support for it. So for her to say that, she is out of line. So I’d encourage you 
to call the other two county commissioners on that.  
 As far as the other allotment that’s on the North, the Ensign Ranches, they are a 
current sheep allotment. They’re in the process of moving to cows. He [is in] full support 
of having sheep on that mountain. The other thing that I think we need to take into 
consideration here is, like Greg pointed out, is the multiple use. As we sat in that meeting 
last night, yes, they did vote to table it. We were missing four RAC members. If those 
four RAC members were there last night, now granted, I admit they weren’t there, you go 
with the vote of the people who were there, it’d be a different story tonight.  
 But the thing I want to focus on is it’s not the issue we’re talking about, there’s 
not enough feed on the mountain. North Divide Grazers, me and Pete had a conversation. 
And point blank, face-to-face, I said, “Pete, you know there’s enough feed for your cows 
on them mountains and these sheep,” and he says, “You’re exactly right. But until you 
guys and the Division are willing to a NEPA and give us the protection, there’s no way. 
We’re not going to budge on it.” Well neither are we. So don’t kid yourself. It’s a 
posturing stance to say there’s no feed there. We’d support having those AUMs kicked 
back. In fact they are, that private section in there, they are on a reciprocal grazing 
agreement, which actually artificially inflates the AUMs because there’s no fences and 
they can move back and forth. We support those cows there, and once again, there is no 
domestic sheep there. There is a strong support for this in the community. This started 
almost eight, 10 years ago with the local Sportsmen for Fish and Wildlife committee. 
We’ve worked long and hard to get it to this point. So it’s important that, we mentioned 
before, this is multiple use. We need to look at other things. There’s people who make 
money through guiding and outfitting and recreational activities. It’s not just landowners 
themselves. The notion that we’re trying to put the sheep industry out of business is 
simply not true. We’ve actually come to their aid. And quite honestly, it’s no guarantee in 
the future that the feds or some other agency will try to force them out, but I tell you one 
thing, if the woolgrowers and the cattlemen are willing to stand by the side of sportsmen, 
when that time comes, we’ll be there by their side as well.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Thank you, Troy. Thank you for all of your comments. It’s really 
appreciated. It really helps us make some decisions. So, comments from the RAC.  
 
 
RAC Discussion 
 
Eric Luke: I was glad it was pointed out, because there was a little bit of 
misrepresentation the amount of public land, and there are, correct me if I’m wrong, there 



 
 

 
 
 
 

are no current domestic sheep except on the very north end, and they’re, as you 
mentioned, currently moving to cattle. Correct? 
 
David Smedley: Correct.  
 
Eric Luke: So I’m glad that was clarified.  
 
Jeff Christensen: How big of a boundary buffer zone there are you trying to hold around 
that? 
 
David Smedley: What do you mean, buffer zone? Like an area of risk? 
 
Jeff Christensen: From your domestic sheep alltoments? 
 
David Smedley: Where they wander to, is that what you’re saying? 
 
Jeff Christensen: So I’m assuming all your orange ground is the mountain range.  
 
David Smedley: Right. That’s modeled sheep habitat.  
 
Jeff Christensen: So I’m assuming all of the white ground is your high desert ground.  
 
David Smedley: Right. Yeah.  
 
Jeff Christensen: There’s no sheep in any of that at all.  
 
David Smedley: There’s not.  
 
Jeff Christensen: Nobody is against this. Nobody has come out and said this is a hard no. 
The woolgrowers have said they are in favor of it if they can sit down and come up with 
an MOU. Also Beaver County, right in the very first line of their email said, 
“Fundamentally speaking, no one is opposed to the introduction of bighorn sheep.” But 
nothing has been official. But they go through and list some concerns. I don’t know 
anything about it, never been anywhere close to it. It’s all I can do is read the emails they 
send, just like the sportsmen send to us. So that’s my concern.  
 
Lynn Sitterud: I’d like to make one comment. I come from a family that’s been running 
cows for hundreds of years, but I also love to hunt. And my suggestions to the cattlemen 
in Emery County and the hunters is you better figure out a way to be on the same side, 
because there’s a whole bunch of tree huggers out there and animal rights groups that 
don’t want your bighorn sheep on the mountain, and they don’t want to be stepping in 
cow turds when they’re up there playing on the mountain. If you don’t learn to get along, 
you’re both going to get hurt. So I would love to see the sheep on the mountain and the 
cows on the mountain and then figure out how to do this MOU, because there’s other 
people out there that are more dangerous to you than you are to each other.  
 



 
 

 
 
 
 

Trisha Hedin: OK, so if we don’t have comments, maybe we’ll look at a motion.  
 
Jeff Christensen: I’d make a motion that we follow the Southern RAC’s trail and table it 
until they can get things figured out down there the way they need to it.  
 
Trisha Hedin: OK, so we have a motion by Jeff Christensen to currently table the 
recommendations by the Division. Do we have a second on that? I have a second by 
Gerrish. All in favor. We have five in favor. All opposed. We have a tie. And then we 
have some abstentions. We have Dana that abstained.  
 
Chris Wood: So you’re the tie breaker.  
 
Trisha Hedin: I just really wanted to sit here. I’m going to go with to follow the 
recommendations by the Division as presented. So move forward.  
 
Chris Wood: It fails five to six, is what I understand. Right? 
 
Trisha Hedin: Yes. So all those in favor of tabling the recommendations. So we have five. 
And then those opposed to tabling.  
 
Chris Wood: So we need another motion.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Do we have another motion? 
 
Eric Luke: I’ll make a motion that we accept the Division’s proposal as presented.  
 
Trisha Hedin: So I have a motion by Eric Luke to go with the Division’s presentation. Do 
I have a second on that? By Jace. All in favor.  
 
Chris Wood: Five.  
 
Trisha Hedin: All opposed.  
 
Chris Wood: You’re the tie breaker again.  
 
Trisha Hedin: So I’m with Eric.  
 
Chris Wood: It passes six to five. So one abstention again, is that correct? OK.  
 
Trisha Hedin: I appreciate that conversation. And I agree with you, Lynn. We have to 
come together. 
 
 
VOTING 
Jeff Christensen made a motion to table consideration of the Mineral Mountain 
Bighorn Sheep Management Plan 



 
 

 
 
 
 

 Seconded by Gerrish Willis 
Motion failed 5-6 (opposed: Trisha Hedin, Kent Johnson, Lynn Sitterud, 
Jace Guymon, Kirk Player, Todd Thorne; abstaining: Dana Truman) 

 
Eric Luke made a motion to accept the Mineral Mountain Bighorn Sheep 
Management Plan as presented 
 Seconded by Jace Guymon 

Motion passed 6-5 (opposed: Todd Thorne, Jeff Christensen, Sue 
Bellagamba, Helene Taylor, Gerrish Willis; abstaining: Dana Truman) 

 
 

Jeff Christensen leaves meeting at 9:38 p.m. 
 
 
10) Proposed Rule Amendments to Conservation and Sportsman Permits - Rule 
R657-41, Wildlife Expo Permits Rule R657-55, and Drawing Application 
Procedures Rule R657-62 

- Kenny Johnson, Administrative Services Section Chief  
 
 
Questions from the RAC 
 
Kirk Player: You went over, and there was some changes, well not really changes, 
clarification on how the expo contract or whatever will be awarded. How do you 
distribute the conservation permits? How do you decide which conservation groups get 
the conservation permits? 
 
Kenny Johnson: That’s a good question. It’s outlined in the rule. They have to be a 
501(c)(3) organization that has a wildlife-related mission, and that it’s spelled out in there 
how those permits are allocated.  
 
Kirk Player: Is it a similar process, so like if two groups come and say, “We want that 
permit,” then there’s a similar process to decide which one to give it to?  
 
Kenny Johnson: Yeah. Justin might be a better resource on some of this part of the rule. I 
typically deal with the back end stuff on the funding.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Because the numbers are fairly, they’re not equal. Some organizations get 
quite a few compared to others. Can you outline why, really quick? 
 
Justin Shannon: What was the question? Can you clarify? 
 
Kirk Player: How are the conservation permits allocated in a case where two qualified 
conservation groups would like the same permit?  
 
Justin Shannon: OK. So hypothetically, if you have a Henry Mountains deer tag, who 



 
 

 
 
 
 

gets the first shot at that permit? OK. There’s something called market share in the rule, 
and essentially what that means is whoever brought in the most revenue for this program, 
because this program is about raising funds for conservation, whoever brought in the 
most of that, there’s a formula, and they would have the first choice. And there’s a 
second choice, and a third.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Kind of like a draft, don’t you think? 
 
Justin Shannon: It’s like a fantasy football draft, if you will, in a way. So whoever has the 
most market share gets ranked higher, and it goes down.  
 
Kirk Player: And they get to pick, but then they’re at the bottom of the line again, and the 
other groups can pick.  
 
Justin Shannon: For all intents and purposes, that’s how it works. So the one with the 
next market share would get to pick next. It’s not fighting over the same permit, it’s not 
like auctioning it off. When your turn comes up, you can choose the permits that are left.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Any other questions from the RAC? OK. Do I have questions from the 
audience? 
 
 
Questions from the Public 
 
No questions. 
 
 
Comments from the Public 
 
Jeremy Anderson: I’m the regional director for Mule Deer Foundation here in Utah. This 
is actually my hometown. We’re in full support of the Division, how they’ve laid this out. 
I want to thank Justin for putting together that PowerPoint at the beginning, whoever put 
it together for you. I’m assuming that’s way over your head, right? It’s awesome to see 
that because that’s our money on the ground, that’s how we’re presenting these things. 
Here in the Southeastern Region, we’ve averaged about $250,000 per year in funding on 
these conservation projects. Again, me being from this area, the biologists know how to 
tug at my heart and say, “Book Cliffs” and “Nash Wash” and “Sagers” and things like 
that. I tend to fund a little more money here. But it’s a great deal. The expo permit 
money, I’m glad that they clarified in there as well. The 30-70 split. That 70 percent still 
is going to the ground. It’s just we get to decide how to do it, whether it’s purchasing 
urban deer trailers, which we have a huge problem up north with urban deer and things 
like that. In full support. Thank you.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Next we have Kevin.  
 
Kevin Norman: Representing myself on this. I, too, would like to thank Justin for his 



 
 

 
 
 
 

presentation. I think as I’ve got more involved with SFW as of late, it’s been mind-
blowing what this program really does. And the one thing I want to stress where I think 
everybody’s done a poor job is telling about it. I think if the general public had any clue 
of what really went on, any true sportsman would have a hard time throwing rocks at this 
program. It’s unbelievable, it’s unique to our state, it’s amazing what gets accomplished 
through these funds. I’m in full support of this Conservation Permit Program. It’s a little 
sacrifice, but in the end, it’s really not a sacrifice. We have better herds, better habitat, 
and it’s been awesome. So in closing, I guess I’d encourage all groups, including SFW, to 
do a better job at getting it out to the public what’s being done with these funds.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Thank you. Next we have Greg from Utah Wild Sheep.  
 
Greg Bird: I’ll keep it short because I know we’re all ready to go home and do other 
things. We’re in full support of the amendment proposals, and this program is amazing. 
It’s given us as Utahns the ability to have the best wildlife in the country, bar none. The 
Division has done a great job with this, and we’re happy and glad to be partners with 
them. We applaud them for their efforts and hope it keeps going forward forever. Thank 
you.  
 
Trisha Hedin: Thank you. And Troy.  
 
Troy Justensen, SFW: I’d like to expand a little bit on what we’ve talked about on this 
profit share and then also the draft. With these permits, they take a three-year average of 
what that permit brings, so if you draft, say, the Henry Mountains, say it’s $98,000 
average, that comes off the money. So it reduces the money that you have to continue to 
bid on these permits. So it’s all based upon return. The more you return, the higher you 
get, the more money you have to spend to draft these permits. So some groups have 
more, and it’s all based upon performance on who brought more to the table as far as 
money generated.  

I want to speak a little bit to the expo permits. There is a huge difference between 
the expo permits and the conservation permits. The conservation permits are earmarked 
and specifically have to go back into big game. We are actually selling a voucher for that. 
The expo is an application fee, no different than what we pay Fallon, Nevada, that we’re 
all hoping to hear from in a week to see if we drew out. It is a 70-30 split, 30 percent, or 
the $1.50 restricted goes into account, we have to spend that on projects that are approved 
by the Division. The other 70 percent, like Jeremy pointed out, we have the ability to 
choose where it goes. It gives us that flexibility. As you watched through this, it showed 
some different things that we funded, one of which was you saw was urban quail. We 
took some of that money and we actually hire a guy to catch urban quail. Jeremy talked 
about the urban deer project, now we’ve got the urban quail. Urban quail are a lot more 
dangerous than the deer though. But it’s really exciting.  

Another aspect it allows us to do is to fund different aspects of wildlife, like in 
Sportsmen for Fish and Wildlife, we’re not species specific. We cover everything: fish, 
waterfowl, upland game. We take a large portion of that money and put it into upland 
game and waterfowl. Pretty excited to announce that we just purchased three marsh 
masters to fight the frag. Those of you who are waterfowlers and know marsh, frag is the 



 
 

 
 
 
 

pinyon-juniper of the wetlands. It sucks up the water, it also chokes out the native habitat. 
So we’re excited that we’ve been able to purchase these marsh masters to have one at 
Farmington Bay, Ogden Bay and Salt Creek to help get on top of that frag. We’re excited 
about that. We’ve also taken some of that money and invested into water structures on 
our WMAs on upland game and waterfowl management units. Without water, you don’t 
got no ducks. So it allows us to be a little bit more flexible with that, and we’re excited 
about it. SFW’s portion of that $5 app is roughly about $540,000 this year. Of that 
$540,000, I’ve committed damn near $530,000 to go back on the ground. Zero percent 
going to overhead. We’re excited and I’m  proud about that. When actually those sheets 
go through and we see that’s funded, we’ll post it on our website to be able to inform 
people where this money is going. And once again to remember, this is an application 
fee. No different than Fallon, Nevada. We see zero percent coming back from Fallon, 
Nevada. But here these groups have chosen to put it back and invest it in Utah.  

Just one last quick point, we as conservation groups get all the credit for raising 
this. Who really deserves the credit is sportsmen. This is a sacrifice. These are their 
permits. Our permits, I should say. We took these permits out, up to 5 percent, to see if 
we could raise some money to see if we could increase our herds and do habitat work, 
and it’s paid huge dividends. Thanks to the Division. Thank you.  
 
 
RAC Discussion 
 
Eric Luke: I think it’s a great program. As we go around and promote our banquets each 
year, we hear that this is turning hunting into a rich man’s sport. I get that concept. But 
when you can take a small number of people and generate the amount of money that’s 
being generated through these tags, and you look at all of the different studies, the 
programs, the transplants that are happening now that weren’t happening before this 
program, that’s pretty cool to see.  
 
Trisha Hedin: I guess I want to make some general comments. I think, and I think Troy,  
you said this, it is a public resource, and sportsmen are sacrificing some tags for this 
resource. So just to keep that in mind. I believe in conservation organizations. I was 
affiliated with one for an extended period of time, and I like that we’re solidifying rules, 
we’re making sure that these organizations are accountable, that there’s transparency, I 
think that’s key. And it really helps your organization when you’re putting it out there, 
this is how much we brought in, this is how much we put out. Just to solidify that. But I 
like the solid rule change. Other comments? 
 
Kirk Player: Kind of echoing what you said, the transparency, I think, is huge, and that 
seems to be improving right and left, not that I think it was ever necessarily real bad. But 
it makes it easier when somebody does say it’s making hunting a rich man’s sport, it 
makes it easy to say it. Another thing that might be interesting, as well as having the 
presentation on all of the amazing things that we’ve been able to do with those dollars 
that would be interesting what other states generate with their model, versus ours. That’s 
something that I’d be interested to see. I imagine I know what it is, but it’d be interesting 
to see.  



 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Trisha Hedin: OK, so should we entertain a motion? 
 
Todd Thorne: I’ll make a motion to approve the recommendations as proposed.  
 
Trisha Hedin: So I have a motion by Todd to approve, and seconded by Kent. All in 
favor. I think it’s unanimous. 
 
 
VOTING 
Todd Thorne made a motion to accept the Proposed Rule Amendments to 
Conservation and Sportsman Permits as presented 
 Seconded by Kent Johnson 
 Motion passed unanimously 
 
 
 
11) Proposed Rule Amendments Repealing the Certification Review Committee 
under R657-3 and R657-53, Error Committee under R657-50, Walk-in Access 
Advisory Committee under R657-56 and the Variance Committee under R657-57 
                           - Martin Bushman, Assistant Attorney General  
 
 
Questions from the RAC 
 
No questions. 
 
 
Questions from the Public 
 
No questions. 
 
 
Comments from the Public 
 
No comments.  
 
 
RAC Discussion 
 
Trisha Hedin: Comments from the RAC. I’d entertain a motion. 
 
Todd Thorne: Motion to approve. 
 
Trisha Hedin: We have a motion from Todd Thorne to approve the recommendations as 
presented. Do we have a second? Seconded by Dana. All in favor. It’s unanimous. 



 
 

 
 
 
 

Meeting is adjourned.  
 
 
VOTING 
Todd Thorne made a motion to accept the Proposed Rule Amendments Repealing 
the Certification Review Committee under R657-3 and R657-53, Error Committee 
under R657-50, Walk-in Access Advisory Committee under R657-56 and the 
Variance Committee under R657-57 as presented 
 Seconded by Dana Truman 
 Motion passed unanimously 
 
 
 
Adjournment 
The meeting adjourned at 10:13 p.m.  
 
The next Wildlife Board meeting will take place on May 31, 2018, at 9 a.m. in the 
Department of Natural Resources Board Room, 1594 W. North Temple, in Salt Lake 
City. 
 
The next Southeast RAC meeting will take place on Aug. 1, 2018, at 6:30 p.m. at the 
John Wesley Powell River History Museum, 1765 E. Main, in Green River.  



NORTHEASTERN RAC MEETING SUMMARY OF MOTIONS 
Utah Wildlife Resources Office, 318 N Vernal Avenue, Vernal  

May 10, 2018  

 

 

 

Welcome and Intro Appreciation  

• WELCOME, RAC INTRODUCTIONS AND RAC PROCEDURES – Randy Dearth 
 

• APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND MINUTES 
MOTION to approve the agenda as presented.  

 Brett Prevedel 
 Andrea Merrell, second 
Passed unanimously  
 
MOTION to approve the minutes from the last RAC meeting. 
 Dan Abeyta 
 Natasha Hadden, second 
Passed unanimously 
 

• WILDLIFE BOARD MEETING UPDATE – Randy Dearth 

NER RAC MEMBERS PRESENT UDWR PERSONNEL PRESENT 
Natasha Hadden, BLM Clint Sampson, NER Wildlife Biologist 
Randy Dearth, NER RAC Chair Amy Vande Voort, NER Wildlife Biologist 
Brett Prevedel, Public At-Large Crystal Friedli, NER Law Enforcement 
Dan Abeyta, Forest Service Dax Mangus, NER Wildlife Manager 
Ritchie Anderson, Agriculture Derrick Ewell, NER Wildlife Biologist 
Daniel Davis, Sportsman Miles Hanberg, NER Habitat Manager  
Rebekah Jones, Non-consumptive Randall Thacker, NER Wildlife Biologist 
Boyde Blackwell, NER Regional Supervisor Tonya Kieffer, NER Outreach Manager 
Tim Ignacio, Ute Tribe Rori Shafer, NER Office Manager 
Andrea Merrill, Non-consumptive Amber Pena, NER Office Specialist 
 Jace Taylor, Bighorn Sheep and Mt Goat Bio 
 Kenny Johnson, Admin Svc Section Cheif 
 Xeala Walden, Predator Management 

Specialist 
NERO MEMBERS EXCUSED David Smedley, Wildlife Biologist 
Brad Horrocks, Agriculture Justin Shannon, Wildlife Section Cheif 
Joe Arnold, Public At-Large Martin Bushman, Assistant Attorney General  
Joe Batty, Agriculture Avery Cook, Upland Game Project Leader 
 Darrin DeBloois, Mammals Prog Coordinator 
  



 
There were several topics if you recall from our last meeting, one of them had to do with we had 
made a motion with the bighorn sheep tags for the Wasatch, Nebo unit to modify it from three to 
two and that is the way the Division went also; it passed 5-0. As you remember, there was a 
motion to decrease the South Manti deer permits from 250-200. The Board agreed with this and 
they passed that 5-0 also. There was also a motion to keep Pine Valley the same as last year and 
they passed that 5-0. On the Book Cliffs, lowered the additional deer permits from 35-15; that 
passed 5-0. The balance of the deer was passed 4-1 with four in favor, one opposed. The 
Division accepted the 2018 antlerless deer permits, and that passed unanimously 5-0. The topic 
of the 2018 CWMU antlerless permit recommendations that passed unanimous also 5-0.  
 

• REGIONAL UPDATE – Boyde Blackwell 

For all those who have noticed the appropriate credit card hits on your credit cards, 
congratulations are in order. So everyone run home and check their statements and see what’s 
going on. I want to express appreciation; last time we met, we talked about a case that Eric 
Miller had been working on. It’s a really big convoluted case. It’s been on the news around here 
a lot lately. I want to congratulate him again on his efforts. He's done a really good job on putting 
that case together. It took a lot of work to get that done and it hit some folks that were killing a 
lot of our wildlife here in the basin. Again, I want to tell him I appreciate him. He’s not here, but 
he’ll know. As far as the rest of the regional updates I’m going to let two of the best, my wildlife 
manager and habitat manager are going to give the updates for the region. And with that, I’ll turn 
the time back to you Mr. Chairman.  
 

• Wildlife Projects Update- Justin Shannon, Wildlife Section Chief 

See slideshow 

• Regional Wildlife Update- Dax Mangus, Regional Wildlife Program Manager 

See slideshow 

• Regional Habitat Update- Miles Hanberg, Regional Habitat Program Manager 

See slideshow 

• Wildlife Implications of New State and County Resource- Martin Bushman, Assistant 
Attorney General 

See slideshow 

Dan Abeyta: I’ve got a question for you. How is it different? How is that statewide management 
plan different than the counties?  

Martin Bushman: They cover many of the same topics, as I understand it. The state plan is 
basically looking at all the county plans and synthesizing it down to what it considers from a 



state perspective which would be all of the important objectives and policies that they want to 
pursue given the variety of various resource issues.   

• Wild Turkey Recommendations and Rule Amendments- Avery Cook, Upland Game 
Project Leader 

See slideshow 

Questions from the RAC: 

Brett Prevedel: What’s the driving force of the rimfire if you’re at 80% success already without 
the rimfire? 

Avery Cook: It’s an internal recommendation where we are looking at ways to increase success 
in areas where we are not having has high of success. And for some of the open agricultural 
fields where we were getting depredation complaints.  

Brett Prevedel: So the average success, you still have areas where there are issues of not getting 
antiquate success? 

Avery Cook: Yeah that is the average so it is somewhat variable between units.  

Daniel Davis: Has there been any consideration to have the limited entry holders in the spring to 
extend their season over to the general season if they are unsuccessful?  

Avery Cook: There has been some discussion of that but it is unrelated to the bow hunt. I don’t 
believe that we are going to recommend that change.  

Dan Abeyta: The up to three fall permits, does that have to be in combination then? 

Avery Cook: No, you could get just three fall permits. 

Brett Prevedel: So it’s over the counter first come first serve, so the first person could buy three 
tags on the spot.  

Avery Cook: Yes.  

Randy Dearth: I did receive one email about this, about a concern. But I have a question, how’s 
the other RACs, have they received much info on this topic? Was there a lot of discussion from 
the other RACs? 

Avery Cook: I did not attend the Northern or Central RAC. There was very little at the Southern 
and the Southeast.  

Justin Shannon: Some of the discussion at the Central and Northern RAC centered around safety 
and the use of rimfire. They ended up passing at both RACs.  

Daniel Davis: Have there been any issues with those fall permits not selling out completely?  

Avery Cook: I believe they have sold out.  



Ritchie Anderson: On the rimfire, I assume that other states allow rim fire? 

Avery Cook: Yes, there are other states that allow centerfire for turkey.  

Ritchie Anderson: No higher incidents for injury?  

Avery Cook: No, it seems to be no higher than other small game hunting.  

Comments from the RAC: 

Daniel Davis: I think as a sportsman wanting opportunity having three permits with a cap sets 
some greediness. Whether they harvest all three or not. I kind of like that idea of a two bag limit 
so we can disperse that opportunity amongst the rest of the sportsmen.  

Brett Prevedel: I would agree with either two or one since it’s over the counter. If they are 
already selling out I don’t see their rationale for multiple tags over the counter.  

Tim Ignacio: I also agree. 

Daniel Davis: My concern is a lot of feedback I’ve gotten has been the rim fire instance. The 
depredation issues; I can see a necessity with that cause it will more than likely target those open 
areas that are harder to hunt. Birds tend to hang out there cause they can see their avenues of 
ambush and can escape a little bit easier but the perception and feedback that I’ve got has not 
been well perceived with the rimfire proposal.  

Tim Ignacio: Well what have you got left to eat? 

Randy Dearth: It depends on how good of a shot you are.  

Comments from the public: 

Kevin Norman: Representing SFW. We support the Divisions recommendations on this. The 
only thing we ask that you keep in mind is the option to translocate turkeys. There are a lot of 
areas that are overpopulated and we understand that and the depredation problems, but there is 
also the opportunity to translocate them into areas that need them. We just ask you don’t lose 
sight of that option. Also speaking as a father to a nine-year-old girl, I believe this rimfire option 
opens up a lot of options for our youth. I believe that I can take her out and put her behind a 
shotgun and let her get knocked on her can. She’d probably never want to go hunting again. I 
believe that it will be a very positive experience here in a short time with the rimfire option, and 
get her started off on the right foot with hunting. I support the rimfire option that the Division is 
proposing. Thanks.  

Troy Justinson: Representing myself. Having traveled all the RACs and hearing the discussion 
has really been on the safety issue of the rimfire. Quite honestly they have talked about other 
states where it is legal, it’s legal here in Colorado and they’ve actually stated that they’ve had 
more incidents with a shotgun than they have rimfire. Keep in mind it is legal to smoke pot there 
so that might be the reason why. As a whole, Kevin hit a very important part in the thing I think 
we need to realize is, this is a great opportunity but we don’t want to lose sight of the moving of 
these birds. And the Division did a great job last year I think they moved over 2,200 birds last 



year. That’s amazing; 2,200 birds I would use that as a first option transplanting the birds since 
we have some open areas for them, but the other areas we have no problem utilizing this 
opportunity with the rim fire with the fall hunts. And another important thing to realize is that 
this is specific areas dealing with depredation like northern Utah.  

 

Comments from the RAC: 

Daniel Davis: Just for clarification, the rim fire is open for anybody, or is it youth specified? 

Avery Cook: It’s specifically for the fall hunt so anybody hunting the fall hunt would be eligible 
for rimfire. Both the fall general and the depredation hunts.   

Randy Dearth: Is there any way to find out the time period of when the tags sell out? Does it take 
three days or does it take three months to sell out?  

Avery Cook: It’s generally in the days to weeks’ time period.  

Randy Dearth: So it’s a pretty quick time period. You’ve got to get off the couch pretty quick to 
get these. 

Avery Cook: Yes.  

Randy Dearth: It sounds to me like what Daniel and Brett was talking about is actually a pretty 
good idea because if these sell out so quickly having 200 guys get tags instead of 2,000 guys get 
tags.  

Daniel Davis: And if we’ve not had issues with them not selling out, here we are creating 
opportunity encouraging recruitment; of course I’d like to be greedy and hunt the entire season 
and kill multiple birds but if we’re selling tags and our success rate is that high. 

Randy Dearth: And overcrowding isn’t an issue, it shows that overcrowding isn’t an issue, so.  

Daniel Davis: So no need to limit the number in the field.  

MOTION to maintain one permit per hunter for the fall hunt, accept any gauge BB and 
limit the rimfire to depredation and youth only. 

 Daniel Davis 

 Tim Ignacio, second 

 Passed five in favor and three against  

Ritchie Anderson: I guess I like Daniels proposal other than, right now its three turkeys per 
hunter, right? 

Randy Dearth: Right now it’s one.  

Ritchie Anderson: And you don’t feel like you have an overcrowding issue? 



Avery Cook: No, we don’t feel like we have an overcrowding issue. Part of the motivation 
behind that three is to allow, especially for the landowners trying to limit the number of people 
on their properties and making it easier for them awarding the permits that are awarded from 
depredation plan so the control vouchers too in addition to the depredation permits. I guess 
another thing that I neglected to mention earlier is general season permits have been trending up 
and rather than rewarding more and more of the depredation permits we’d like to shift the people 
over to just getting general season permits; it would be cheaper for them and less paperwork for 
everybody. That was part of the motivation behind that three permits per individual was to make 
it easier for landowners to get their permit vouchers out and get people on their property. 
Remove turkeys when needed.  

Ritchie Anderson: I like both arguments; I’d maybe like to see the difference split and go to two 
and see what it does for a year then we could change it next year.  

Randy Dearth: So you want to amend the motion from one permit to two permits per hunter but 
leave the other two items the same? 

Ritchie Anderson: Correct.  

Rebekah Jones: In the motion is the rimfire just for depredation and not for youth? What about 
including youth on that.  

Randy Dearth: It was including youth on that, both.  

Boyde Blackwell: The only thing that he was recommending changing was for two permits, not 
one.  

Randy Dearth: Did you want to make the amendment Ritchie? 

Ritchie Anderson: Yeah I believe so.  

Randy Dearth: So what I think he is amending is Daniels motion is exactly the same with 
exception of two tags instead of one. And I need a second on that or it fails.  

Ritchie Anderson: The way you stated it is correct. 

Randy Dearth: I’m not hearing a second so that failed. We’ll go back to Daniels original motion. 

• Coyote Bounty Program Amendments- Rule R657-64- Xaela Walden, Predator 
Management Specialist 

See slideshow 

Questions from the RAC: 

Tim Ignacio: On your coyote thing the tribal members, are we welcome to this?  

Xaela Walden: Absolutely. 

Tim Ignacio: I know a lot of the guys would like to go out and take these coyotes, I know there 
were quite a few taken last year, but there is still a lot more out there.  



Xaela Walden: Yeah they are absolutely included as long as they are able to use the smartphones 
and take the education courses they are qualified to participate.  

Tim Ignacio: Ok they still have to get on the smartphone and do it that way.  

Xaela Walden: So we are proposing to make that a requirement in 2019, so for the next year it 
will be a trial run so the paper application form will still be available so it will be either one for 
the next year.  

Daniel Davis: The controlling aspect for the coyote population since we went to the bounty vs 
the alternative methods; flight harvests, government trapping, how are the take numbers in 
balance in ratio to one another? Is the bounty surpassing what we were doing before or are we 
kind of equal? 

Xaela Walden: I don’t know the specific numbers off the top of my head but I do know that on 
average we are removing more coyotes with the bounty that we were prior to 2012 which is 
when it was initiated. We still do have wildlife service’s doing areal gunning and other take 
methods in conjunction with the bounty.  

Dan Abeyta: So across the state with the other regions, how has it been received? Because 
basically, the app would require a smartphone; so a lot of people have smartphones, not 
everybody does. Has there been concern from the other regions about that? 

Xaela Walden: It has been addressed in three of the four other regions, and the recommendation 
was passed in all of the other regions. So it was addressed but it wasn’t a top priority concern in 
most of them. 

Randy Dearth: I can understand the fraud part of it. I think it would be pretty easy to put it in 
your freezer for a while and tell the Division that you got it somewhere you didn’t. This would 
eliminate any of that.  

Daniel Davis: I hope that expands to other species harvests as well.  

Comments from the public: 

Kevin Norman: Representing SFW. We support the Divisions recommendations on this. Also, I 
want to represent myself addressing the concern, I’ve been to all of the RACs as well, on the 
smartphone I believe that it’s a tool. People are making money off doing this. If you’re going to 
build a house you’re going to need a saw. Anyone can go harvest coyotes but if you’re going to 
collect the money it is a requirement that I think is legitimate. Thanks.  

Comments from the RAC: 

Brett Prevedel: I just want to compliment you; I think it’s very well done.  

Xaela Walden: Thank you.  

Randy Dearth: Any concerns other than the smartphone? 



Andrea Merrill: I think that now days even if an older person doesn’t have access to a 
smartphone they have access to a younger person or family member who does.  

And it’s a good deal for the DWR and for the sportsmen, we’re still paying $50.00 for a coyote, 
so the fact that they have to do a little bit of data gathering. 

MOTION to accept the Divisions proposal as presented. 
Brett Prevedel 
Natasha Hadden, second   

Passed unanimously 
 

• Mineral Mountain Bighorn Sheep Management Plan- David Smedley, Wildlife 
Biologist 

See slideshow 

Randy Dearth: I think we’ve all had a chance to review the email that opposes this but I don’t 
know if everybody here had a chance to review the email the county, Beaver County sent out 
today from David Wicker. Have you had a chance to review that letter? 

David Smedley: I have not had a chance to read it, I think Justin has.  

Randy Dearth: I would like to read it. 

See letter 

Randy Dearth: Are those issues addressed in the plan? 

David Smedley: Yeah, I’m trying to remember everything you’ve said there but yeah we’ve 
addressed most of those issues in that plan. And as sheep go out if they come in contact with 
domestic sheep or get close, we are very willing to go out and remove those sheep. We are 
committed to that because it is in our best interest to keep that herd clean and not let those sheep 
that wander and come close to domestics come back. And we’ve got a track record, we’ve done 
that across the state. Sheep go out and wander that can happen but we’ve gone out and removed 
those sheep.  

See letter #3 

David Smedley: And some of those waters, we have a list there in that management plan, and we 
are very willing to help with those water management plans. We looked at guzzlers too to put 
more water on top for bighorns as well. So it’s not just coming off those pipelines and springs 
but we’ll help improve those waters.  

See letter #4-6 

Justin Shannon: If you keep reading the next line on this says that the money must go back into 
protecting and improving the habitat, not into somebody else’s budget. Bighorn sheep is one 
where, the Division of Wildlife don’t necessarily make money off of the permits. The number of 
permits that we issue and the conservation money that is generated that does not come close to 



funding the surveys, the monitoring the transplant work, all those things that we’ve talked about. 
So it’s not being stored in some account that’s just getting banked, that money does go back into 
active management for monitoring, habitat restoration, guzzlers, those types of things; so that 
one does need some clarification.  

Randy Dearth: That last line you read is not in the one they sent us.  

Justin Shannon: It was last night, so pardon for bringing it up.  

See letter #7 

Randy Dearth: I thought it was fair that all of the RAC members had a chance to review that.  

Questions by the RAC: 

Daniel Davis: Seeing the unit boundaries looked up, in correlation to say big game/deer and elk, 
what unit would that be in? 

David Smedley: It’s on the Beaver West unit. West I-15 then it goes up the Black Rock Road, 
then down Minersville Highway there across to Milford.  

Ritchie Anderson: So was it your understanding that Beaver county did support the plan?  

David Smedley: Right, during those conversations they gave verbal support. Since that time, just 
recently there’s been some new things that’ve come up.  

Brett Prevedel: So there was a lot of opposition at the southern RAC?  

David Smedley: So on the RAC themselves there wasn’t necessarily opposition. A lot of them 
wanted to see some issues worked through that weren’t worked through there; would like to see 
more people in agreeance.  

Dan Abeyta: From the proposed unit boundary, how far away are the nearest domestic sheep?  

David Smedley: The closest one would probably be on the south end of the boundary; it’s the 
Greenville Bench allotment. South of Minersville Reservoir, which is the reservoir down there. 
That’s the Greenville Bench. Currently, they run cattle, but they do have the option to run sheep. 
That could be a potential in the future. The next closest one is just west of Milford; you’ve got 
one like 5-6 miles west of Milford so it’s quite a long ways across a desert grassland. Then there 
is one sheep allotment up here on the north, it’s Ensign Ranch that owns that allotment, but they 
are in the cattle business so they are going through a process right now to get rid of sheep and 
convert to cattle so that one will no longer exist in the next few years.  

Ritchie Anderson: What is the ranging distance on a bighorn sheep? Particularly a ram?  

Jace Taylor: It’s very variable, especially when you talk about historically against present day. 
Historically sheep like Dave mentioned were more common across the state and since their 
densities were higher they were more common to spread out across the state. With the low 
densities that we have right now, especially situations like this, that model habitat is 100,000 
acres of suitable habitat. We’re talking about 175 head of bighorn sheep and we’re doing that on 



purpose trying to keep a very low number; one sheep per 600 acres so they will remain in the 
most rugged and steep habitat. This place has some really nasty stuff that doesn’t get used by 
hardly anything. So by keeping the numbers low, we can keep those animals there and hopefully 
limit their tendency to wander. As far as numbers go, there have been records of bighorn sheep 
wandering many miles, 40-50 miles whatever it is. We don’t normally see that because we keep 
our densities low, it’s hard to say, but we’ll do what we can to keep them low.  

Ritchie Anderson: So how many miles has your GPS data shown? 

Jace Taylor: Variable, take the Oak Creek population; those animals that we released there 
within three miles most of those animals are not going anywhere; another situation where we 
have lower densities. Some of the other ones, the New Finland Mountains, we haven’t had an 
animal leave the New Finland mountains. Stansbury unit is another one we’ve had a really hard 
time having those animals spread as well; they’ve stayed very much on the north end right where 
we’ve released them. Some of our Wasatch Front ones we’ve also had a really hard time since 
we’ve released them.  Some of these ones up here in the North Slope, some of these animals are 
the greatest distances that they’ve moved. I think the most we’ve had animals move up here is 30 
miles. It’s a different situation where they have very distinct very high summer ranges, then very 
low winter ranges. So from Mirror Lake all the way up to Gilbert Peak so that is a little bit more 
of a different situation. Down here the desert bighorn sheep where we don’t get the snowpack 
summer range lower movements.  

Ritchie Anderson: Thank you. 

Dan Abeyta: So in the southern region they voted 7-2 to table this, is that correct? What about 
the other regions?  

David Smedley: So the central and the northern region it passed unanimously, and it also passed 
in the southeastern region last night.  

Ritchie Anderson: How did it pass in the southeastern region? 

David Smedley: It was 6-5. 

Randy Dearth: The chairman didn’t have to break that, did he? 

David Smedley: The chairman did.  

Ritchie Anderson: Can I ask another question to anybody that is involved in this management 
plan. Did Bill Bates in the last couple months talk to you at all about a conversation he and I had 
about some ideas to mitigate some of these concerns of the county; and the sheep and cattlemen 
and other industries in that area? We had had a meeting orchestrated by the Governor's public 
land office he presented some ideas that would maybe mitigate some of these; I had some ideas. I 
asked him to present that to the concerned parties. But from the letters I got, I don’t know if they 
were presented the options that he and I talked about, and I can’t get a hold of Bill. Apparently, 
he is indisposed until next week. I just don’t know where our conversation went; I guess I’m a 
little disappointed that these issues are still on the table.  



Justin Shannon: We met recently talking about forming a potential MOU to address these types 
of issues, not just for the Minerals but big picture when it comes to the Division and bighorn 
sheep and domestic sheep and the stakeholders that are involved. Because there are some 
conflicts that can arise when it comes to these types of things because of the disease issues. So 
we met we have another meeting scheduled here at the end of the month with them and we’re 
making progress on that. If that didn’t get communicated back to you, we apologize for that but 
it’s been in the works. 

Ritchie Anderson: Is there a reason some of this MOU’s couldn’t have been already in place? 
There’s precedence for those MOU’s in other areas in other species that mitigated a lot of these 
issues; is there a reason they can’t be in place now? 

Justin Shannon: You look at how Utah has managed bighorn sheep, our statewide plan is really 
clear. Our wildlife agency wants to restore native bighorn sheep to the landscape. That’s 
something we’re really interested in. But in our management plan, we say we don’t want to do it 
at the expense of the domestic sheep industry. We’ve been very clear about that and some of 
these things that want to been seen in these MOU’s is can the Division support the domestic 
sheep industry and try to help them thrive and be successful and still have bighorn sheep and not 
get into this win-lose situation. Try to identify where we can support each other and where we 
can have populations of bighorn restored. So a unit like the Minerals where we don’t have 
domestic sheep this kind of makes sense to us. So one thing I want to do to highlight this is we’re 
all familiar with the bighorn sheep issues on the North Slope of the Uintas right now. That’s an 
area that has bighorn sheep, has domestic sheep conflicts and a lot of discussion there; a lot of 
the conversation we heard about in the southern region came from that. Two weeks ago we sent a 
letter to the Forest Service and it read this: 

See letter 

Justin Shannon: So we haven’t had a formal MOU per say, but our philosophy has been we want 
to have bighorn sheep but not the at the expense of the domestic sheep industry. I can’t think of a 
time when we put bighorn sheep on the landscape and forced a permittee off that wasn’t willing 
to be compensated for it.  

Ritchie Anderson: My concern is not with the DWR or the Sportsmen for Fish and Wildlife. Do 
you know who my concern is with? Our concern is with other radical groups that use wildlife 
species as the purpose for litigation to diminish other industries. It happens every day. It’s the 
operating thing they use to cartel oil, gas, mining, agriculture. The DWR is not going to sue to 
remove the domestic sheep or cattle, I know that. The SFW is not going to sue to remove 
domestic sheep and cattle. We’re arguing the wrong argument. My conversation with Bill Bates 
and I’ve had some conversation with some of these local people down there, and I said look 
what’s your concern? Primarily their concern is not the bighorn sheep, it’s not the DWR suing 
them, it’s not the SFW suing them. It’s the door that it opens for other groups, radical groups, I 
won’t mention their names but you guys know who they are who continually use wildlife species 
to sue at the determent of other industry. So Bill and I felt that we had some good ideas that had 
been presented and used in other areas, I felt that there was no reason that those MOU’s 



shouldn’t already be in place. They benefit the wildlife as it moves the process forward. I was 
plenty willing to support this plan. I guess my question is if we know these concerns could have 
been mitigated with MOUs, why aren’t the MOUs in place? I did my due diligence under what 
Mr. Bushman talked about under what the RAC member’s purpose are. I gathered the 
information I presented solutions; and when I presented the solutions to these folks, they said 
that’s a great solution but we’ve never been presented that. So I guess my question is why? 

Justin Shannon: I don’t know if I have a good answer as to why. Just know that we’re working 
on it. We’ve had the conversations, we have more meetings. It probably doesn’t do justice 
Ritchie for what you’re asking for, but I don’t have a good answer for you. It’s something we’re 
focused on and I think your concern has some validity when you talk about is domestic sheep 
grazing under attack under Utah’s landscape and in the west, it is. And what I would offer is by 
reading this letter and doing some of these things it’s not because we would sue it’s because 
we’re trying to be a good partner and that’s what I wanted to highlight.  

Ritchie Anderson: I appreciate that. And I want to make clear that I understand that and Troy and 
I would like to have had a longer conversation prior to this meeting, but he and I understand that. 
We’re not too worried about each other, we’re worried about opening the door for others that can 
hurt us both. I’ll save the rest for the comment period. 

Boyde Blackwell: How long ago was your meeting with Bill? 

Ritchie Anderson: Oh I talked to the Governor’s office this morning, I believe it was in February. 

Boyde Blackwell: Certainly knowing Bill, I know he’s not going to just shirk it. It may take 
some time but. 

Ritchie Anderson: Yes, he may have done more than I realize but I can’t get a hold of him so I 
can’t ask him myself. 

Boyde Blackwell: He’s out of town.  

Questions from the public 

Troy Justinson: SFW. I guess my question to you is the thing you read from the county 
commissioners, is that the first or the second draft? There’s two. 

Randy Dearth: It’s the only one I got.  

Troy Justinson: It’s the second one if you got it today. I’ll comment on that a little later it’s kind 
of interesting how that came about. My other question is dealing with MOUs. Has any of them 
ever been tried in court? Do they work? 

Ritchie Anderson: The MOUs that I’m familiar with have not been tried in court. They don’t 
leave a lot of room for that because of what Mr. Bushman talked about and the Divisions 
responsibility for wildlife in this state. There’s not a lot of wiggle room for when the Division 
decides they want to remove something and they can’t do it. I think it would be very hard for 
some of these groups to sue and tell the Division they can’t do it because it’s so explicit in the 
legislative law, to my knowledge none of the MOUs have been tried.  



Troy Justinson: Is there any units that we’ve put sheep on that have similar circumstances with 
what we are seeing here on the Minerals? 

David Smedley: That we put sheep recently? To the north, the Oak Creek unit, a lot of these 
concerns came up and that’s on the Forest Service boundary, and the Forest Service guys said 
this at the RAC too but we put sheep on there in 2014 and none of those concerns that came up 
have been an issue. Those sheep are staying in place, they are staying up high and there really 
haven’t been any of those concerns that have become a problem. 

Troy Justinson: Similar to this they also have a sheep producer that patrols through, correct? 

David Smedley: Correct. 

Troy Justinson: Has it been an issue? And Ritchie let me ask you is it a concern that SFW will 
sue? 

Ritchie Anderson: No, we are not concerned. 

Troy Justinson: Let me put you at ease here, the only time we’d sue is to stand on your side to 
keep you on the range.  

Ritchie Anderson: Exactly, I want to make that clear. We are not concerned about the DWR or 
the SFW suing us. You guys are not my concern, I’ve never known of a case like that happening. 
So, no you guys are not our concern.  

Troy Justinson: As long as I have the reigns that ain’t happening. So rest at ease, thank you. 

Ritchie Anderson: Can I ask another question? If an item is tabled, an agenda or action item is 
tabled, can that come back to the RAC within say 30, 60, 90 days? 

Boyde Blackwell: Our RAC meetings are scheduled out and unless it’s an emergency, you may 
be able to get it back on the agenda for July. 

Ritchie Anderson: So we could still get in on for July/August if an item was tabled. 

Boyde Blackwell: It’s a possibility, yes.  

Randy Dearth: The Wildlife Board would have to table it.  

Boyde Blackwell: This is going to go to the Wildlife Board and they have the opportunity to say 
well we tried and they can accept it anyways or they can say let’s come back in July. But it’s 
them who have to say.  

Ritchie Anderson: I just want to know if this thing gets tabled, do we go through this stuff for a 
whole other year before it comes back up.  

Boyde Blackwell: No I believe that if the Board deems it necessary it will be July or sometime 
after.  

Brett Prevedel: Or the Board could just approve it. 



Boyde Blackwell: Or the Board could approve it, yes. 

Justin Shannon: If I may clarify. Tonight we are either approving it or not approving it. If it’s not 
approved and you want to table it, you can do that in addition to not approving it. I don’t think 
there is a process that is either yay, or nay, or neutral.  

Comments from the Public 

Cheryl Meyer: I’m the Uintah County Public Land Specialist. I spoke with Brad Horrocks today 
and he apologizes for not being able to be here but he also received that letter from Beaver 
County Commission and Uintah County has some of the same concerns that he kind of addressed 
with me. What I would like is some time to mitigate some of those concerns from the public or 
from the county. We are not opposed to this plan, but I would like to ask that you do table it for 
those considerations to kind of lessen the concerns that have been brought up today and will be 
brought up.  

Kevin Norman: Representing myself. I support this wholeheartedly to put sheep on the Mineral 
Mountains. I’m an avid sportsman myself and sheep hunting has kind of been a rich man’s game; 
this just affords more opportunity for the average Joe like myself to have an opportunity hunting 
these creatures. Also, one other thing I’d like to elaborate on, Oak Creek, the gentlemen from the 
Forest Service, with all the what-ifs that have been brought up by the grazers none of them have 
come about.  But in return, there has been a substantial amount of funding come to that mountain 
on behalf of the sheep. There is a lot of finding out sheep are a sacred animal and there has been 
an abundance of additional funding come to that range because the sheep are there that has 
benefited everybody that is on that mountain. The other thing is the fact of the collared big horns 
on that mountain have basically stayed within a three-mile radius. That was shocking to me and a 
neat deal. Anyways with that being said, I support this action by the Division I think they are 
being proactive for everybody involved and I support that. Thanks.  

Garrek Hall: Representing Utah Farm Bureau. I appreciate you reading the letter from Beaver 
County and their comments. I was in that RAC Tuesday. I also appreciate what Ritchie was 
talking about, about maybe having some MOUs some ways to mitigate some of the concerns that 
were brought up. Tuesday night we had a discussion that lasted 2-3 hours just on this topic with a 
number of concerns that were made and I agree some of those concerns are probably not even 
legitimate concerns, but there were some legitimate concerns that were brought up. There are 
sheep that trail through this area; there are domestic sheep that reside within the hunting 
boundaries. There are some concerns I think can be mitigated if given the time to do that. Our 
recommendation from UFB would be to table this issue long enough to work through those 
issues with the private landowners that are there in the area, and issues with the permittees, and 
let’s try to work through some of these issues before we put sheep on the mountain, rather than 
try to work it out after we put them on the mountain.  

Vance Merrill: I’m a member of the Uintah County Cattlemen’s Association. We’ve got a lot of 
the same concerns that he just voiced about the negative impact to livestock grazing. I don’t 
know what other industries are on that mountain but get these things addressed before sheep go 



up there so there’s a way to manage things. Back up and get these things addressed and then 
move on with it would be the way we’d like to see things go.  

Greg Bird: Utah Wild Sheep Foundation. I appreciate the opportunity to speak before the panel 
tonight. I’ve been in all these RAC meetings also and there have been some concerns. We 
approve and accept the proposal as presented by the Division. We feel like they have a sound 
management plan and they’ve done a great job presenting it. We’re excited about this new herd. 
Desert sheep as it’s been stated already, they are a precious animal. They are a resource that not 
many other states have. We have the opportunity right now to reintroduce sheep back onto this 
range. It’s been brought up that they are not native and that’s objective; they’ve been everywhere 
else and it’s hard to say they haven’t walked on that piece of land. One thing we can say is the 
cattle and the sheep are not native. So that argument is kind of a moot point to me, they are 
native, they’re not native, whatever. We feel like we can all work together on this. There is 
plenty of habitat on that mountain for both. One thing as the Sheep Foundation we have never 
asked permittees to leave. As Justin stated there are committees that have transferred their sheep 
to cattle, but they have been compensated for it and they wanted to do it and they were willing 
partners. We want partners on the mountain. Some of these concerns by the grazers association. 
We’ve met with them and three times we’ve driven down there in the past six months and talked 
to them. Numerous conversations over the phone and emails. We’re not going to turn our 
wildlife management over to the Federal Government, it’s ridiculous and I don’t know why 
they’d want that either. This mountain is perfect for desert sheep. It’s been brought up that 
there’s a big portion of private land on it, well the private land is in these big white flats around 
here and there is 4% or less on the mountain itself. With those concerns, we’ve talked to the 
grazers and the two grazers that are on that mountain were in agreeance with Ensign Ranches 
that they were going to convert to cattle. And the North Divide group, we’ve met and met and 
met. And their big sticking point is that NEPA. Between the grazers on the north divide and the 
Ensign Ranchers, we’ve committed over $375,000.00 on range habitat improvement and water 
projects. Just for them to do something they are not currently doing or something they have not 
done in the past 100 years and in their own words will never do they are cattle ranchers, not 
sheep ranchers. So we’ve compensated them for the possibility, cause we want to be partners and 
we don’t want to just shove the sheep down their throat. There is room for both. We need to keep 
in mind this is public land, a huge portion of this is public land. Grazers are not the only people 
to make a living on this mountain, there are a lot of guides and outfitters down in that particular 
county that make their livings doing this and it affects them also. So we just ask you to take this 
into consideration and I’d urge you to vote on it tonight. It’s time. This has been several years in 
the process. We tabled it last year so we could run it through the process differently. And while 
we tabled it running it through the RACs last year we lost the opportunity for 75 bighorn sheep 
from Nevada and we run the risk of doing that again if we delay this. We run it back to July 
again we are going to miss that opportunity with Nevada. Once that resource is gone there’s not 
just desert big horns around every corner that we could use for source herds. I appreciate your 
time and thank you very much. 

Troy Justinson: SFW. I want to clarify a couple of things I wanted to give you a history of the 
RACs. As I mention the central and northern passed it almost unanimous. In the southern region, 



it was 5-4 to not approve it and the 7-2 vote was actually to table it. They were missing four 
RAC members. Three of which I guarantee would have been a yes vote. We’re not having that 
conversation today if those three had been there. It won by technicality, it is what it is, but that is 
just stating the facts. I think it’s important when you try to get the right answer is you state the 
facts you don’t base it off emotion. One thing I’ve learned in the 20 years of attending these 
meetings is you come in here you can tell who’s going to vote which way. We all do it, you’re 
going to vote your side, sportsmen are going to vote their side so really who I’m talking to is you 
guys who don’t have an interest in it. I hope you can look at it objectively and think it out in your 
mind and say hey what’s right? What makes the most sense? Another first was the other night 
was the first time I was accosted by a 70-year-old man. I voiced my opinion and he tried to drive 
his finger through my chest, the third time I warned him hey we’re going to go to the ground if 
you don’t quit it. It was quite interesting. Anyway, SFW supports this recommendation as it’s 
been brought up there are no issues brought up that we haven’t faced before. Almost every sheep 
unit in the state has these same type of conflicts. And we’ve managed to work together and we 
have a great herd for consumptive and nonconsumptive users to enjoy. We are committed to 
working with livestock owners, we’re not trying to force anybody off. I’m a little bit upset about 
the letter that came from the commission. This is round two. The first round was not sent to you. 
This is around that was put together after we jumped down their throats a little bit because they 
took a few shots over the vow. This letter was not supposed to be released. It was released by 
one zealous county commissioner. The same commissioner that attended our banquet. I sat down 
and talked to her and said Tammy, I’m a little bit frustrated. It’s been mentioned here that you 
guys need to go sit down and work out these issues. As Greg has been talking we’ve been 
working for six months on the north divide to come to an agreement. I said Tammy I’m 
frustrated this is what’s been offered; this is what we’ve been working through, what’s the 
problem. Her exact words to me were Troy, I don’t know I’ve told them they need to accept it, 
this would be a great thing to have there. The problem is she keeps forgetting which side of her 
mouth she’s talking out. That bothers me. She’s a good person, but when a person doesn’t honor 
their word, I have an issue with it. The other thing I want to talk about and Justin read that 
paragraph is it talks about the money that is generated from these things. They made the 
innuendo that the only reason we are pushing these things is the money goes into our pockets. 
That’s the biggest crock of BS I’ve heard in my life. You see the slide there that talks about 181 
million dollars, that’s where the money goes. Anybody in the public position of government 
needs to study the facts and understand what they are talking about. Anybody that is familiar 
with the conservation permit knows that only 10% goes back to the group, 30% the Division 
keeps, 60% the group gets to influence where it goes it has to go back into big game. That’s how 
we can generate 180 some odd million dollars to benefit all users. Now I see this newest draft 
and that was redacted. Amazing. Bottom line is this, we’ve tried, we tried a year ago to sit down. 
North divide grazers have drawn a line in the sand that says if you’re not willing to do a NEPA 
we’re at the end. I’ll tell you what the offer was to them, there is no active sheep allotment on 
there except Ensign Ranches which is selling out. They have some private. They were offered 
95,000 dollars not to have sheep or goats on their private ground. Currently, we are working 
under a reciprocal agreement which they are bound anyway. We just simply said you haven’t 
raised sheep in the past, just to let us compensate you, here is 95,000. We also committed to 



$25,000.00 a year to water projects at a minimum and habitat projects for the next five years. 
Anybody that knows sheep knows that sportsman’s groups love them and they continue to dump 
money into it and it benefits everybody on that mountain. We also offered them a seat to come to 
the table to help us manage them. We told them if we have any issues with these sheep coming 
off the mountain getting into anything kill them. We’re willing to do whatever it takes to have 
sheep on the mountain, but we’re not going to go through a NEPA and depending on the MOU, 
the devils are in the details is whether we’d go there. I ask you tonight to vote on this, accept the 
plan. We can work through some of these issues we’ve done our due diligence honestly were 
being held hostage in the sense of the guys trying in the livestock industry trying to get their 
AUMs back by holding us hostage. They can’t we support them; we wish they had all their 
AUMs back. It’s not our fault, it’s not wildlife’s fault. We’re willing to stand with them but 
they’ve got to quit fighting against us. Thank you.  

Comments from the RAC 

Randy Dearth: I’m going to make this real clear, we’re not going to table this tonight. I think if 
we have problems we need to vote against it if we don’t we need to vote for it. I don’t think we 
have the right to table anything.  

Brett Prevedel: If the Wildlife Board acted, this meeting us tabling it, they wouldn’t know what 
our opinion was.  

Ritchie Anderson: That’s what Justin stated. We could vote against it, but we could also vote to 
table it so it could come back.  

Randy Dearth: Tabling it doesn’t come back to us. We’re going to tell the Wildlife Board we like 
it, we don’t like it, or we don’t even want to vote on it because we don’t think they’ve done their 
due diligence and I don’t think that’s fair, we need to tell the Wildlife Board yay or nay. 

Ritchie Anderson: I can agree with that.  

Tim Ignacio: I agree. 

Andrea Merrill: Well, in my opinion, there is precedence of it being successful. As we’ve said 
we have had the sheep out here for what 30 years? Was it Oak Creek? And I remember that it 
was a heated long discussion that we had in the RAC and it’s been successful. So to me, it’s a 
sound plan.  

Daniel Davis: And staying up with these sheep units and mitigating these private landowner 
situations, we have one close to us where the Division fights the same battle to sustain that 
resource. Those sheep range, they move when they reach population and have to relocate and if 
they do get to the point of that, they mitigate that. We watched them do that with the Goslin herd 
when their illness was taking place just so it wouldn’t spread over to Bear Top. The Division has 
done an excellent job mitigating those it’s been proven in history and I don’t see it deviating that 
in the future.  

Ritchie Anderson: I think we’re still in talking to the folks on the ground. They didn’t indicate 
and this letter didn’t indicate that they have a problem with DWRs mitigation plan.  



Daniel Davis: I missed the big red truck cause I’m way lost on what the concerns are then.  

Ritchie Anderson: The primary concern is with the folks I talked to is, and it talks right here in 
the county’s letter how they have reached an agreement with the DWR for that mitigation plan. 
So let me explain what happens with a wildlife species and an erratic environmental group will 
come in and they want domestic sheep and cattle and they want them off the range, that’s no 
secret. They are plenty open about it. So what they’ll do is they’ll come in and they’ll sue if the 
BLM or Forest Service allows a grazing plan and the rancher agrees to it and the BLM/Forest 
Service agrees to it and move forward on this grazing plan. The environmental groups will come 
in and say you did not consider what that grazing plan will do for moose habitat or big horn 
sheep habitat, therefore, you cannot move forward, those grazers cannot move forward and 
they’ll get an injunction from a court to hinder or keep the stockman from being able to use the 
range until the BLM or Forest Service mitigates their concern so the environmental groups are 
not usually suing the DWR directly, not the BLM directly, not the Forest Service directly, they 
are suing on policy rule deals or if they don’t feel like the Forest Service or BLM adequately 
addressed a wildlife species concern. They’ll sue on that to keep the ranchers from operating. A 
lot of their concerns are very trivial, no one else has them but them. That is where the concern 
lies. That’s the process they are using. The only problem with that is the only one who can build 
in protections to keep these radical groups from doing that is the DWR. They are the only ones 
who can build in those MOUs and protections to keep them from doing that. So the people I’ve 
talked to on the ground I think there is an idea that there is an opposition to the species. I haven’t 
talked to one yet that is opposed to the species they are opposed to the concerns that I think could 
be mitigated quite quickly. That’s the deal. Nobody attacked the DWRs mitigation plan. Or the 
plan if the animal comes off what they are going to do. They didn’t even really question that 
plan. They believe the DWR if someone calls and says hey we have an issue with an animal I 
didn’t hear anybody say they think they won’t take care of it. They believe they are going to take 
care of it.  

Andrea Merrill: I think one of the difficult things with this is if you build in what you think will 
keep them from suing you in one way they are going to find a different avenue. So to hold 
something up until we find every single way that we can prevent a radical group from suing, we 
would never get anything done.  

Ritchie Anderson: And we’re not trying to hold it up, we know that it’s not going to be litigation 
proof however as Mr. Bushman stated and to my experience, they haven’t challenged it yet.  

Andrea Merrill: It seems like maybe there is a different venue to work this out.  

Ritchie Anderson: Yeah, there is. We would need a little more time to do this. I’d like to address 
a few more issues. The native thing brought up, I wish that hadn’t had been brought up because I 
don’t really care I guess. I don’t know who brought it up if it’s a native species or isn’t a native 
species, the thing is I’m not native, you’re not native. 

Tim Ignacio: I am. Those sheep mean a lot to us to you best mean what you say.  



Ritchie Anderson: That’s my point. If we’re going to do the native thing and base things on 
whether things are native or not, maybe they should be deciding.  

Tim Ignacio: If you’re going to leave it up to me to decide they stay there.  

Ritchie Anderson: I agree, you just made my point. The native thing nonnative thing its neither 
direction.  

Tim Ignacio: I’d prefer to be called Native American.  

Ritchie Anderson: Well I was meaning the species, not individuals. The NEPA. I hate NEPAs. I 
think the reason they are still pushing NEPAs is that they haven’t been presented these other 
alternatives that could have been presented two months ago. I agree there does not need to be a 
NEPA on this. We’ve got some stuff done one horses that everybody in the world said we would 
need to do a NEPA, we find out there doesn’t need to be a NEPA. So the NEPA thing I think if 
they are presented the alternatives that should have been presented before, the NEPA thing will 
go away. You know I hate being pigeonholed on how I’m going to vote because at the last RAC 
meeting I voted on a proposal made by SFW on bighorn sheep actually. My thing is I don’t think 
this thing needs to be drug out, I agree with you guys I’ve talked to the Governors Public Lands 
Coordinating office today, they’re willing if we’re willing, if the parties are willing, they will 
facilitate meetings in the next 30 days to address these issues, get them worked out, work on 
some MOUs back. Get this back on the agenda quickly and get it moved forward. There is no 
reason not to do that. I think it would be quicker to do that, on the Mineral Mountains to do it 
that way than to go through the sheep management program or renewal. That renewal that I 
know happens this month. I think we could separate this out, hurry and take care of this and 
move forward on it. I’m in favor of bighorn sheep. I’d like to hunt them myself one day I’m not 
opposed to them. They’re not concerned about habitat. I think there is a disconnect on what the 
real issue is and what has been presented, and I think that could be mitigated quickly. So I think 
we just need a little more time this needs to come back no later than July/August. I don’t see no 
reason for it not to. I think it’s an opportunity, I can see where it could be used, wildlife could be 
used for litigation protection; if it’s done right. Instead of the opposite, that occurs now.  

Daniel Davis: So my question is all these permits are valid right now for the stakeholders when 
they come for renewal how often is that challenged.  

Ritchie Anderson: Most of those come up every ten years. But they don’t always come up at 
once which is the problem. So you’ll have one permittee come up it's not all ten-year interval we 
look at all the permittees, the date is kind of set on it. I think we are very very close on this plan. 
I really do. I don’t think it’s quite there. I think we could spend 30-60 days now and prevent 
years of litigation later.  

Randy Dearth: Keep in mind Rich, I know you’re pretty passionate about this, keep in mind you 
can make a motion if you want to on something. That is an opportunity to let the wildlife board 
that a certain stamp would be a good idea. 

Ritchie Anderson: Right.  



Tim Ignacio: I’d like to see it happen; I’d like to see these sheep go there. They are a native. 

 MOTION to accept the Divisions proposal as presented 
  Daniel Davis 
  Tim Ignacio, second 
   Passed six in favor one opposed 
 
Ritchie Anderson: I’d hate to see the ball that has already begun to roll. There is a meeting set up 
for 27th or the 29th that’s already been set up. I would hate to see that ball that is already rolling 
that could potentially get the sheep out there and mitigate these issues both; I’d hate to see that 
opportunity lost.  

Boyde Blackwell: The wildlife board isn’t until… I think you’ll be alright.  

Randy Dearth: It’s May 31st. 

Ritchie Anderson: I would like it on record that we are not concerned about working with the 
SFW or the DWR. And we’ll push it to make sure it happens quickly.  

Boyde Blackwell: Do we want to ask those two that are opposed, why they are opposed? Or are 
you ok with taking that yourself to the Wildlife Board? 

Dan Abeyta: There is passion on both sides obviously, and that’s great. Just to me, it feels like 
there is enough concern. The southern region tables this proposal which tells me that they aren’t 
ready for this. I’ve heard enough concern here tonight that makes me feel like this isn’t really 
ready. That’s why I voted against it.  

Ritchie Anderson: We’ve got to get on the right arguments and what our real concerns are. For 
some reason when I talked to what’s her name with the association and said look if we had some 
of these MOUs, and I told her what to we would look for in those MOUs she said why wasn’t 
that presented to us? We didn’t even know that was a possibility. I used the bison I the Book 
Cliffs with the oil and gas as an example and she said we didn’t even know those were 
possibilities. And she liked the idea, they wanted the idea. I opposed it because I think there were 
solutions that weren’t brought forward for whatever reasons I don’t care, that could be brought 
forward and we could kill two birds with one stone.  

Randy Dearth: I don’t think this thing tonight stopped that from happening. I still think it could 
happen and probably should happen. 

Andrea Merrill: No and it should. This is a statewide thing and not something for just this 
particular unit so it is something that needs to go on, is what I see.  

Randy Dearth: I hope Justin that what you’ve heard tonight you’ll really encourage that meeting 
to happen and have all the players at the table.  

Justin Shannon: Yeah, I’ll certainly take this back to our leadership and we do have that meeting 
at the end of the month. Ritchie, I appreciate your feedback it’s been good to understand that one 
better.  



Ritchie Anderson: Thank you.  

• Proposed Rule Amendments to Conservation and Sportsman Permits Rule R657-41, 
Wildlife Expo Permits Rule R657-62, and Drawing Application Procedures Rule 
R657-62- Kenny Johnson, Administrative Services Section Chief 

See slideshow 

Questions from the RAC 

Randy Dearth: Can you go back to your first slide? I have a couple questions. It was on the 
conservation. How much funding are we talking about that isn’t being spent within those first 
two years? 

Kenny Johnson: It’s pretty much all being spent. We’ll have a better idea after the snapshot of 
this next budget audit cycle. It’s essentially all being spent right now on projects.  

Randy Dearth: So why do we need that? 

Kenny Johnson: So this is just how it’s always worked. We’ve just not had a lot of clarity on that 
on the reporting side so we’ve just added some clarity on that to make it a little more obvious to 
report it upfront.  

Randy Dearth: So the rule has always been to require the funds be transferred to the Division. 

Kenny Johnson: Not transferred, we’ve been reporting it as committed which is kind of projected 
to be used on projects. And now what we’re going to do is either have them spend it on the 
project or transfer it to the Division to be used on projects. So it just tightens that up a little bit, 
but I think it’s fair to say that those funds are primarily used, and it gives us some flexibility if a 
project gets canceled or postponed or prolonged we could credit them back that amount. 

Randy Dearth: Yeah, I like that. It just doesn’t feel good to be transferring funds. I’d feel better 
about some way of penalizing the organization of not doing it in the way of reduced permits for 
next year or whatever so that incentive is there; you want that incentive there to get that work 
done. I just don’t like the idea of transferring funds to the Division.  

Kenny Johnson: What the transfer does is it allows us to zero that balance out for sure and we 
don’t have to carry over a committed piece that kind of loses some of its poignancy I guess, is 
the reason we want to do that. This will make sure we can balance it out and show those funds 
being fully expended on the kind of a first in first out basis which is what the Wildlife Board has 
asked us to do.  

Randy Dearth: They haven’t been expended they’ve just been moved to the Division to spend, 
right? 

Kenny Johnson: Right.  

Randy Dearth: So I’d make them spend it or reduce tags or something. I’ve got a couple other 
questions. So basically if I get a permit, if I buy a conservation permit, I can give it to somebody 
else, I can transfer it to somebody else if I want to, I just can’t sell it to them?  



Kenny Johnson: As long as the group knows about it and you follow the process outlined here.  

You can sell it for what you paid for it; you just can’t make a profit.  

Randy Dearth: Ok, I think that’s all I have for now.  

Comments from the Public 

Kevin Norman: First I want to thank Justin for his presentation tonight on the conservation 
permit funds. Having recently been more involved with SFW I’ve been able to see the effects of 
this program. To be quite honest it’s mind-blowing what gets done in this state with these funds. 
If any avid sportsman could throw rocks at this program I don’t know how they could do it. It’s 
done more for this state, more for wildlife. Yes, sportsman have to sacrifice a little bit but it pays 
its dividends. It’s an amazing program that I support, I’m grateful that I’ve been able to see the 
successes of it. I just wish the Division, all the sportsman’s groups including SFW would do a 
better job getting out to the public what is being done with these funds; because it is pretty dang 
amazing. Thank you. 

Ken Powell: Chapter Chairman for the Mule Deer Foundation. I’ve been the Chapter Chairman 
for 13 years here in the Uintah Basin. We’re very grateful we can participate in conservation 
permits at our local banquet. I have personally seen from the conservation permits right at 1 
million dollars just in the 13 years I’ve been doing it from Vernal, the Uintah Basin. We have put 
more than $140,000.00 a year onto the ground, so that adds up to well more than that since 
we’ve been doing this. We support the Division proposal as recommended. Thank you. 

Greg Bird: Utah Wild Sheep. We support the amendment proposal as presented. We just want to 
state we’re grateful to be part of this program, it is an amazing program. The Division has done 
amazing things with this conservation program and they are second to none in this country. The 
things that happen in this state just don’t happen everywhere. Just from the sheep standpoint its 
allowed us to be the most aggressive state in sheep management, reintroduction, other states just 
don’t have the money to do it. Though these programs we are just very blessed that we can do 
this stuff. Thank you.  

Troy Justinson: SFW. I’ve got to admit one thing, this round of RACs have not been fun. And 
I’m being honest. It’s not fun to have a slugfest with your brother and it’s not been fun. But I 
appreciate you listening, putting up with my passion. Hopefully one day both us and the 
livestock industry can come together and stand together unified. I know that day will come. 
Thank you. As far as conservation permits go and the expo permits, truly a unique opportunity to 
participate in and I’m grateful for that. One thing that’s missed is a lot of credit comes to us as an 
organizations, really where the credit needs to go is the sportsman. These are tags that you and I 
the average Joe gives up the opportunity to draw in hopes we raise enough money to generate 
and produce more opportunity and protect the habitat and the animals we love. I think that’s only 
obvious by what Justin showed there. 181 million dollars, holy cow. The neat thing about there is 
1.5 million acres. If any of you have attended a SFW banquet you’ve heard John talk that that is 
more acreage than all of the United States combined. We have a program here within the state 
that we’ve thought of a way to fund that has manipulated and treated more acreage than the rest 



of the United States combined. That’s off to the agencies that work with the BLM the Forrest 
Service, this is a neat project. Related to the expo, this year we had a great expo. Over 50,000 
people attended, roughly about 15,000 participated in the $5 app. This is a little different than 
conservation money in the sense that we’re not selling a permit we’re collecting an application 
fee that’s no different than Fallon, NV. But the big difference between Fallon, NV and the expo 
is the money is spent here in Utah, put back into wildlife. This year alone from that $5 app SFW 
will commit close to $530,000.00 back on the ground. Different than the conservation permit 
also, it doesn’t have to go into big game. This allows us to fund upland game projects, waterfowl 
projects and other things. I think from what we’ve contributed to waterfowl this year we’ve 
almost tripled their normal budget from the Division. This is a great thing, we’re grateful to be a 
part of it. I’d like to thank the sportsman of Utah for letting us participate. Thank you.  

Comments from the RAC 

Ritchie Anderson: On these conservation tags, can any group apply to these as long as they 
commit their revenues to habitat projects? 

Kenny Johnson: That’s a fair question; they have to meet some minimum requirements. They 
have to be recognized by the federal tax code as a charitable organization. And they have to have 
a wildlife conservation mission to protect wildlife.  

Daniel Davis: So a lot of these clarifications, did any of these time frames change from what they 
were before; like the 60 days, 90 days? Does that impose more infractions or time committed to a 
process on behalf of these organization to have to spend more time or more effort to get that to 
the Division? 

Kenny Johnson: I don’t think so; I think it streamlines it a little bit so we can report it a little 
more clearly. But the invoicing, the billing, and the database it should help us be a little more 
efficient with it. 

Daniel Davis: Has anybody who has spent time on a committee or an organization or anything 
like that pro bono try to just do your time and follow those. There’s a lot of animosity for some 
of that funding, having to pay people to commit to that. They’ve never been in the shoes of 100% 
nonprofit, I do this for nothing. The last one or two years, they have a job they have to maintain. 
I think it’s come a long way to see where these jobs focused our desires as a sportsman and the 
state and wildlife. The program is amazing. The organizations involved have done, its 
incomparable to anything else. I think it’s a great program.  

 MOTION to accept the Divisions proposal as presented 
  Dan Abeyta 
  Brett Prevedel, second 
   Passed unanimously  
 

• Proposed Rule Amendments Repealing the Certification Review Committee under 
R657-3 and R657-53, Error Committee under R657-50, Walk-in Access Advisory 



Committee under R657-56 and the Variance Committee under R657-57- Martin 
Bushman, Assistant Attorney General 

See slideshow 

Questions from the RAC 

Daniel Davis: Although these committees would be assembled and assumed responsibilities by 
the Division would there still be some direction or any outside involvement? Primarily walk-in 
access. 

Martin Bushman: We’re not going to eliminate the function of what was the committee, we’re 
just going to have the Division eternally organize the group of people to deal with those issues 
should the need arise. The whole reason is for other requirements to be a public body which is a 
term used to define a group that has to comply with our open and public meetings act is that they 
are created in statute rule or ordinance. This is just an instance where we had some groups that 
because of that one fact alone they were arguably subject to the fact and we just didn’t feel that 
they were very well suited for it. We’re just trying to take away that one criteria that would 
arguably make them subject to an agenda. Not that they don’t keep minutes but the formal 
process we go through for these RAC meetings. It’s expensive, its time consuming and just not 
well suited for these five groups.  

  
 
 

MOTION to accept the Divisions proposal as presented 
  Daniel Davis 
  Ritchie Anderson, second 
   Passed unanimously 
 
 
 MOTION to adjourn at 10:15 pm. 

 

 



1 Year Conservation Permits
Species Unit Condition Permits

Antlerless Elk South Slope Any Weapon 1

Bear Nine Mile Multi Season 1

Buck Deer North Slope, Summit Any Weapon 1

Buck Pronghorn Cache/Morgan-South Rich/Ogden Multi Season 1

Bull Elk La Sal, La Sal Mtns Any Weapon 1

Cougar East Canyon Any Weapon 1

Turkey Central Region Multi Season 1

7



3 Year Conservation Permits
Species Unit Condition Permits

Antlerless Elk Cache Any Weapon 4

Antlerless Elk Central Mtns Any Weapon 4

Antlerless Elk La Sal Any Weapon 4

Antlerless Elk South Slope Any Weapon 3

Antlerless Elk Plateau Any Weapon 4

Bear Beaver Multi Season 1

Bear Book Cliffs, Bitter Creek/South Multi Season 2

Bear Central Mtns, Manti- North Multi Season 2

Bear Central Mtns,Manti-South/San Rafael, North Multi Season 2

Bear Central Mtns, Nebo Multi Season 1

Bear Chalk Creek/Kamas/North Slope, Summit Multi Season 1

Bear La Sal Multi Season 4

Bear Nine Mile Multi Season 1

Bear Panguitch Lake/Zion Multi Season 1

Bear Plateau, Bourder/Kaiparowits Multi Season 2

Bear Plateau, Fishlake/ Thousand Lakes Multi Season 1

Bear San Juan Multi Season 4

Bear South Slope, Bonanza/ Diamond Mtn/Vernal Multi Season 2

Bear South Slope, Yellowstone Multi Season 1

Bear Wasatch Mtns, Avintaquin/ Currant Creek Multi Season 1

Bear Wasatch Mtns, West Central Multi Season 3

Bear Statewide Multi Season 1

Bison Book Cliffs, Hunter's Choice Any Weapon 1

Bison Book Cliffs, Cow Only Any Weapon 1

Bison Henry Mtns, Hunter's Choice (early) Any Weapon 1

Bison Henry Mtns, Hunter's Choice (late) Any Weapon 1

Bison Henry Mtns, Cow Only (early) Any Weapon 1

Bison Henry Mtns, Cow Only (late) Any Weapon 1

Bison Henry Mtns, Hunter's Choice (Archery Only) Archery 1

Bison Statewide 1

Buck Deer Henry Mtns Hunter's Choice 2

Buck Deer Henry Mtns Muzzleloader 1

Buck Deer Henry Mtns (Management Buck) Any Weapon 1

Buck Deer Paunsaugunt Hunter's Choice 2

Buck Deer Paunsaugunt Muzzleloader 2

Buck Deer Paunsaugunt Archery 2

Buck Deer Paunsaugunt Any Weapon 2

Buck Deer Book Cliffs, Bitter Creek/South Hunter's Choice 2

Buck Deer Book Cliffs, Bitter Creek/South Muzzleloader 2

Buck Deer Book Cliffs, Bitter Creek/South Archery 2

Buck Deer Book Cliffs, Bitter Creek/South Any Weapon 2

Buck Deer Cache, Crawford Mtn Hunter's Choice 1

Buck Deer Fillmore, Oak Creek Hunter's Choice 2

Buck Deer La Sal, Dolores Triangle Hunter's Choice 1



Buck Deer North Slope, Summit Hunter's Choice 2

Buck Deer North Slope, Summit Muzzleloader 1

Buck Deer North Slope, Summit Archery 1

Buck Deer North Slope, Summit Any Weapon 1

Buck Deer San Juan, Elk Ridge Hunter's Choice 2

Buck Deer San Juan, Elk Ridge Muzzleloader 1

Buck Deer South Slope, Diamond Mtn Hunter's Choice 2

Buck Deer South Slope, Diamond Mtn Muzzleloader 2

Buck Deer South Slope, Diamond Mtn Archery 1

Buck Deer South Slope, Diamond Mtn Any Weapon 2

Buck Deer West Desert, Vernon Hunter's Choice 2

Buck Deer West Desert, Vernon Muzzleloader 2

Buck Deer West Desert, Vernon Archery 2

Buck Deer West Desert, Vernon Any Weapon 2

Buck Deer Statewide 1

Buck Pronghorn Beaver Any Weapon 1

Buck Pronghorn Book Cliffs, Bitter Creek Any Weapon 1

Buck Pronghorn Book Cliffs, South Any Weapon 2

Buck Pronghorn Box Elder, Promontory Any Weapon 1

Buck Pronghorn Box Elder, Puddle Valley Any Weapon 1

Buck Pronghorn Box Elder, Snowville Any Weapon 1

Buck Pronghorn Box Elder, West Any Weapon 1

Buck Pronghorn Cache/Morgan-South Rich/Ogden Any Weapon 2

Buck Pronghorn Fillmore, Oak Creek Any Weapon 1

Buck Pronghorn La Sal, Potash/South Cisco Any Weapon 1

Buck Pronghorn Mt Dutton/Paunsaugunt Any Weapon 2

Buck Pronghorn Nine Mile, Anthro-Myton Bench Any Weapon 2

Buck Pronghorn Nine Mile, Range Creek Any Weapon 1

Buck Pronghorn North Slope, Three Corners/West Daggett Any Weapon 1

Buck Pronghorn Panguitch Lake/Zion, North Any Weapon 1

Buck Pronghorn Pine Valley Any Weapon 2

Buck Pronghorn Plateau, Parker Mtn Any Weapon 5

Buck Pronghorn San Rafael, Desert Any Weapon 1

Buck Pronghorn San Rafael, North Any Weapon 4

Buck Pronghorn South Slope, Bonanza/Diamond Mtn Any Weapon 2

Buck Pronghorn South Slope, Vernal Any Weapon 1

Buck Pronghorn Southwest Desert Any Weapon 6

Buck Pronghorn West Desert, Riverbed Any Weapon 1

Buck Pronghorn West Desert, Rush Valley Any Weapon 1

Buck Pronghorn West Desert, Snake Valley Any Weapon 2

Buck Pronghorn Statewide 1

Bull Elk Beaver, East Multi Season 1

Bull Elk Beaver, East Any Weapon 1

Bull Elk Book Cliffs, Bitter Creek/South Multi Season 2

Bull Elk Book Cliffs, Bitter Creek/South Any Weapon 4

Bull Elk Book Cliffs, Bitter Creek/South Archery 1

Bull Elk Book Cliffs, Bitter Creek/South Muzzleloader 1



Bull Elk Book Cliffs, Little Creek Roadless Multi Season 1

Bull Elk Book Cliffs, Little Creek Roadless Any Weapon 1

Bull Elk Box Elder, Grouse Creek Multi Season 1

Bull Elk Box Elder, Pilot Mtn Multi Season 1

Bull Elk Cache, Meadowville Multi Season 1

Bull Elk Cache, Meadowville Any Weapon 2

Bull Elk Cache, Meadowville Archery 1

Bull Elk Cache, North Multi Season 1

Bull Elk Cache, North Any Weapon 1

Bull Elk Cache, South Multi Season 1

Bull Elk Cache, South Any Weapon 2

Bull Elk Central Mtns, Manti Multi Season 2

Bull Elk Central Mtns, Manti Any Weapon 4

Bull Elk Central Mtns, Manti Archery 1

Bull Elk Central Mtns, Manti Muzzleloader 1

Bull Elk Central Mtns, Nebo Multi Season 1

Bull Elk Central Mtns, Nebo Any Weapon 2

Bull Elk Fillmore, Pahvant Multi Season 1

Bull Elk Fillmore, Pahvant Any Weapon 2

Bull Elk La Sal, La Sal Mtns Multi Season 2

Bull Elk La Sal, La Sal Mtns Any Weapon 2

Bull Elk La Sal, La Sal Mtns Archery 1

Bull Elk La Sal, La Sal Mtns Muzzleloader 1

Bull Elk Monroe Multi Season 1

Bull Elk Monroe Any Weapon 1

Bull Elk Mt Dutton Multi Season 1

Bull Elk Mt Dutton Any Weapon 2

Bull Elk Nine Mile, Anthro Multi Season 1

Bull Elk North Slope, Three Corners Multi Season 1

Bull Elk North Slope, Three Corners Any Weapon 1

Bull Elk Oquirrh- Stansbury Multi Season 1

Bull Elk Panguitch Lake Multi Season 1

Bull Elk Panguitch Lake Any Weapon 2

Bull Elk Paunsaugunt Multi Season 1

Bull Elk Paunsaugunt Any Weapon 2

Bull Elk Paunsaugunt Archery 1

Bull Elk Paunsaugunt Muzzleloader 1

Bull Elk Plateau, Boulder/Kaiparowits Multi Season 1

Bull Elk Plateau, Boulder/Kaiparowits Any Weapon 2

Bull Elk Plateau, Boulder/Kaiparowits Archery 1

Bull Elk Plateau, Fishlake/Thousand Lakes Multi Season 2

Bull Elk Plateau, Fishlake/Thousand Lakes Any Weapon 4

Bull Elk Plateau, Fishlake/Thousand Lakes Archery 1

Bull Elk Plateau, Fishlake/Thousand Lakes Muzzleloader 1

Bull Elk San Juan Multi Season 1

Bull Elk San Juan Any Weapon 2

Bull Elk San Juan Archery 1



Bull Elk South Slope, Diamond Mtn Multi Season 1

Bull Elk South Slope, Diamond Mtn Any Weapon 2

Bull Elk South Slope, Diamond Mtn Archery 1

Bull Elk Southwest Desert Multi Season 2

Bull Elk Southwest Desert Any Weapon 3

Bull Elk Southwest Desert Archery 1

Bull Elk Southwest Desert Muzzleloader 1

Bull Elk Wasatch Mtns Multi Season 2

Bull Elk Wasatch Mtns Any Weapon 4

Bull Elk Wasatch Mtns Archery 1

Bull Elk Wasatch Mtns Muzzleloader 1

Bull Elk West Desert, Deep Creek Multi Season 1

Bull Elk Statewide 1

Bull Moose North Slope, Summit Any Weapon 1

Bull Moose Wasatch Mtns Any Weapon 2

Bull Moose Statewide 1

Cougar Central Mtns, Nebo Any Weapon 1

Cougar Central Mtns, Nebo-West Face Any Weapon 1

Cougar Central Mtns, Northeast Manti Any Weapon 1

Cougar Central Mtns, Northwest Manti Any Weapon 1

Cougar Central Mtns, Southeast Manti Any Weapon 1

Cougar Central Mtns, Southwest Manti Any Weapon 1

Cougar Chalk Creek/Kamas Any Weapon 1

Cougar Fillmore, Pahvant Any Weapon 1

Cougar Morgan-South Rich Any Weapon 1

Cougar Mt Dutton Any Weapon 1

Cougar Oquirrh-Stansbury Any Weapon 1

Cougar Panguitch Lake Any Weapon 1

Cougar Plateau, Boulder Any Weapon 1

Cougar Plateau, Fishlake Any Weapon 1

Cougar Wasatch Mtns, Currant Creek-North Any Weapon 1

Cougar Wasatch Mtns, West-Strawberry Any Weapon 1

Cougar West Desert, Tintic-Vernon Any Weapon 1

Cougar Statewide 1

DBHS Kaiparowits, East/Escalante/West Any Weapon 2

DBHS

Henry Mtns/La Sal, Potash/South Cisco/San 

Juan, Lockhart/San Juan, South/San Rafael, Dirty 

Devil Any Weapon

1

DBHS San Rafael, North/South Any Weapon 1

DBHS Zion Any Weapon 1

DBHS Statewide 1

Mtn Goat Beaver (early) Any Weapon 1

Mtn Goat Central Mtns, Nebo Any Weapon 1

Mtn Goat North Slope/South Slope, High Uintas Central Any Weapon 1

Mtn Goat North Slope/South Slope, High Uintas West Any Weapon 1

Mtn Goat Ogden Willard Peak (early) Any Weapon 1

Mtn Goat Ogden Willard Peak (late) Any Weapon 1



Mtn Goat Statewide 1

RMBHS Book Cliffs, South Any Weapon 1

RMBHS Box Elder, Newfoundland Mtns (early) Any Weapon 1

RMBHS Box Elder, Newfoundland Mtns (late) Any Weapon 1

RMBHS Nine Mile, Gray Canyon Any Weapon 1

RMBHS Statewide 1

Turkey Northern Region Multi Season 8

Turkey Central Region Multi Season 7

Turkey Northeastern Region Multi Season 8

Turkey Southeastern Region Multi Season 8

Turkey Southern Region Multi Season 8

Turkey Statewide 1

327



































20th


	1 - 5 May 31 2018 Agenda DRAFT
	2 - 5-31-2018 Action Log
	3 - 4-26-2018 Wildlife Board Minutes DRAFT
	4 - Summary of Motions
	5a - CRO - Draft Minutes
	5b - NRO - Draft Minutes
	5c - SRO - Draft Minutes
	5d - SERO - Draft Minutes
	5e - NER - Draft Minutes
	6 - 2019-2021 Final Draft Utah Division of Wildlife 1 Year
	6a - 2019-2021 Final Draft Utah Division of Wildlife 3 Year
	7 - Board Appeal - Azaryan, Voskan

